

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

The Use of Technology for Seeking Health Information in Persons with Cancer

Jasvir Zonobi Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Professions

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jasvir Zonobi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Aaron Mendelsohn, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Howell Sasser, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Manoj Sharma, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

The Use of Technology for Seeking Health Information in Persons with Cancer

by

Jasvir Zonobi

MS Computer Science, San Jose State University 1992

BS Computer Science, San Jose State University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

Cancer is a growing public health concern. The U.S. cancer prevalence nearly doubled from 8.1 million in 1996 to 15.5 million in 2016 and is expected to rise by an additional 68% from 2016 to 2040. Many cancer survivors use technology (e.g., smartphones) for health information seeking (HIS) for health-related self-efficacy (HRSE) to self-manage the health issues (e.g., physical impairment, chronic disease) they face. However, limited research exists regarding cancer survivors' use of HIS technology for HRSE. The selfefficacy theoretical framework, multiple logistic regression analyses, and the data from 2019 Health Information National Trends Survey were used in the current study to assess the impact of the use of technology for HIS on HRSE and HIS experiences, as well as the relationship between sociodemographic and clinical factors with the use of technology for HIS. Most (80.2%) survivors used HIS technology. The use of technology for HIS did not significantly predict HRSE (OR = 0.91, 95% CI = 0.54-1.54) nor positive HIS experiences (OR =1.15, 95% CI = 0.75-1.79), p > .05. Age, education, and income independently predicted technology-based HIS, p < .05, with persons under the age of 65 years, those with greater than high school education, and those earning over \$20,000 having greatest odds of using technology for HIS. The HIS-technology's potential to improve HRSE is not fully understood. More research is needed to inform its use in the survivorship programs to reduce disparities and barriers in survivors' health information access for improved cancer outcomes. Current and future studies on the research gaps can lead to positive social change by providing evidence for effective survivorship interventions for HRSE to help survivors self-manage their health-related quality of life.

The Use of Technology for Seeking Health Information in Persons with Cancer

by

Jasvir Zonobi

MS Computer Science, San Jose State University, 1992

BS Computer Science, San Jose State University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to those who provide selfless service to the betterment of the world. I dedicate this dissertation to those who enable and empower individuals, families, and communities with education and health information to help them live their lives to the fullest and transform the public health scenario. Among those are persons who supported my lifelong passion for learning and being a social change agent.

I dedicate this to my husband, parents, siblings, and family, who provided the loving and learning environment, and they taught me *the good of all* core tenet of positive social change by example. They encouraged education towards this end and emphasized that *true education* is applying the knowledge for a positive impact on others rather than just for a personal benefit. Despite never having attained a college degree, both my parents were social change agents whose community-wide impact continues to thrive well past their lives. I am proud of my husband, his brother, and my nieces and nephews for their advocacy and support for persons with disabilities and for improving environmental and public health.

Acknowledgments

First, I express my sincere gratitude to my chair Dr. Aaron Mendelsohn for encouragement, guidance and continuous support. Dr. Mendelsohn provided prompt, respectful, thoughtful, and actionable feedback for quality progress towards my goals. I thank you for your patience and time, and I cannot imagine a better chair to work with. I would like to express my gratitude for my committee member Dr. Howell Sasser, who raised insightful questions and provided encouraging feedback. I am also grateful to Dr. Manoj Sharma, University Review Reviewer, and Dr. Vasileios Margaritis, the Program Director. I benefited tremendously from the breadth and depth of their individual and collective experience, expertise, and guidance.

I also express my sincere gratitude to Paul Randolph for his review and valuable feedback throughout the draft process, and his feedback helped me improve the accessibility of the content in this dissertation document.

Table of Contents

List of Tables iv
List of Figures vi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review1
Introduction1
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions (RQs) and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework
Nature of the Study
Literature Review14
Literature Search Strategy14
Literature Related to Key Concepts
Literature Related to Key Variables
Literature Review Summary
Definitions61
Scope and Delimitation
Assumptions
Limitations65
Public Health Significance of the Study65
Summary67
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction	68
Research Design and Rationale	69
Methodology	72
Population	
Sampling Procedures	
Sample Size	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of the Constructs	75
Operationalization of the Study Variables	
Data Quality Assurance	
Data Analysis Plan	
Descriptive Analyses	
Inferential Analyses	
Threats to Validity	
Ethical Procedures	
Summary	
Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings	
Introduction	
Data Collection of the Secondary Data Set	94
Study Results	
RQ1: The Relationship Between the use of Technology for HIS and	
Health-Related Self-Efficacy	100

RQ2: The Relationship Between the use of Technology for HIS and	
Positive HIS Experiences	105
RQ3: The Relationship Between Survivor Characteristics and the Use of	
Technology for HIS	110
Summary	122
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	123
Introduction	123
Interpretation of the Findings	124
Limitations of the Study	136
Recommendations	137
Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change	139
Professional Practice	140
Positive Social Change	142
Conclusion	143
References	145

Table 1. Study Variables for each RQ	13
Table 2. Description of the Independent Variables (IVs), Dependent Variables	
(DVs), and Covariates (CVs)	70
Table 3. Sample Size Estimates Produced by G*Power 3.1.9.4	75
Table 4. Calculating the Age, Race, Education, and Income	82
Table 5. Data Analysis Plan by RQ	88
Table 6. Codebook for the Study Variables	96
Table 7. Number Invalid Values by Variable in the Study Sample	98
Table 8. RQ-Specific Subsample Selection Criteria	99
Table 9. RQ1 Summary Statistics for the Study on the Relationship Between the	
Use of Technology and Health-Related Self-Efficacy	101
Table 10. Unadjusted Logistic Models for Predicting Health-Related Self-	
Efficacy	103
Table 11. Multiple Logistic Model for Predicting Health-Related Self-Efficacy	104
Table 12. Correlation Between the Predictors of Health-Related Self-Efficacy	105
Table 13. RQ2 Summary Statistics for the Study on the Relationship Between the	
Use of Technology and Positive HIS Experiences	106
Table 14. Unadjusted Logistic Regression Model for Predicting Positive HIS	
Experiences	108
Table 15. Adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Predicting Positive HIS	
Experiences	109

List of Tables

Table 16. Correlation Between the Predictors of Positive HIS Experiences	110
Table 17. RQ3 Summary Statistics on the Survivors' Socio-demographic Factors	
and their use of Technology for HIS	111
Table 18. Summary Statistics on the Survivor's Clinical Factors and their use of	
Technology for HIS	115
Table 19. Unadjusted Logistic Regression Analyses for Predicting Survivors' use	
of Technology for HIS Based on the Their Personal Factors	116
Table 20. Adjusted Logistic Regression Analysis for Predicting the use of	
Technology for HIS	118
Table 21. RQ3 Correlation Between the Predictors of the use of Technology for	
HIS	121

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Study	Sample	. 96
-----------	-------	--------	------

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Introduction

Cancer is a growing public health problem. Cancer incidence has been on the rise given early disease detection, as well as population growth, namely an increase in the elderly population (Alfano et al., 2019). Similarly, cancer survival rates have increased with advances in the treatment of cancer (Alfano et al., 2019; Bluethmann et al., 2016). Commensurate with the increase in the incidence and survival rates, the overall cancer prevalence is rising and is expected to grow to 26.1 million by 2040 (from 8.1 million in 1996) (Alfano et al., 2019; Roser & Ritchie, 2019; Rowland, 2016). Cancer survivors (i.e., persons diagnosed with cancer, irrespective of their treatment status or the time since diagnosis [Lavoie Smith et al., 2012]) are faced with a variety of health-related concerns such as reduced health-related quality of life (HRQOL), chronic diseases, cancer recurrence, and treatment-induced secondary cancers (American Cancer Society [ACS], 2016; Andreotti et al., 2015; Cohen & Derubeis, 2018; Demoor-Goldschmidt & De Vathaire, 2019; Smith & Bass, 2019). Therefore, addressing the health needs for cancer survivors is an important public health matter.

One approach to support cancer survivors is to encourage health information seeking (HIS) and provide easily accessible patient-centered health-information resources for the self-management of cancer given that HIS has been demonstrated to be positively correlated with self-care behaviors of disease prevention and management (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2018; Shneyderman et al., 2016), and a reduction of fatalist beliefs (Emanuel et al., 2018). Most (70–90%) cancer survivors seek health information from a variety of sources (Bigsby & Hovick, 2018; Chua et al., 2018; Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Holmes et al., 2017). Electronic sources of health information such as the Internet, health-related social media and YouTube videos are easily accessible via technologies such as computers and smartphones, and these sources afford anonymity and interactivity, such as online chat functions (Jacobs et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2012). However, it is presently not well understood how the use of technology for HIS (i.e., looking for health or medical information on the Internet using a computer, smartphone, or other electronic means; participating in health-related online forums for persons with similar health issues; or watching a health-related video on an internet website, e.g., YouTube; Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Jackson et al., 2016; Zucco et al., 2018) may impact cancer survivors' ability to manage their personal health-related goals (i.e., health-related self-efficacy) and to find relevant patient-centered health information. It is also not clear which types of cancer survivors (according to sociodemographic and clinical variables) are most inclined to use, and find benefit from, technology for HIS.

My objective for the current study was to assess the relationship between cancer survivors' use of technology for HIS with their health-related self-efficacy, HIS experiences, and survivors' characteristics (sociodemographic and clinical) for the use of technology for HIS. Understanding the impact of technology-based HIS on the healthrelated self-efficacy could lead to positive social change by helping public health practitioners and clinicians identify appropriate resources, namely sources to improve the accuracy, as well as the accessibility of health-information sources. Understanding the patients' characteristics associated with technology-based HIS behaviors could inform health promotion policies and self-management programs targeting cancer survivors.

In this section, I will introduce the research problem and describe the gaps in the scientific knowledge regarding technology-based HIS behaviors among cancer survivors who seek HIS. I will also discuss the purpose of the study, including the study variables, the research questions and corresponding hypotheses, and the guiding theoretical framework for this study. I will also discuss the research design and methodology, along with the study assumptions and limitations. I will also provide a comprehensive review of the current literature on the study variables. Finally, I will conclude this section by providing a summary and a brief introduction to Section 2.

Problem Statement

There is a gap in the collective knowledge about the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information. Although HIS among cancer survivors has risen from 66.8% in 2003 to 80.8% in 2013 (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Kobayashi & Smith, 2016), there is a high prevalence of unmet health information needs among cancer survivors to address their physical and psychological needs (Nekhlyudov et al., 2017; van Leeuwen et al., 2018). Up to 75% of the cancer survivors reported concerns with accessing self-care cancer health information (Hall et al., 2018; Hébert & Fillion, 2017; Iyer et al., 2017; McGinty et al., 2016; Pongthavornkamol et al., 2019; Vogel et al., 2017).

Fatalistic beliefs, sociodemographic factors, and multiple cancer diagnoses are well-documented predictors of HIS behaviors (Bustillo et al., 2017; Finney Rutten,

Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Greenberg et al., 2018; Medeiros et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2018). However, it is not clear what type of sociodemographic and clinical factors are more likely to influence the use of technology for HIS than others. Additionally, there is evidence to suggest that negative HIS experiences are associated with fatalistic beliefs (Amuta et al., 2017; Arora et al., 2008; Waters et al., 2016), low health literacy (Kobayashi & Smith, 2016), and low self-esteem (Emanuel et al., 2018). However, it was not clear how the use of technology for HIS impacted HIS experiences among cancer survivors who seek health information.

There was also a paucity of literature regarding the use of technology for HIS and how this serves to benefit cancer patients either by efficient information access through preferred sources (Jacobs et al., 2017), impact of technology-based HIS behaviors (e.g., participation in online peer support, improving knowledge) on disease-related self-care to prevent or arrest disease (Jamal et al., 2015), HRQOL (Bachmann et al., 2016), and health-related decisions (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016). Such information would be valuable because understanding the characteristics of HIS behaviors, persons' experience with the use of technology for HIS, and their impact on the self-confidence and competence of persons with cancer would contribute to the scientific knowledge for improving self-care interventions for persons with cancer. However, no researchers had examined the impact of the cancer survivor's clinical and sociodemographic factors on their use of technology for HIS nor the impact of the use of technology for HIS on their ability to take good care of their health or the HIS experiences of cancer survivors who seek health information.

There was a gap in the collective knowledge about the characteristics of cancer survivors who seek health information, how they used it, how they felt about it, and how they benefited from it. These gaps can limit the effectiveness of the public health systems for supporting self-management for helping cancer survivors attain or retain a satisfactory HRQOL, particularly in the changing landscape. Understanding these factors is a first and essential step in preventing cancer recurrence, improving HRQOL concerns for cancer survivors, and, more generally, addressing the notable public health concern of cancer. The evidence on the impact of the use of technology for HIS on self-efficacy and HIS experiences could inform evidence-based public health interventions for the selfmanagement of cancer. Cancer survivors' personal factors (sociodemographic and clinical) and their use of technology for HIS might reveal new insights about their needs in a changing sociodemographic and technological landscape. These insights can be used to update the public health knowledge about recency and relevancy of cancer survivorship knowledge and improve cancer survivorship interventions for satisfactory HRQOL and reduce public health burden.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to assess the association between use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy, as well as the HIS experiences and personal factors among persons with cancer who seek health information. As health education and access to useful health information are the means to developing the knowledge and practice of healthy lifestyle behaviors (World Health Organization, 2012), accessible cancer health information would be an important factor for improving survivors' HRQOL, assuring compliance with treatment regimens, and reducing the cancer recurrences rates. I conducted this study to assess the impact of the use of technology for HIS (independent variable) on the health-related self-efficacy (dependent variable: low to none, full or high) among cancer survivors who seek cancer health information, the use of technology (used technology or did not use technology) for HIS (independent variable) on the positive HIS experiences (dependent variable) among cancer survivors who seek cancer health information, and cancer survivors' personal factors (sociodemographic and clinical factors) on the use of technology for seeking health information among cancer survivors who seek cancer health information.

Research Questions (RQs) and Hypotheses

The current study was conducted to address the research gaps noted above and specifically to address the following research questions:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and self-efficacy (Low or none, Full or high) in one's ability to take care of their health among cancer survivors who seek health information?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between the use of technology for HIS and healthrelated self-efficacy among cancer survivors who seek health information.

 H_1 1: There is a significant relationship between the use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy among cancer survivors who seek health information.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences (positive: not frustrated and did not take

too much effort; negative: otherwise) among cancer survivors who seek health information?

 H_0 2: There is no relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences among persons with cancer who use technology than those who do not.

 H_1 2: There is a significant relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences among cancer survivors who use technology than those who do not.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What is the relationship between a) survivors' sociodemographic characteristics (age, sex, race, education level, income) and the use of technology for HIS, and b) clinical factors (diagnosis of diabetes, hypertension, heart diseases, lung diseases, arthritis, depression) and the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information?

 H_03_a : There is no relationship between the survivors' sociodemographic characteristics and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information.

 H_13_a : There is a significant relationship between the survivors' sociodemographic characteristics and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information.

 H_03_b : There is no relationship between the survivors' clinical characteristics and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information.

 H_13_b : There is a significant relationship between the survivors' clinical characteristics and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was Bandura's self-efficacy theory. This theory posits that people's confidence or belief in their capabilities influence their behavior through cognitive, motivational, affective, and selective processes (Bandura, 1997). Persons with high self-efficacy take on challenges, set challenging goals, maintain a commitment to goals, and attribute failures to a deficiency in knowledge (Bandura, 1994). In contrast, persons with low self-efficacy avoid difficult tasks, dwell on low personal aptitude rather than overcoming the barriers, and become victims of stress (Bandura, 1994). The processes for developing self-efficacy involve enhancing cognitive abilities with knowledge and practice, motivation with expected outcomes and expectancy-value, and capacity to exercise self-influence, affective learning with the ability to cope with challenges and regulating thought processes (Bandura, 1994). The three efficacy-processes interact with the choice-related processes (selective processes) of the self-efficacy theory for decision-making (Bandura, 1994). As a result, knowledge, confidence, and practice of the self-efficacy theory influence action. These are relevant to persons with cancer as their behaviors will dictate their self-care behaviors of cancerrecurrence and quality of life. Per the self-efficacy theory, activated patients who develop knowledge and skills would then, in turn, develop their personal agency (cognitive and selective processes) for knowledge and skills of self-efficacy for better health.

I selected this theory because improving health-related self-efficacy is one of the goals of self-management interventions. Self-efficacy (self-assessed belief in the ability to perform tasks such as acquire new behaviors or control existing behaviors) is a mediator of behavior change (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Strecher et al., 1986). Self-efficacy is domain-specific, and it involves performing cognitive tasks such as reasoning and problem solving (Kleitman & Stankov, 2007). Therefore, the self-efficacy domains could include decision-making (discerning between good and bad information, a decision about using specific resources), self-care (e.g., problem recognition, use of resources, taking health action), and learning (e.g., seeking health information, developing personal agency) self-efficacy. Thus, public health professionals promote patient engagement and provide access to health education and resources to enhance patients' skills and confidence in the self-management of their health goals (Grover & Joshi, 2015). The four concepts in the self-efficacy theory predict self-efficacy in the desired outcomes: patient activation would lead to patient engagement in the self-care (via the motivational process), and increased knowledge and experience would increase the confidence in identifying and solving health problems (e.g., health-related selfefficacy). Beliefs about the action and its expected value would motivate ways to overcome challenges (via the affective process) such as frustration with HIS and improve HIS self-efficacy among patients motivated to address the health issue. Effective choices (via the choice process informed by the cognitive and affective processes) would inform the utilization of cost-effective resources (decisional self-efficacy). Therefore, these four

conceptual processes of the self-efficacy theory map directly to the self-efficacy domains of the three research questions in the current study.

The self-efficacy theory posits that increased access to knowledge for a desired goal would increase the person's ability to attain that goal. Cancer survivors who seek cancer health information using a readily available technology would seek to enhance their confidence in their ability to take good care of their health. Therefore, survivors' aim of self-management and this theoretical underpinning provided a rationale to investigate the extent to which one's use of technology for HIS is correlated with their personal agency for taking good care of their health (health-related self-efficacy), which was my aim of the first research question.

As self-efficacy develops from experience and perseverance in attaining the desired goals, motivated persons with knowledge would be expected to take on challenges to overcome the obstacles and enhance knowledge with practice. Finding cancer health information can be time-consuming, and technology may serve as a means for more efficient information-gathering, and consequently, persons who use technology for HIS might have different experiences than those who do not. As a result, cancer survivors with high self-efficacy could overcome information access barriers by exploring different options, including using technological tools for developing their HIS-seeking agency to meet their health information needs (HIS self-efficacy). In the past 10 years, there has been substantial growth in technology-enabled health information (Wang et al., 2012) and the self-efficacy theory also posits a reciprocal impact of a person's experience (i.e., HIS) on their personal agency (i.e., HIS self-efficacy and HIS

experiences). Therefore, my purpose of the second research question was to explore the association between the use of technology (i.e., engagement of the selective process and self-influence theoretical concepts) for HIS (overcoming challenges and barriers to information) and the positive experience with HIS (finding information rather than being frustrated or being overwhelmed).

Cancer survivors with short- and long-term treatment side effects or comorbidities are likely to face unique health information challenges. The affective process of the selfefficacy theory deals with learning to cope with challenges such as comorbidities (e.g., depression, diabetes, arthritis, heart disease) that can impair cognitive and physical functions. The self-efficacy theory posits that motivated persons would overcome their challenges to attain the goal, and readily accessible technology may remove the barriers to do so. As such, cancer survivors might use multiple technologies (e.g., watch health videos, participate in online communities, use wearables to monitor and track symptoms) to access health information for improving their health. This premise was the subject of my evaluation in the third research question. The self-efficacy theory also posits the interaction between the affective process (learning to cope with challenges), cognitive process (knowledge and skills), and motivation (to improve HRQOL) guide the selection process (whether to use one or more technologies) for self-efficacy of health action (e.g., to seek health information).

Nature of the Study

The nature of the study design was a quantitative secondary data analysis of a nationally representative population survey. Quantitative study designs are used to test

hypotheses, the effect of the predictor variables(s) on the predicted variables, and quantitative correlational designs measure the relationship between the variables and estimate the strength of the relationship (Burkholder et al., 2016). I used the quantitative correlational design to measure the relationship between the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the persons with cancer and their use of technology for HIS, between the technology-based HIS and HIS experience, and between technology-based HIS and self-reported confidence. I employed a correlational design, using a crosssectional dataset, to assess the relationship between the study variables in each research question, and to test the hypotheses about the relationships. The study population was cancer survivors who sought cancer health-information for disease management.

The study population was the adult cancer survivors in the US who sought cancer health-information for disease management. The use of technology for HIS (used technology, did not use technology) was the independent variable in RQ1 and RQ2 (Table 1). Sociodemographic (age, race, sex, education, income) and clinical (diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, or depression) factors were the independent variables in RQ3a and RQ3b, respectively (Table 1). Health-related selfefficacy (Low or none, Full or more) was the dependent variable in RQ1. Positive HIS experiences (positive, negative) was the dependent variable in RQ2. The use of technology for HIS was the dependent variable in RQ3.

Table 1

RQ	Dependent variable (DV)	Independent variable (IV)	Potential confounding variable (CV)
RQ1	Health-related self- efficacy	The use of technology for HIS	Survivor's self-reported health status Survivor's self-reported health literacy
RQ2	Positive HIS experiences	The use of technology for HIS	Survivor's self-reported health status Survivor's health literacy
RQ3a	The use of technology for HIS	Survivors' sociodemographic variables: Age, Race, Sex, Education, and Income	Survivor's self-reported health status
RQ3b	The use of technology for HIS	Survivors' clinical variables: diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression or anxiety	Survivor's self-reported health status

Study Variables for each RQ

I used the most recent dataset collected using the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). HINTS is a cross-sectional nationally representative selfadministered mail and web survey of the U.S. adults on the information environment, access, and use of health-related information (National Cancer Institute [NCI], n.d.). HINTS contains data on who is looking for health information, how they sought cancer health-information, HIS experiences, use of the technology (including participation and use of social media) to find information, their health status and diagnoses of chronic diseases (including cancers), and self-reported confidence (NCI, 2018). The dataset is publicly available for researchers and health professionals in multiple formats with a selfattested agreement to the HINTS Data Terms of Use policies (NCI, 2020b). Therefore, the HINTs dataset was used because it has the data required to conduct the proposed study, and it is publicly available. I used IBM SPSS software to process the data to generate the descriptive and inferential statistics to address the research questions. Full details on the statistical methodology are described in Section 2 in this document, including a description and justification for the selected statistical tests and potential threats to internal and external validity.

Literature Review

Literature Search Strategy

I searched Google Scholar, CINAHL, and Medline databases for peer-reviewed literature on the study variables or concepts. I selected the articles that were published within the recent 5 years (after 2014) to develop the intellectual heritage on the study variable(s) and topic. I extended the search criteria to include studies since 2000 for the seminal works on the theoretical concepts and operationalization of the study variables for trends in and application of the concepts and variables by other researchers. Due to the remarkable advances in consumer-accessible technology and exponential growth in the information web pages, results from older literature on a researched subject would only be useful for the foundational understanding rather than current conclusions on the subject. I used the terms related to the study topic (cancer), population (e.g., survivors), concepts (e.g., self-efficacy, health information, quality of life) and variables (e.g., the Internet, YouTube for the technologies for the use of technologies for HIS, frustrating or too much information of positive HIS experiences, and cancer comorbidities such as diabetes and depression [Table 1] as variables in the survivor's clinical characteristics) to define the search keywords.

I used the following search keywords: *cancer health information-seeking* behavior, health information seeking cancer outcomes, internet online cancer patients, cancer information-seeking experience, frustration too much information seeking health information + cancer, trusted cancer information sources, cancer self-management, cancer quality of life, cancer + self-efficacy, social media and cancer, YouTube + cancer + health-information, cancer + health-related use + YouTube, health-related use + social media, self-confidence + cancer + health-information seeking, cancer + chronicconditions, cancer + comorbid, cancer + diabetes + health-information seeking, cancer + arthritis + health-information, cancer + asthma OR COPD + health-information, cancer + lung OR respiratory disease + health-information, cancer + heart OR cardiovascular disease + health-information, cancer + mental health OR depression + *health-information*. For literature related to the key variables and concepts, I first reduced the result set to only those articles that contained the word 'cancer' and "survivor, patients, or persons with" in the article's title or abstract. Then, I selected the literature on chronic conditions to address the concerns of limited or no research on a search criterion such as the cancer comorbidities.

Literature Related to Key Concepts

As described in the theoretical framework, I used the self-efficacy theory to assess the impact of HIS behaviors on cancer survivor's health-related self-efficacy rather than predict the behaviors of health (e.g., HIS) posited by other theories such as the health belief model, theory of planned behavior, and social cognitive theories (LaMorte, 2018b, 2018a; Rosenstock, 1974). As the four conceptual processes (cognitive, motivational, affective, and decisional) influence self-efficacy in the desired outcome such as health self-efficacy (e.g., health-related self-efficacy), HIS self-efficacy (e.g., positive HIS experiences), and decisional self-efficacy (e.g., selection of tool such as the use of technology for HIS), I included literature review on the role of the these four conceptual processes in HIS and the self-management of cancer in this section.

Cognitive

Because the cognitive process depends on the personal agency (the person's knowledge of and personal practical experience with the self-care resources) for the self-efficacy of the desired goal, the personal agency would be impacted by the person's health literacy. Health literacy refers to the ability to find, access, interpret, and use health information and system resources for health decisions for action (Poureslami et al., 2016; Shneyderman et al., 2016; S. G. Smith et al., 2010). The personal agency develops from personal interest or experience with the health issue through HIS (self-learning) or healthcare or health promotion systems (Abubakari et al., 2016). Therefore, any limitations in the accessibility of health information due to internal or external controls, particularly among persons who seek health information, could impact the person's health literacy (and personal agency) and health-related outcomes.

There is evidence that health literacy is correlated with health self-efficacy (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2019). Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) conducted a secondary analysis of the 2013 HINTS cross-sectional dataset to examine the impact of patient-provider communication and health self-efficacy among Americans with multiple chronic illnesses (e.g., diabetes, cardiovascular, respiratory,

arthritis, depression). Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. found a positive and significant association between health literacy (access to health information from patient-provider communications) and health self-efficacy ($n = 3000, \beta = 0.26, p < .0001$). Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. also reported lower levels of health self-efficacy among persons with higher burden of chronic diseases (i.e., one or more) as compared with persons without chronic illnesses (zero conditions: $\beta = 11.06$, p < 0.0001 versus one chronic condition: $\beta = 7.82, p < 0.0002$). Peters et al. (2019) reported a similar association between health self-efficacy and disease burden among patients (n = 848) with multiple morbidities at seven primary care practices in England. These findings were credible because of the sample size, agreements between these two studies of different populations (the U.S. versus England) and contexts (healthcare in the U.S. versus universal healthcare in England) using different study designs (secondary versus primary) and study instruments (HINTS 4 versus multiple self-efficacy questionnaires used by Peters et al.). Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) and Peters et al. (2019) both reported mental health (e.g., depression) as a potential confounder of health-related self-efficacy, although only Peters et al. (2019) provided a theoretical basis (self-efficacy theory) for the study and Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) did not. The data in these studies on the cognitive processes of self-efficacy demonstrated that health literacy is a predictor of HIS, health outcomes, and health-related self-efficacy.

Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) recommended that future studies examine the association between the levels of health self-efficacy and HIS behaviors because the authors believed that persons with high health self-efficacy might be more likely to seek health information than their counterparts with lower health self-efficacy. Peters et al. (2019) noted further research is needed on the clustering of diseases for awareness on the self-efficacy needs of persons with enhanced need of self-management.

In summary, mental access to health information and mental health issues such as depression could impact self-efficacy outcomes (e.g., health-related self-efficacy and HIS self-efficacy), even among the motivated and activated cancer survivors engaged in the self-management of their HRQOL and developing their ability to care for their health. However, health literacy may be inadequate without patient engagement or activation. *Motivation*

As discussed before, patients must actively self-manage their health for health self-efficacy. *H*ealth literacy and fatalistic beliefs predict patient activation (S. Jiang, 2017; Kobayashi & Smith, 2016; Palmer et al., 2014). Lower quality of patient-provider communications reduces the likelihood of patient activation and consequential selfmanagement of their health (Palmer et al., 2014). Per Kobayashi and Smith (2016), fatalistic beliefs and lower levels of health literacy were associated with lower levels of patient activation. Thus, persons who seek health information for themselves must believe in their ability to control their health outcomes. The use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors would indicate activated patients.

It is expected that activated patients would seek information to overcome health literacy gaps for decision and health self-efficacy. Most cancer survivors (i.e., those ever diagnosed with cancer) seek health information to address the health issues they face from cancer and its treatments (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Jiang et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018; Shneyderman et al., 2016; Somera et al., 2016). Such cancer survivors who seek health information would be among the activated survivors motivated to either address a health or health literacy gap.

Activated patients have a greater likelihood of greater levels of self-confidence in their ability to perform self-care tasks such as making health decisions (Palmer et al., 2014) or the use of technology for HIS (S. Jiang, 2017). S. Jiang (2017) confirmed that patient activation mediated the effects of the use of social media on the emotional wellbeing of the study participants in the 2013 HINTS survey ($\beta = 0.12, p < .05, n = 459$). Activated persons with high health literacy and HIS self-efficacy would be expected to use the tools that enhance their access to health information for their desired health self-efficacy. Moreover, a study of activated survivors and motivated persons such as cancer survivors who seek health information would avoid the potential confounding effect of patient activation on health self-efficacy.

Affective

As discussed before, per the affective process in the self-efficacy theory, a person's motivation to perform an activity for a goal is mediated by the expected value of the goal. A person's affective attitudes (e.g., positive or negative feelings, stress, knowledge, beliefs) influence the perceived value of the outcome of the effort towards the activity for the desired goal (Rimer & Brewer, 2015). HIS is a resource-consuming activity because it involves individuals actively searching for the health information from various sources rather than passively scanning information while doing other tasks (Shim et al., 2006). Individuals tend to seek health information from the sources they trust,

accommodate their personal preferences, or have a positive experience with (Clauser et al., 2011). The resources to seek quality, relevant, and accessible health information from sources such as the print media (e.g., books, magazines), mass media, online sites (e.g., websites, virtual communities), people (e.g., family, friends, other survivors), and healthcare professionals (Somera et al., 2016) might vary widely. Furthermore, individual HIS behaviors (the way people seek health information) and their preferences (Jacobs et al., 2017) might impact the perceived value of the options for their HIS activity. Although the actual value of HIS could depend on the survivors' HIS behaviors, an expected value of HIS could be the enhanced personal agency for the selfmanagement of the desired aim, such as attaining a satisfactory HRQOL. The expectation of finding ways to cope with health issues (Miller et al., 2018; Mooney et al., 2017), selfcare or treatment options, and save money or time (Holmes et al., 2017; Zucco et al., 2018) might explain the high prevalence of HIS among cancer survivors in the U.S. (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018; Mooney et al., 2017; Somera et al., 2016).

Miller et al. (2018) found that childhood cancer survivors ([CCS] aged 15 to 25 years, n = 193) recruited from two cancer care centers in Los Angeles reported seeking health information to cope with their unmet psychosocial needs. Miller et al. (2018) found that CCS diagnosed with cancer at two cancer care centers in Los Angeles sought health information from multiple sources. Miller et al. (2018) also found that most of them reported seeking health information from any source (63%) and healthcare providers (65.3%). Miller et al. found that the use of technology for HIS was not

significantly associated with race (Hispanic: 37.1% and non-Hispanic: 36.4%, p = .11); however, the study findings might not be generalizable due to the sampling design (two clinics in one city) and nonrepresentative sample (Hispanic 54% and non-Hispanic: 45%). Miller et al. also found a positive and significant (p < .01) association between HIS behaviors and sex, insurance, follow-up self-efficacy and post-traumatic growth among the study participants. Miller et al. found a positive but not significant association between HIS behaviors and race, education, and depression symptoms. Miller et al. also found that age, sex, post-traumatic growth, and health insurance were predictors of the use of technology for HIS, and females were 2.76 times more likely to use technology for HIS than males (adjusted odds ratio [OR] = 2.76, 95% confidence interval [CI] = 1.39, 5.47, p < .01). Miller et al. confirmed the role of affective process in cancer survivors' HIS behaviors.

The need to address unmet health needs was also the motivation for searching reliable and relevant health information among the participants in the studies by Mooney et al. (2017) and Somera et al. (2016). Mooney et al. (2017) used a mixed-method design to understand the HIS behaviors among CCS and young adults (under 40). Mooney et al. (2017) reported that most (92%) of the study participants in the focus group reported using technology for HIS (n = 25; 100% non-Hispanic White, 68% female) to find reliable and quality cancer health information unique to their health needs. Somera et al. (2016) compared the HIS behaviors of adults in Guam (n = 510) with the adults in the U.S. (n = 3969). Somera et al. found about 70% of the respondents in Guam and the U.S., samples searched the Internet on health and medical topics, and nearly 80% of them

searched it for themselves. Somera et al. also found that for a strong need for health information, a higher percentage of the Guam sample searched the Internet (Guam: 45.8%; U.S.: 39.4%), while a higher percentage of Americans sought health information from the healthcare providers (Guam: 38.2%, US: 52.2%). Moreover, persons with income from \$35,000 to \$49,999 in the Guam sample were more likely to seek cancerrelated health information than their counterparts in Guam with higher or lower income (OR = 3.13, 95% CI = 1.08, 9.08), whereas the odds of cancer-related HIS among the U.S. sample were higher among those with a higher income than their counterparts with lesser income (Somera et al., 2016). These findings suggest that healthcare access and ease of search using technology for understanding disease symptoms and evaluating selftreatment versus clinical treatment decisions may have influenced a high prevalence of technology-based HIS in U.S. and Guam (Somera et al., 2016). However, a comparison between the 2011 HINTS sample of U.S. adults and the 2013 Guam sample could lack study validity if the technology and health-information availability changed substantially between 2011 and 2013 in Guam, the U.S., or both. Although Somera et al. (2016) did not examine the HIS behaviors among cancer survivors these findings provide evidence that information seekers aim to gain financial or knowledge benefit from the HIS activity. S. Jiang and Liu (2020) and Finney Rutten and Agunwamba et al. (2016) analyzed the HINTS cross-sectional datasets for the trends in the HIS behaviors among cancer survivors. Both authors reported a high prevalence of HIS among cancer survivors (70%). Among cancer survivors in the US, HIS increased from 53.5% in 2011 to 69.2% in 2017 (S. Jiang & Liu, 2020), and the cancer-related HIS increased from 66.8% in 2003 to

80.8% in 2013 (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016). However, HIS self-efficacy has been decreasing, despite an increasing percentage of persons with information-seeking skills (S. Jiang & Liu, 2020). S. Jiang and Liu (2020) suggested it might be due to the differences in the amount of information found in the online versus traditional sources. S. Jiang and Liu recommended further research on health-related self-efficacy and HIS behaviors, which was one of my aims of the current study.

Although individual's beliefs and sociodemographic and clinical characteristics (e.g., multiple cancer diagnoses) influence the HIS behaviors, race and insurance status were not significant predictors of HIS among cancer survivors who sought health information (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016), presumably due to the motivation to address the health need. However, health insurance mediated the preferred health information source, such as the use of health information technology (HIT) for accessing cancer-related information (from healthcare provided resources) among the insured rather than uninsured survivors (Miller et al., 2018). Fatalism had a mild influence on the relationship between health literacy and HIS behaviors among the 2013 HINTS study participants who had ever sought information and believed in fatalism (Kobayashi and Smith, 2016). Kobayashi and Smith (2016) used the New Vital Signs (NVS) health literacy assessment tool used to measure the person's ability to read and comprehend health information. As health literacy refers to the mental (read, comprehend, process, and interpret information) and material (e.g., for everyday use of the information) access for self-management of health (Peerson & Saunders, 2009), the use of NVS was appropriate for assessing the cognitive health literacy (the ability to read and comprehend
health information). Although Kobayashi and Smith (2016) demonstrated the relationships between health literacy and HIS behaviors, they did not examine the relationship among activated cancer survivors nor persons with lingering physio-psychological health concerns with or without cognitive impairment. The processes associated with the source for searching and retrieving health information could impact the amount of information found (too much or too little), quality of the retrieved information, the effort in retrieving the information. Those experiences can impact future HIS behaviors, knowledge, and self-management self-efficacy. In summary, individuals' need to cope with their health literacy, beliefs, and sociodemographic and clinical characteristics (e.g., multiple cancer diagnoses) had some influence on the HIS behaviors. *Selective Process*

The choice process involves making decisions about the medium or methods to attain the desired goal established per the interaction between the cognitive, motivational, and affective processes. Easy-to-use technologies can facilitate technology literacy, selfcare, and learning (Fischer et al., 2014), and reciprocally greater reliance on technology for self-care and learning. Some healthcare providers provide patient portals for patientprovider communications and tracking health information to member patients (Demiris et al., 2019). However, the membership, authentication and security concerns for accessing patient portals and health information technology (HIT) platforms are among the barriers in the patient's adoption of HITs for HIS (Jackson et al., 2016) Information-seekers might avoid technology that makes life more difficult and this may become a barrier to learning and self-care. Therefore, the decision about the use of a specific medium (e.g., technology) for self-care activity (e.g., seeking health information) would depend on the person's access to the medium.

Greenberg et al. (2018) analyzed seven iterations of the HINTS datasets from 2003 to 2014 (n = 33749) to compare the use and acceptance of technology among rural and urban U.S. adults. Greenberg et al. (2018) reported an uptake in the access and use of the Internet in the rural and urban settings across the seven years. However, Greenberg et al. (2018) found that the rural population (n = 6043) had lower odds of regular access (reliable connection) to the Internet (OR = 0.70, 95% CI = 0.61, 0.80), electronic health records (OR = 0.59, 95% CI = 0.45, 0.78), or electronic communications with their doctors (OR = 0.62, 95% CI = 0.49, 0.77) than their urban counterparts. The lower odds of electronically accessing the healthcare systems might be explained by the lower health insurance rates among the rural than the urban population (Greenberg et al., 2018).

S. Jiang and Liu (2020) also performed a trend analysis of the HINTS 2011 (n = 563), 2013 (n = 459), and 2017 (n = 504) data on Internet access, usage, and the health-related adoption of HIT (for health-related activities HIS such as emailing a doctor or participating in online forums) among cancer survivors. They also confirmed a significant increase (p < .001) in internet access (by 12% to 71.4%), mobile connectivity (75%), and the adoption rate of HIT (30%) among cancer survivors. Although they did not examine the regular reliability of connection between rural and urban populations, increased mobile connectivity has the potential to increase regularly reliable online

connection. Nonetheless, digital divide between population subgroups such as the urban and rural due to material access could impact the cancer survivor's decision to select technology for HIS to manage health or the impact of the use of technology for HIS on their health self-efficacy and HIS experiences.

The benefits of technology for patient activation and health promotion are well documented (Jackson et al., 2016; Shneyderman et al., 2016). Technology is a communication medium that allows health promoters to engage patients in self-care behaviors and promote reliable online health information websites, videos, and interactive support channels. Noting a 10% increase in the use of social media for obtaining and generating health information from 67% in 2012 to 74% in 2014, Jackson et al. (2016) analyzed the 2013 HINTS data (n = 2284) to determine the impact of the use of social media (per the Communication Channel theory) on the patient's use of HIT for tracking health information and communicating with healthcare professionals using email or text and tracking their health. Jackson et al. (2016) found HIT engagement was significantly associated with social media use (visited a social media network: OR = 2.00, 95 % CI = 1.33, 3.01, p < .001; watched health-related YouTube videos: OR = 2.25, 95 % CI = 1.51, 3.34, p < .0001; shared health-related information on social media: OR = 2.22, 95 % CI = 1.33, 3.71, p < .002). They also found that the likelihood of having Internet access was higher among respondents with a family history of cancer, χ^2 (2, N = 1264) =14.37, p = .02, or better health status, χ^2 (1, N = 1966) = 49.39, p < .0001. Several researchers reported a positive association between the technologybased HIS and screening adherence (Shneyderman et al., 2016), healthy behaviors (Miller et al., 2018), and improved psychosocial and emotional health with the participation in the online social support services (Bouma et al., 2015; Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017). Therefore, HIS technology use can be a means to better access to health information for better health.

In summary, per the selective process of the theory of self-efficacy, persons would continue to use a medium for the desired self-efficacy until the medium no longer serves their purpose. Cancer survivors who use technology for HIS would be expected to have some level of technology literacy because technology-based HIS depends on the person's technology literacy skills to search, share, and exchange health information (oral, electronic, visual, written) (Poureslami et al., 2016). Even the cancer survivors with adequate levels of technology literacy could experience access or connection disruptions (i.e., due to the rural/urban digital divide).

Per the cognitive concept, health literacy (access to health information) and mental health (i.e., depression) could be confounders for predicting a person's selfconfidence and HIS experiences. Although health insurance and financial constraints can also mediate the material access to the interventions (affordability of the prevention or treatment), persons with a high health self-efficacy might seek more affordable alternatives. Per the selective concept, digital divide could be a confounder for predicting the use of technology for HIS and HIS experiences among cancer survivors who seek health information.

Literature Related to Key Variables

This section presents literature review on the study variables: *the use of technology for HIS, health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences,* and *survivor's sociodemographic and clinical characteristics.* This section presents the real-world definition of each variable used by other scientists (including measurements, operationalization, and study methods), seminal and recent scientific knowledge about each variable, and the gaps in the knowledge.

Use of Technology for HIS

The *use of technology for HIS* was a predictor variable in RQ1 and RQ2 and predicted variable in RQ3. As discussed above, individuals have options for searching health-information, and how individuals seek health information is a controllable and operationalizable HIS construct for decision-making and health actions. Several academic and industry thought leaders recommended the use of electronic devices such as computers, mobile and smartphones, and tablets to access electronically available health information (Haase, 2019). Scientists also recommended the online availability of health information and support resources for survivorship for anytime accessibility via the Internet or mobile apps (Allsop et al., 2018; Davis et al., 2019; Hochstenbach et al., 2015). Commonly used online cancer survivorship resources include public websites, virtual cancer communities and support groups, online cancer education sources (Fischer et al., 2014). Consumers use a web browser or mobile app on a smartphone to search and access information on the Internet or electronic health platforms (Bouma et al., 2015; Y. Jiang et al., 2017). The Internet is one of the most common sources of health information for 92% of the young adults aged 18-39 years (Mooney et al., 2017), 60% of the adult survivors of childhood cancers (Miller et al., 2018), and adults with internet literacy skills (Jacobs et al., 2017). Between 36% to 60% of the cancer survivors also used social media platforms (e.g., shared information on internet sites, watched health-related YouTube videos) for psychosocial support (Miller et al., 2018) and emotional well-being (S. Jiang, 2017). Therefore, participation in an online forum or support group (Jackson et al., 2016), the use of the Internet, social media, and YouTube videos (Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Zucco et al., 2018) are means of seeking HIS.

However, the use of mobile health (i.e., mHealth) apps that connect with healthcare or private electronic health systems were not commonly associated with HIS. Y. Jiang et al. (2017) studied the acceptance and use of electronically accessible health information source (i.e., eHealth) and mHealth apps (for HIS, accessing patient portals, patient-provider communications) among cancer survivors using the 2014 HINTS dataset (n=3677). Y. Jiang et al. (2017) found that most of the study participants reported having Internet access (73.9%), trusted online cancer information (68.9%), and the importance of electronic access to personal health information (67.7%). However, less than half had electronic means (40.4%) or mobile apps (23.4%) to access health-information, and less than half (44.7%) had an interest in electronic patient-provider communications involving medical information (Y. Jiang et al., 2017). The use of wearable technologies for tracking physical activity (e.g., Fitbit) was only effective for activity but not for inactivity nor for awareness about the importance of avoiding unhealthy behaviors such as sedentary behaviors (N. H. Nguyen et al., 2017). The use of mHealth was effective in engaging patients in their follow-up care (Rico et al., 2017), achieving health behavior goals, making appointments, and tracking their health (Bhuyan et al., 2016). However, nearly half (45%) of the users who downloaded mHealth apps on their devices stopped using it at some point (Bhuyan et al., 2016). Bhuyan et al. (2016) reported short-term use of mHealth apps for health maintenance, and the younger age (relative to each 10-year increment), insured, and urban respondents were more likely to use mHealth apps than their counterparts for health maintenance. Bhuyan et al. (2016) also found good health, normal weight (not obese), confidence in the ability to take care of themselves, and multimorbidity were significant predictors of the use of mHealth app. The studies revealed that persons tend to use wearable technologies and mHealth apps to maintain or track health rather than seek for HIS to address health issues. Therefore, wearable technologies and mHealth apps would not commonly used technologies for HIS. Instead, the commonly used technologies via electronic devices such as computers, smartphones, and tablets for HIS would be searching the Internet, viewing YouTube videos, and participating in online forums and support groups with similar health conditions.

The use of each technology (used Internet, participated in social media, watched YouTube video) is commonly measured in terms of yes or no values (Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Jackson et al., 2016; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020). Jackson et al. (2016) used the HINTS yes/no questions (*have you participated in an online forum or support group for people with a similar health or medical issues, have you shared health information on social networking sites, such as Facebook or Twitter, have you watched a health-related video on YouTube*) for the use of social media and YouTube. S. Jiang and Liu (2020) also used the HINTS yes/no survey questions to measure Internet use for HIS. Domínguez and Sapiña (2017) asked the yes/no question about the use of Internet, social media, and YouTube for HIS in their semi-structured questionnaire used to guide their qualitative study on the accessibility, advantages and concerns of Internet use among adolescents and young adults with cancer (n = 20). Zucco et al. (2018) also asked yes/no type questions for antibiotic-related information-seeking on the Internet and social media forums. Therefore, the *use of technology for HIS* could also be a categorical variable with two attributes (Did not use any technology: no Internet usage, health-related online forums participation, and Watched YouTube video; Used technology: used Internet, participated in health-related social media forums or groups, or watched health-related video on YouTube). The corresponding type of technology used for HIS could be the Internet, online forums, or YouTube.

There is growing body of research on the predictors, prevalence, and trends of technology-based HIS and the association between technology-based HIS and patient's engagement in the use of HIT and healthy behaviors. Zucco et al. (2018) found a high prevalence of Internet use and health-related social media participation among the parents of children in six schools in Italy for making antibiotic-related medical decisions, including self-medication without consultation with physicians (Used Internet: 90%, n = 885; social media: 49%, n = 751). Although Zucco et al. did not study cancer-related health decisions, the authors found a potential motivation for HIS (i.e., healthcare costs or financial ability) and parents who use Internet or social media for their children's health might do the same for their health.

Jackson et al. (2016) also confirmed a rising trend in the use of Internet and social media participation. Jackson et al. also reported a high prevalence of Internet use (78%, n = 2284) and social media (76 %; n = 1632) participation among Americans who responded to the 2013 HINTS 4 Cycle 3 survey. Jackson et al. also found a higher likelihood of HIT engagement among the users of social media.

Holmes, Bishop, and Calman (2017) used mixed methods design to study the motivation for the use of the Internet for finding information for making decisions on the use of complementary (for managing HRQOL) and alternative medicine (for better treatment options) among breast cancer survivors. Holmes et al. (2017) used the Theory of Planned Behavior to design the study, and selected breast cancer survivors who had completed medical treatment (mean age = 56 years), were internet users and had completed treatment. Holmes et al. (2017) conducted interviews until data saturation (n = 11), and they found the Internet use played a key role in the women's decisionmaking process and the self-management of cancer side-effects and treatment. Most of the study participants reported searching the Internet and participating in online forums to find information because their healthcare professionals lacked knowledge or time to address their unmet cancer-related health information needs (Holmes et al., 2017). As a result, unmet health information from healthcare motivated them to use the Internet and online forums to find information despite disapproval from social networks or healthcare providers (Holmes et al., 2017). Although Holmes et al. examined the use of the Internet and online forums for seeking health information among cancer survivors, these authors did not examine the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and health*related self-efficacy* in caring for themselves. The small sample size, lack of considerations for comorbidities would limit the generalization of the study findings (Holmes et al., 2017). Holmes et al. did not explain the quantitaive and qualitative design elements and variables of each section. However, the study confirmed the importance of assessing the *use of technology for HIS* among cancer survivors, and the current study would expand upon the findings by Holmes et al. (2017).

Studies on the correlates of *the use of technology for HIS* were limited to patients' engagement in healthy behaviors and HIT engagement. Jackson et al. (2016) explored the association between the use of Internet, online social media forums, and YouTube and HIT engagement but not HIS. None of the studies assessed the impact of the use of technology for HIS on health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences. Although Y. Jiang et al. (2017) recognized the importance of HIS, the authors did not examine the technology-based HIS nor the relationship between the use of technology and HIS, health-related self-efficacy, HIS experiences nor clinical factors such as diagnosis of diabetes, hypertension, heart disease, lung disease, or mental health. Although Bhuyan et al. (2016) studied the use of mHealth apps for HIS behaviors, they did not include the use of other technologies (Internet, health-related online social media forums, YouTube) nor the influence of the use of technology for HIS on self-reported confidence in caring for their health (i.e., *health-related self-efficacy*). Literature search did not produce any other literature that covered these gaps, despite the benefits of HIS and potential of technology in improving access to health information for enhancing self-confidence in the selfmanagement of health.

In summary, *the use of technology for HIS* surfaced as a supportive factor in cancer survivorship interventions for the self-management of satisfactory HRQOL. Findings on *the use of technology for HIS*, disparities in access to technology for HIS (Greenberg et al., 2018), the impact of internet in reducing or perpetuating disparities in health information availability (Jacobs et al., 2017) and the use and acceptance of technology for self-management (Greenberg et al., 2018; Y. Jiang et al., 2017) help guide public health priorities in improving access to health information and reducing disparities in health outcomes. Clinical trials on the use of technology for patient engagement in the self-care and monitoring activities demonstrated that the use of technology in self-management serve to better public health (Hall et al., 2018; N. H. Nguyen et al., 2017; Rico et al., 2017).

However, there were still many gaps in the scientific understanding about the *use* of technology for HIS. Most studies included the sociodemographic predictors (e.g., age, sex, race) of HIS behaviors and Holmes et al. (2017) and Mooney et al. (2017) shed light on cancer survivors' motivation for seeking HIS (i.e., closing health information gaps for self-care). As noted above, the impact of cancer survivor's *use of technology for HIS* on their *health-related self-efficacy* and *positive HIS experiences* among cancer survivors who seek health information was lacking in all studies in the literature review.

S. Jiang and Liu (2020) recommended the need for more research on technology based HIS among cancer survivors. Abubakari et al. (2016) recommended future research on barriers or promoters of self-management which can inform different forms of health promotion, including the use of digital platforms (i.e., the use of technology) for enhancing knowledge and self-care efficacy for self-management programs. Greenberg et al. (2018) recommended future studies examine the impact of *the use of the technologies* on patient-reported outcomes. One patient-reported outcome of interest is the selfconfidence needed for self-management. In the current study, I aimed to close some of these gaps by exploring the health-related self-efficacy with *the use of technology for HIS* to contribute to the growing body of knowledge about HIS and health-related selfefficacy.

Domínguez and Sapiña (2017) recommended a broader study of the use of social media and participation in social networks for better self-management of their unmet needs. Jackson et al. (2016) recommended continued monitoring of the HIS behaviors and predictors of HIS behaviors for continuous improvement in the public health interventions and for changing landscape. I used these recommendations and the evidence on the rising trends on *the use of technology for HIS* to justify continued research on the use of technology for HIS for self-management.

Health-Related Self-Efficacy

Health-related self-efficacy was the predicted variable in RQ1. Self-confidence is a self-assessed measure (or strength) of self-efficacy, and the level of confidence is positively correlated with self-efficacy (Kleitman & Stankov, 2007). Measuring confidence involves cognitive processing involving recognition, inference, intuition, guessing, and openness to new knowledge and experiences (Kleitman & Stankov, 2007). A high confidence rating corresponds with immediate recognition from experience or knowledge and inference from logical analysis and conclusion in the absence of readily available evidence (Kleitman & Stankov, 2007; Roediger & DeSoto, 2014). In contrast, the lowest level of confidence is associated with guessing (Kleitman & Stankov, 2007). Therefore, self-confidence is the level certainty (or uncertainty) persons hold in their ability to perform tasks for their personal goals, and a very high self-confidence score would correspond with high self-efficacy for personal health goals. More specifically, self-confidence in taking care of health would refer to a one's ability to recognize and solve health issues by making health decisions and taking actions (e.g., engaging appropriate healthcare and social services) to attain the desired health goal (Foster & Fenlon, 2011; Y. Jiang et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018). Therefore, in the current study, self-reported self-confidence in taking care of health refers to health-related self-efficacy (i.e., one's assessment of their ability to take good care of their health).

Health-related self-efficacy, as a measured level of health self-efficacy, would be measured by an ordinal rank or Likert scale. Several researchers used the HINTS questionnaire item "*the ability to take good care of health*" with the 5-point scale (*Completely confident, Very confident, Somewhat confident, A little confident, Not confident at all*) response options for measuring health-related self-efficacy (Bhuyan et al., 2016; Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020). The Perceived Medical Condition Self-Management questionnaire also uses the 5-point scale to measure HIV self-efficacy (Wild et al., 2018) and diabetes self-efficacy (Abubakari et al., 2016). Peters et al. (2019) used the 10-point Chronic Disease Scale (about how well someone feels) to measure health self-efficacy to study the association between health-related selfefficacy and HRQOL. However, Peters et al. (2019) did not explain how the Chronic Disease Scale was adopted to measure confidence in the ability to take care of their health. Literature search did not produce any other studies that used a 10-point scale or the Chronic Disease Scale to measure self-confidence. Therefore, the 5-point scale is a commonly used measure of health-related self-efficacy.

Although seeking health information is vital for the self-management of diseases, studies on the correlation between HIS and health self-efficacy were limited. Abubakari et al. (2016) found perceived health-related self-efficacy significantly explained the variability in the self-management of diabetes, and the time since the diagnosis and the disease severity significantly predicted the *health-related self-efficacy* in the selfmanagement of diabetes. Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) reported the number of chronic diseases inversely related with self-care self-efficacy. Abubakari et al. (2016) used the self-efficacy theory to study the association between the level of health selfefficacy and the degree of adherence to eight self-management activities of diabetes. Abubakari et al. (2016) used several standard health questionnaires (e.g., Perceived Diabetes Self-Management Scale, Perceived Medical-Condition Self-Management Scale) to collect data on the various self-management elements such as disease severity, perceived control and the number of symptoms. Abubakari et al. (2016) reported a significant association between disease severity, time since diagnosis, and long-term perceptions about diabetes were significant in predicting patient's self-confidence in the self-management of their health. For instance, Abubakari et al. (2016) found selfconfidence explained the variability in the adherence to the self-monitoring of blood glucose by 14% ($\beta = 0.66$; 95% CI = 0.07, 1.25; p < 0.05) and foot care by 18%

 $(\beta = 0.28; 95\% \text{ CI} = 0.06, 0.49; p < 0.01)$. However, the study sample (n = 123) was too small to examine the eight predictors of self-management. Despite this limitation, the study was guided by the self-efficacy theory, and the definition and operationalization of *health-related self-efficacy* used in the study were consistent with other studies. Therefore, disease severity (or physical disabilities) might be confounders of selfconfidence.

Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) performed a secondary analysis of the HINTS 2012-2013 dataset to study the impact of patient-centered communications on patient's health self-efficacy. Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) found that positive patient-provider communications were significantly and positively associated with self-confidence among persons (n = 3630, $\beta = 0.26$, p < 0.0001). Moreover, the increasing number of chronic diseases (one condition: $\beta = 11.06$, p < 0.0001; two conditions: $\beta = 7.82$, p = 0.0002 and depression/anxiety were significantly (no depression: $\beta = 4.34$, p < .01) associated with reduced levels of health-related self-efficacy. As a result, depression and the number of chronic diseases might be confounders of health self-efficacy.

Peters et al., (2019) collected data from 15 primary care practices in one region of England (*n*=848 from 2983 eligible) and well-established questionnaires (Long-Term Conditions Questionnaire, European Quality of Life [EuroQol] 5 Dimension 5 Level, EuroQol Visual Analog Scale, Disease Burden Impact Scale) to collect data on the various health conditions examined in the study. Despite using a different scale to measure the ability to take care of health, Peters et al., (2019) also found that the presence of severe physical or mental disability significantly impacted health-related self-efficacy. Agreements in the findings among these studies across different contexts (cultural, country) and data collection instruments add to the strength of the evidence that disease burden and severity of the issue could be potential confounders of *health-related self-efficacy*.

S. Jiang and Liu (2020) studied the trends of material (ease of Internet access) and mental (trust in online information; HIS skills) axes of the digital divide and the impact of the digital divide on HIS among cancer survivors. Based on 2011, 2013, and 2017 iterations of the HINTS survey, S. Jiang and Liu (2020) reported an increase in the material access over time (F[2, 1523] = 15.58, p < .001), and participants did not report any significant differences in the mental access of digital divide over time. Both material and mental access were significantly associated with HIS behaviors, and the trust dimension of the mental access was significantly associated with HIS, while the association between HIS and the HIS skills dimension was not significant (S. Jiang & Liu, 2020). The findings of this study add to evidence that the digital divide in the material access could be a confounder of self-efficacy, which was more prominent among the rural than the urban population (Greenberg et al., 2018). Greenberg et al. (2018) did not examine the use of technology for HIS among activated cancer survivors for selfmanagement nor decisional or self-care self-efficacy. These upward trends in the material access to online health information sources and increasing trends in the technology-based HIS are the foundational elements in helping cancer survivors close any gaps in their cognitive factors for health self-efficacy.

To date, scientific knowledge on the impact of the use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy among cancer survivors who seek health information was limited to none. Studies on the correlates of self-confidence either lacked an examination of the relationship between technology-based HIS and health-related confidence among cancer (S. Jiang &Liu, 2020), or studies on this association targeted population other than the cancer survivors (Finney Rutten & Hesse et al., 2016). Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. (2016) studied health self-efficacy among the U.S. population with chronic conditions, including cancer (n = 419; 9% of the respondents). However, Finney Rutten and Hesse et al. included cancer in the summative counts of other diseases and did not present information specifically for the cancer survivors. Although Peters et al. (2019) separated their findings among cancer survivors, the study examined the relationship between disease burden and self-efficacy rather than HIS and self-efficacy. Other studies on self-efficacy targeted other chronic diseases such as Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes (Abubakari et al., 2016) and HIV (Wild et al., 2018). As a result, none of the studies assessed the influence of technology based HIS on self-reported self-efficacy (i.e., health self-efficacy) nor on the HIS experiences, particularly cancer survivors who seek health information, even though self-efficacy and self-confidence are the expected outcomes of self-management interventions.

In summary, per the literature review, *health-related self-efficacy* is commonly measured with a Likert scale with response options varying from no confidence (unable to take care) to excellent (having no barriers to taking good care of health). Although there is much research on some self-efficacy domains as predictors or predicted variables, the literature search did not produce any recent studies which explored the relationship between technology-based HIS and *health-related self-efficacy*, particularly among cancer survivors. However, the data on HIS behaviors in the reviewed studies revealed health literacy (ability to access health information), depression, and debilitating medical conditions (i.e., poor or less than good health status) are potential confounders of HIS and health-related self-confidence, and consequently the *health-related self-efficacy*.

Positive HIS Experiences

The variable, *Positive HIS experiences*, was the predicted variable in RQ2. HIS experiences with any source can impact information-seekers' access to health information. HIS experience has four dimensions: effort, frustration, quality concerns, comprehension (Paige et al., 2019). High levels of effort to get or find the needed health information can overwhelm or frustrate the information-seekers and lead to negative experiences while the opposite to a positive experience. There is evidence that *positive HIS experiences* reduce anxiety and improve health-related communications and self-care abilities (Emanuel et al., 2018). Therefore, per these dimensions of HIS experience, *positive HIS experience* would correspond with health-information seeker disagreeing with frustration, effort, poor quality, and inaccessibility of health information.

Due to the presence of a four- and five-point Likert scale used in the U.S. versus other countries, Paige et al. (2019) examined the validity of the four-point Likert scale used in the HINTS survey instruments for measuring HIS experiences. The four-point Likert scale has four response options (Strongly agree, somewhat agree, somewhat disagree, strongly disagree), and the five-point Likert scale has an "agree" option in the center (Paige et al., 2019). For instance, S. Jiang and Street (2017) used the 5-point Information Seeking Experience Scale, which includes agree as the midpoint response. Paige et al. (2019) conducted a study on the construct validity of the HINTS scale with an online survey of U.S. adult participants with one or more chronic diseases (*n*=684). Paige et al. (2019) found that persons with chronic diseases were less likely to select the "agree" response and concluded that the 4-point scale was sufficiently adequate for measuring HIS experience. However, Paige et al. (2019) noted that the inclusion of agreeing does not threaten the construct reliability. The HINTS instrument uses a fourpoint scale (Strongly Agree, Somewhat Agree, Somewhat Disagree, Strongly Disagree) (Emanuel et al., 2018; Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020; Waters et al., 2016). As a result, positive and negative experiences can be constructed from the agree and disagree response options, where positive HIS experiences could correspond with the disagreement response options for each dimension of the HIS experience, and negative with the agreement options.

Recent studies on the HIS experiences among cancer survivors were extremely limited, and a few studies on the subject lacked an explanation of the data measurement and design for the HIS experience variables. Chua et al. (2018) studied two dimensions (quality concern and comprehension), and Mooney et al. (2017) studied effort. Both Chua et al. (2018) and Mooney et al. (2017) discussed their respective HIS dimensions in terms of positive or negative, and both studies lacked an explanation of the measurement design. Holmes et al. (2017) used a qualitative study approach to gain deeper insights on the participant's positive/negative (dichotomous) quality-related HIS experiences, and it appeared to be delineated along the agree or disagree sentiments. Therefore, there was also precedence for constructing positive of negative experiences along the agree and disagree delineators from a multi-point scale.

An association between the educational level and beliefs and HIS experiences was reported in multiple studies (Emanuel et al., 2018; Holone, 2016; S. Jiang & Street, 2017; Waters et al., 2016). Among the cancer survivors who sought health information and responded to the 2011-2012 HINTS 4 survey, Emanuel et al. (2018) found lower educational levels had a significant influence on the fatalist beliefs and the negative HIS experiences (n = 3070, $\beta = -.19$, p < .001), and negative HIS experiences also predicted fatalistic beliefs ($\beta = .22$, p < .001). These findings were consistent across three samples (Emanuel et al., 2018), and were consistent with the findings by Waters et al. (2016) among the participants of the 2013 HINTS dataset. Waters et al. (2016) also found a significant negative association between HIS experiences with pessimistic beliefs and lower belief in the multifactorial model of cancer causation. Waters et al. (2016) did not study technology-based HIS experiences.

A positive association between *positive HIS experiences* and health outcomes was reported by S. Jiang and Street (2017). Per the user-media-message framework, S. Jiang and Street (2017) found *positive HIS experiences* significantly moderated the association between technology-based HIS and perceived social support ($\beta = 0.12, p < 0.05$), which indirectly affected the support-mediated physical, emotional, and psychological outcomes. S. Jiang and Street (2017) studied a one-way path from Internet use to health status. However, they did not consider the diversity of technology (e.g., smartphones, social media networks, YouTube) for HIS nor the experiences of cancer survivors. However, S. Jiang and Street (2017) used a convenient sampling design, which can result in the researcher or response bias. Moreover, frustration can also emerge from popup advertisements on the web page, computer and Internet speed, and unknown search algorithms that rank and order the web content (Holone, 2016). However, any pop-up, connectivity, and search engine challenges would difficult to isolate in any populationwide uncontrolled study.

Chua et al. (2018) studied the prevalence of HIS behaviors, HIS experiences, among other factors, among 411 cancer patients, selected from a National Cancer Center in Singapore. Chua et al. (2018) examined the understandability of the information found on the Internet. They found about nearly half (49%) of the respondents searched the Internet first, and nearly (46.6%) of them found the information was easily comprehensible. Although their findings are non-generalizable due to non-representative population and lacking considerations for the diversity of technology, they highlighted the importance of research on the technology-based HIS for cancer survivors and examining the impact of the HIS technologies on the HIS experiences.

Mooney et al. (2017) conducted a qualitative study to examine cancer survivors' HIS experiences using internet resources. Mooney et al. (2017) confirmed the previously reported challenges of difficulty in locating relevant and trusted information on the internet (e.g., too much information on the internet, not specific to the unmet needs, not trustworthy). However, the study by Mooney et al. (2017) had a small and non-representative sample (n = 25; sex: males = 8, females = 17; Race: 100% White, 24 non-

Hispanic White and 1 Hispanic White) and was limited to the experiences of adolescents and young adult survivors of cancer (aged 18 - 39 years).

Holmes et al. (2017) had also examined cancer survivors' HIS experiences in their mixed-methods study. The study participants reported positive HIS experiences (not getting upset or frustrated with the vast amounts of information on the Internet) and concerns about the legitimacy of the information. Because the study was guided by the theory of planned behavior, the findings (of positive HIS experience), the findings might not address complex predictors of HIS experiences, such as physical or mental disabilities. The study was also not generalizable due to its small sample size (n = 11), non-representative population (breast cancer survivors, mean age = 56 years), and the guiding theoretical framework. Moreover, the study lacked transparency in the research design and methodology, which makes it difficult to assess the validity of the constructs and findings. However, cancer survivors' motivation for technology based HIS (closing the health information gaps for health decision and action) and the reported experiences with HIS, and their health outcomes suggest that the use of technology might serve to improve self-management interventions. In the current study, I aimed to contribute to the research started by Holmes et al. (2017) by enhancing the scientific understanding of technology-based HIS among cancer survivors.

There was a significant demand on future research on HIS experiences, even though scientific knowledge on the predictors, prevalence, and impacts of HIS experiences on health outcomes was growing. As discussed before, Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) also described the increased likelihood of HIS among cancer survivors following diagnosis or experience of treatment-related side effects and the increasing trends towards greater HIS. Among cancer survivors, Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) found the HRQOL and unmet health information for managing HRQOL was a significant predictor of HIS. Multiple scientists called for future research to investigate HIS experiences in relation to new information-seeking modes and sources. Small-scale studies by Holmes et al. (2017) and Mooney et al. (2017) highlight the importance of continued research on HIS experiences. Emanuel et al. (2018) recommended future research on the affective components (e.g., frustrating experiences) of HIS, and Waters et al. (2016) recommended future studies examine the technology based HIS experience. Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) recommended future studies examine the cancer survivors' HIS experiences to inform interventions for better self-management of cancer by cancer survivors. The need for understanding HIS experiences from secondary sources (other than health professionals) among cancer survivors was also proposed by Germeni, Bianchi, Valcarenghi, and Schulz (2015) for assessing patient needs and developing evidence-based and targeted information provisioning. In particular, the protocol proposed by Germeni et al., (2015) recommended collecting data on survivor becoming frustrated or overwhelmed by the information. S. Jiang and Liu (2020) recommended additional studies on the technology-based HIS behaviors, which was an undertaking of the current study.

Even though there were a limited number of studies on HIS experiences, and most studies on chronic conditions and HIS were old and lacked focus on cancer survivors, those studies confirmed the importance of the research on HIS experiences for informing public health policy. A few additional studies that explored HIS experiences were outdated and may not have accurately reflected the current experiences. Wigfall and Friedman (2016) conducted a systematic and scoping review of the use of HINTS datasets for HIS. The literature review presented on the concepts and variables confirmed earlier findings by Wigfall and Friedman (2016), who found 22 experimental studies focused on HIS behaviors. Four of the studies were on the predictors of HIS behaviors, and 18 on the association between HIS behaviors and various cancer outcomes such as cancer knowledge, information-seeking self-efficacy, beliefs, and prevention behaviors among cancer information seekers. Except for one, all studies reviewed by Wigfall and Friedman were published between 2006 and 2015. Several studies reviewed by Wigfall and Friedman, such as Arora et al. (2008) and Vanderpool et al. (2009), reported a high prevalence of negative HIS experiences among cancer survivors who sought health information. Conflicting but non-generalizable findings of cancer survivors' HIS experiences were reported by Chua et al. (2018), Holmes et al. (2017) and Mooney et al. (2017). No other studies were found on HIS experiences among cancer survivors who seek health information. Both Holmes et al. (2017) and Mooney et al. (2017) confirmed HIS experiences impact cancer survivors' health outcomes and self-management abilities.

There was a substantial demand on future research on HIS experiences, even though scientific knowledge on the predictors, prevalence, and impacts of HIS experiences on health outcomes is growing. As discussed before, Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) also described the increased likelihood of HIS among cancer survivors following diagnosis or experience of treatment-related side effects and the increasing trends towards greater HIS. Among cancer survivors, Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) found the HRQOL and unmet health information for managing HRQOL was a significant predictor of HIS. Multiple scientists called for future research to investigate HIS experiences in relation to new information-seeking modes and sources. Small-scale studies by Holmes et al. (2017) and Mooney et al. (2017) highlighted the importance of continued research on HIS experiences. Emanuel et al. (2018) recommended future research on the affective components (e.g., frustrating experiences) of HIS, and Waters et al. (2016) recommended future studies examine the technology based HIS experience. Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al. (2016) recommended that future studies examine the cancer survivors' HIS experiences to inform interventions for better self-management of cancer by cancer survivors. The need for understanding HIS experiences from secondary sources (other than health professionals) among cancer survivors was also proposed by Germeni et al. (2015) for assessing patient needs and developing evidence-based and targeted information provisioning. In particular, Germeni et al. (2015) recommended collecting data on survivors becoming frustrated or overwhelmed by the information. S. Jiang and Liu (2020) recommended additional studies on the technology-based HIS behaviors, which was another one of my goals in the current study.

In summary, positive HIS experiences are important for the self-management of cancer, and negative HIS experiences can promote fatalistic beliefs and avoidance of healthy behaviors. The literature also confirmed that education level, urbanicity (for material access), and mental health could be confounders of HIS experiences. Moreover, current literature on HIS experience was limited and old, and many reseachers recommended further study on HIS experiences, particularly relative to the use of technology for HIS, for internvention planning. By studying RQ2, I aimed to close some of these gaps in the collective knowledge.

Survivors' Sociodemographic Characteristics

Survivor's sociodemographic characteristics were a set of predictor variables in *RQ3a.* All studies in the literature review included descriptive or inferential statistics on the sociodemographic characteristics of their study participants. As per the literature review on HIS and the use of technology, age, sex, education, and income were associated with HIS and younger age, female sex, higher educational attainment level, un- or under-insured, and reliable internet access and higher income were associated with technology-based HIS (Abubakari et al., 2016; Bhuyan et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Sedrak et al., 2020; Shneyderman et al., 2016). There was some evidence that race was not a predictor of technology-based HIS (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2018; Rooks et al., 2019) and the evidence on the association between technology-based HIS and income was non-conclusive (Somera et al., 2016). Miller et al. (2018) reported age, sex, insurance status, and race influenced HIS. Jacobs et al. (2017) found age, socioeconomic status, gender, education, and internet skills predicted primary sources of information among cancer survivors who sought health-information. Younger survivors had a higher likelihood of using the Internet as a first source of health information than older adults, and older survivors with family history of cancer were more likely to prefer healthcare providers (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016;

Jacobs et al., 2017). Somera et al. (2016) confirmed the predictors (education, age, income) of the use of the Internet for HIS, and females were more likely to seek HIS than males in Guam and the US. The digital divide between urban and rural identified by Greenberg et al. (2018) could impact any population without the affordability of a reliable internet connection. Moreover, the accelerated access to telehealth (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, 2020; Federal Communications Commission, 2020) and online learning due to the 2019 coronavirus pandemic (C. Li & Lalani, 2020) might soon reduce the digital divide in technology-based HIS noted by Greenberg et al. (2018). Therefore, urbanicity did not surface as a direct predictor of HIS or confounder of health-related self-efficacy as motivated persons could switch to another accessible HIS source, and those using technology for HIS were assumed to have sufficiently reliable internet access for health-related self-efficacy.

A person's race and educational attainment have been linked to the trust in the health information source (Richardson et al., 2012), and violation of trust and privacy can result in individuals disassociating from the source. Per a 2013 study, persons' age, sex, race, and education were independent and significant predictors of the user's protective practices on the Internet (e.g., younger age: $\beta = -.20$, p < .001, higher education: $\beta = .27$, p < .001) and social networking sites (n = 1002, younger age: $\beta = -.41$, p < .001; Whites race: $\beta = .09$, p < .05; female gender: $\beta = .10$, p < .05; higher education: $\beta = .27$, p < .001) (Xie et al., 2019). Income did not significantly predict users' online privacy or protective practices on the Internet, $\beta = -.03$, p = .19, and social networking sites, $\beta = -.00$, p = .92 (Xie et al., 2019). Consequently, the study on the influence of age, sex, race, education,

and income on technology-based HIS would be necessary to update the knowledge because technology and socioeconomics can impact anyone's behaviors. These sociodemographic variables were generally measured as nominal for sex (female, male), categorical for race/ethnicity, ordinal for education, and ordinal or continuous for age and income (Bhuyan et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Shneyderman et al., 2016).

Survivors' Clinical Characteristics

Survivor's clinical characteristics were a set of predictor variables *in RQ3b*. Chronic diseases such as depression, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and respiratory issues such as difficulty breathing are among the cancer comorbidities due to the welldocumented long-term adverse effects of cancer treatments (Arndt et al., 2017; Cohen & Derubeis, 2018; Dehghani et al., 2020; van Leeuwen et al., 2018). There were higher odds of HIS among persons with these chronic diseases and lower odds of health-related self-efficacy among persons with multimorbidity and depression (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Rooks et al., 2019). As a result, the clinical factors, in the current study, included ever having a clinical diagnosis of the following: diabetes or high blood sugar (yes/no); high blood pressure or hypertension (yes/no), a heart condition such as heart attack, angina, or congestive heart failure (yes/no); chronic lung disease, asthma, emphysema, or chronic bronchitis (yes/no); depression or anxiety disorder (yes/no).

The literature search resulted in no recent research on HIS among cancer survivors with chronic comorbidities. Due to the limited knowledge on the clinical factors of cancer survivors and their HIS behaviors, literature review scope was expanded to the study of HIS among persons with chronic conditions because the significance of HIS for self-management self-efficacy of chronic illnesses is well documented (Bhuyan et al., 2016; Dean et al., 2017). Bhuyan et al. (2016) used the 2014 HINTS survey to examine the use of mHealth apps for HIS among U.S. adults. Bhuyan et al. (2016) used the HINTS survey items with yes/no response for having a clinical diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure or hypertension, heart conditions, and respiratory conditions. They categorized the chronic diseases into zero, one, and two or more chronic conditions, and they reported that multimorbidity significantly increased the odds of using mHealth for self-management as compared to no comorbidities. The findings may be limited because Bhuyan et al. (2016) grouped the population into three races (White, African American, Other) and considered the count of comorbidities (rather than specific conditions). The findings by Bhuyan et al. (2016) provided a basis to identify the personal factors associated with technology-based HIS among cancer survivors.

Guided by the theory of uncertainty management, Rooks et al. (2019) tested their hypothesis that there is an association between the number of chronic illnesses and HIS, and that race/ethnicity would not influence the relationship. Rooks et al. (2019) also analyzed the 2007 U.S. Health Tracking Household Survey (HTHS) dataset. They found a significant and positive association between the number of chronic illnesses and HIS, and there were no differences in the association due to race or ethnicity. Although race is associated with socioeconomic status and health insurance with health literacy and healthcare access, race did not influence HIS behaviors among information-seekers (Rooks et al., 2019).

Both Rooks et al. (2019) and Bhuyan et al. (2016) reported consistent findings (a positive correlation between the number of chronic conditions and HIS) even though the two studies were conducted using different datasets and data sources collected seven years apart (2007 versus 2014). Dean et al. (2017) also used the 2007 HTHS survey to examine the relationship between HIS, predisposing factors sociodemographic factors, and health-related self-efficacy (e.g., prevent symptoms, communicate with the doctor, know when to get medical care) among persons with chronic disease. Dean et al. (2017) found urbanity, education, and usual source of healthcare (i.e., health insurance) predicted the association between HIS and self-efficacy among persons with chronic diseases. However, Dean et al. (2017) did not explore technology-based HIS, and the study did not explicitly consider cancer survivors. Sedrak et al. (2020) conducted a secondary analysis on the 2014 Women's Health Initiative (WHI) dataset collected using the WHI Extension Study Supplemental Questionnaire (Form 156) to understand how older patients with chronic illnesses use technology for HIS. Sedrak et al. (2020) found 60% of the older adult women with chronic conditions used technology and internet for health-related information, and recently diagnosed patients and patients with any cancer were more likely to use the Internet for HIS. However, Sedrak et al. (2020) limited the study to postmenopausal women, and the data is from 2014, while the technology and information landscape may have changed widely. Unfortunately, all the studies on the clinical factors relied on old datasets that might not apply to the modern digital era, and none of the studies targeted cancer survivors.

Dean et al. (2017) suggested further research to address the digital divide-related disparities. By studying the technology-based HIS among cancer survivors with chronic comorbidities, the study would close the information gaps about predisposing and enabling factors for improving access to health-related information. Sedrak et al. (2020) recommended further studies to understand technology-based HIS behaviors better among persons with chronic illnesses, which was my aim in studying RQ3.

In summary, the main insights from the literature review on the association between chronic diseases, HIS behaviors, and health-related self-efficacy were that persons with greater disease burden had a higher need for health information, greater disease burden was associated with HIS behaviors, and that multimorbidity mediated health-related self-efficacy. Prior research on the personal predictors of HIS and chronic diseases and the theoretical foundation served as my basis to study RQ3 because prior studies have not explored a relationship between the cancer survivors' sociodemographic and clinical characteristics and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek cancer.

Health Literacy

Per the self-efficacy theory and the literature review on the study variables, the ability to access health information (i.e., health literacy) was identified as a confounder for health-related self-efficacy in RQ1 and positive HIS experiences in RQ2. Health literacy has been long recognized as a determinant of health and healthy behaviors (Ashrafi-Rizi et al., 2018; Luong et al., 2012; Zide et al., 2016) and healthcare access and utilization (Nielsen-Bohlman & Panzer, 2004). In a study on the association between

education and health literacy (n = 409) among college students in the junior and senior grades, Ickes and Cottrell (2010) found that higher levels of education are not correlated with higher levels of health literacy. In contrast, in a secondary analysis of the 2007 HINTS dataset, Richardson et al. (2012) reported that education level influenced HIS behaviors and confidence in obtaining health information (n = 3,243, confidence OR = 50.44, 95% CI = 0.30, 0.63). Both Ickes and Cottrell (2010) and Richardson et al. (2012) confirmed that education is an enabler of HIS behaviors. Similarly, although health insurance is an enabler of access to health care, having health insurance is not known to enhance the ability to read, comprehend, or process health information. However, James et al. (2018) reported that the level of health insurance literacy (knowledge about health insurance and the ability to access insurance) significantly moderated healthcare utilization among college students in the southern U.S. (n = 1450).

Arnold et al. (2017) conducted a quasi-experimental study to test the effectiveness of health literacy intervention using colorectal screening kit for colorectal cancer-related self-efficacy in 8 Federally Qualified Health Centers by giving the kits to all participants, education to one group, and nurse support for screening to the second group. About half (54%) of the participants had less than high school education. They measured selfefficacy by asking questions about their confidence in their ability to perform the screening tasks (request a test, complete it, mail it), and knowledge and beliefs about the test. They found that screening and mailing in self-efficacy significantly increased in the supported group (p < .0001) and decreased in the education arm (p < .001 for getting and mailing it and p < .0003 for completing it). However, they found an overall increase in the colorectal screenings in all groups. This study provided evidence that health literacy is a confounder of health-related self-efficacy.

S. Jiang and Beaudoin (2016) noted that prior literature demonstrated higher health literacy among patients who used internet-connected sources for seeking health information than other patients. The authors used the 2013 HINTS 4 Cycle 3 sample (n = 3173) to test their hypothesis that internet use is positively associated with health literacy. They constructed a dichotomous health-related internet use (yes or no) using the same definition defined in the current study for the use of technology for HIS. They retained their hypothesis ($\beta = 17$, p < .001) and found that education had a direct effect on the motivation for health-related internet use ($\beta = .14, p < .001$) and health literacy $(\beta = .16, p < .001)$. They used the responses to the HINTS questions about person's knowledge about five healthy behaviors (i.e., knowledge of three vaccine-preventable cancers, tobacco use, food labels) to calculate respondent's health literacy score from zero to five, where a "0" indicated a lack of knowledge on the behavior and "1" knowledge. While the use of the food labels was appropriate for assessing participant's health literacy, the lack of knowledge or awareness about the other four measured elements (NCI, 2013) might not imply the inability to access or find the information when needed. Therefore, the study might have lacked construct validity. The authors also cautioned about the validity of the health literacy scale for it had not been validated by prior research and recommended considering other types of information processing.

Other researchers measured health literacy with the self-reported confidence in their ability to obtain or access health or medical information when needed (Bangerter et al., 2019; Richardson et al., 2012). Richardson et al. (2012) used a dichotomous measure of health literacy (low, high), where low corresponded with the "somewhat," "a little," or "no" confidence responses and high with "completely" or "very confident" responses to the 2007 HINTS question about the self-reported ability to obtain and access health and medical information. Bangerter et al. (2019) used a 5-point ordinal measure with values ranging from no confidence to completely competent. Bangerter et al. also used the 2017 HINTS 5 Cycle 1 instrument for their study on caregiver's self-confidence in seeking health information.

Health Status

Health status is a measure of health and people living disease, and disability-free lives are among the principle objectives of Healthy People 2020 (Koh et al., 2011). Health status was one of the predictors of the HIS behaviors (Abubakari et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Rooks et al., 2019; Shneyderman et al., 2016), health-related selfefficacy (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2019), and HIS experiences (S. Jiang & Street, 2017). Persons with less than good health could be most in need of patient-centered health information to better their health (Blanch-Hartigan et al., 2016). However, persons with poorer health status are more likely to report less healing relationships (Wald F = 9.08, p < .001) such as patient-provider communications (Blanch-Hartigan et al., 2016). In contrast, persons with good health had higher odds of higher levels of health literacy (OR = 1.23, 95% CI = 1.02, 1.48) (Miyawaki et al., 2015). Therefore, health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences may be impacted by a person's health status. Health status can be measured as poor or good (Jackson et al., 2016; Miyawaki et al., 2015) or on an ordinal scale ranging from poor to excellent health (Abraham et al., 2017; Manor et al., 2000). Jackson et al. (2016) classified self-reported fair or poor health status responses in the "poor" category and good, very good, and excellent health status responses into the "good" category. Others classified health status into three categories: poor, fair, and good (Zhao et al., 2020) or excellent, good, and poor/fair (Blanch-Hartigan et al., 2016).

Literature Review Summary

Various clinical trials, conducted by health professionals, provided evidence that technologies such as mobile apps, texting, and health tracking devices were associated with increased patient engagement, self-efficacy of the targeted activities such as medication adherence, tracking health, self-confidence in specific activities, and self-esteem (Awick et al., 2017; N. H. Nguyen et al., 2017; Rico et al., 2017). As the administrators of clinical trials maintain control over the study parameters for each participant from the start to the end of the study, the findings of the clinical trials cannot be generalized to uncontrolled environments in which cancer survivors live and seek health information from any information source, irrespective of the information accuracy or reliability. However, the findings of clinical trials provided a basis for testing *the use of technology for HIS* in the real-world setting without clinical control.

Although there was much literature on the general predictors of the preference or use of technology for information-seeking, no studies to date had examined the association between the cancer survivors' characteristics (sociodemographic and clinical) and the use of technology for HIS. Given the premise of self-management interventions in controlling chronic conditions and the role of technology in enabling timely access to health information, it was imperative to answer questions about the association between *survivors' use of technology for HIS* and their *health-related self-efficacy* and *positive HIS experiences*, and the association between *survivor's characteristics*

(sociodemographic and clinical) and their use of technology for HIS among activated cancer survivors for improving public health interventions. As per the literature review, many researchers had documented the prevalence, trends, and predictors of HIS behaviors, the use of technology for HIS, and HIS experiences to inform the selfmanagement public health interventions for cancer survivors. Ongoing research on technology-based HIS, predictors of HIS behaviors, HIS experiences, and health information seeker's characteristics were also indicators of the importance of examining those factors. Several researchers reported on the current disparities in eHealth and mHealth access and the trends in the Internet connectivity, access, and use.

The prevalence, trends, predictors, and correlates between the use of technology and HIS were documented in many studies. However, the impact of technology-based HIS on health-related self-efficacy and HIS experiences among cancer survivors were generally missing. Instead, future studies on the association between the health-related self-efficacy and technology-based HIS were recommended (Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Greenberg et al., 2018; Jackson et al., 2016; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020), which was my aim in studying RQ1.
There were several studies on the association between HIS experiences and health beliefs and healthy behaviors. However, the literature on the association between the *use of technology for HIS* and HIS experiences among cancer survivors was limited to specific subpopulation and was potentially outdated. The gaps in the knowledge and the interaction between the four processes in the self-efficacy theory provided a basis to explore the relationship between *the use of technology for HIS* and HIS experiences. Moreover, several researchers recommended closing this research gap (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Germeni et al., 2015; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020), which was my aim in studying RQ2.

While the demographics of health-information seekers were documented in several studies, the literature on the association between the *use of technology for HIS* and survivors' clinical factors among cancer survivors who seek health information was none to limited. Instead, most of the research was on other chronic diseases, possibly because cancer survivorship was recognized as a chronic health issue after the increase in cancer survival rates (Nekhlyudov et al., 2017). Moreover, Jackson et al. (2016) recommended regularly updating the association between the sociodemographic characteristics of the health information seekers and their HIS behaviors and how those technologies help them address their health needs. Therefore, RQ3a was studied for up-to-date knowledge and RQ3b to close the knowledge gap about technology-based HIS among cancer survivors.

Definitions

Cancer Survival: refers to the amount of time a person lives after the initial cancer diagnosis, and it does not guarantee cancer- or disease-free health status (NCI, 2019).

Cancer Survivor: refers to any living person who has a clinical diagnosis of cancer, irrespective of the time since the diagnosis or the treatment status areas (*Lavoie Smith et al.*, 2012).

Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL): refers to the level of the physical, mental, emotional, social, psychosocial function that enables or impairs independent and healthy living (Arndt et al., 2017).

Health-Information Seeking (HIS): refers to individuals actively searching for, rather than passively scanning or listening to, health-related information from any source (Shim et al., 2006).

Health-Information Seeking Behavior: refers to the way (e.g., reading print or digital/online media, watching or listening to health audio or video, communicating with health professionals, participating in discussions) people search for information (Jacobs et al., 2017).

Health-Related Self-Efficacy: refers to the persons' confidence and ability to attain desired health goals, such as managing treatment side-effects preventing disease recurrence or progression (Greenberg et al., 2018). One way to measure it is by measuring the person's self-confidence (the level of a self-reported measure of the ability to perform a task) in taking good care of their health, and the confidence can vary from no confidence (no self-efficacy) to extreme confidence (high self-efficacy) in performing

the tasks to attain the desired health goal (Awick et al., 2017; Kleitman & Stankov, 2007; Vithessonthi & Schwaninger, 2008).

Positive Health Information Seeking Experience (Patient HIS Experience): refers to the low or tolerable degree of challenge in terms of effort and non-frustrating amount of information when searching for health information (Paige et al., 2019).

Second and Secondary Cancers: both refer to new cancer diagnoses following the diagnosis of an original cancer diagnosis. The second cancers may be caused by the same or different exposures (e.g., environmental or lifestyle), while the secondary cancers are caused by cancer treatments such as radiation or chemotherapy (Demoor-Goldschmidt & De Vathaire, 2019; Hoekstra et al., 2018).

Self-Reported Health Literacy: refers to the person's self-reported ability to obtain or access health or medical information when needed (Bangerter et al., 2019; Richardson et al., 2012).

Self-Reported Health Status: refers to the self-reported measure of health, ranging from poor to excellent, and persons with disease or disability might experience poor health (Koh et al., 2011).

Survivor's Clinical Factors: refer to the survivor having a clinical diagnosis of well-documented cancer treatment-related chronic illnesses. In this study, clinical factors pertain to a survivor ever having a diagnosis of diabetes or high blood sugar, high blood pressure or hypertension, a heart condition, lung diseases, and depression/anxiety disorder (Arndt et al., 2017; Cohen & Derubeis, 2018; Dehghani et al., 2020; van Leeuwen et al., 2018).

Survivor's Sociodemographic Factors: in the current study, these refer to the survivor's age, race, sex, education, and income as these factors are known to influence the HIS behaviors (Abubakari et al., 2016; Bhuyan et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Sedrak et al., 2020; Shneyderman et al., 2016) and trust in the information source (Richardson et al., 2012).

The use of Technology for HIS: refers to a person seeking health information from electronic health information sources by looking for health or medical information on the Internet using a computer, smartphone, or other electronic means, participating in social media with persons with similar health issues or watching a health-related video on YouTube to search for health information (Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Jackson et al., 2016; Zucco et al., 2018). Survivors who do not search electronic sources by searching the Internet, do not participate in health-related social media, and do not watch health-related videos on YouTube would be considered those who do not use technology for HIS.

Scope and Delimitation

The research scope of the study was to examine the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information to generate evidence for use in cancer survivorship intervention planning. Only the use of the Internet for searching medical and health information, participation in health-related online forums, and watching health-related YouTube were considered in scope for the use of technology for HIS. Writing blogs, the use of social media (e.g., Twitter, Facebook, Instagram) platforms for non-health-related purposes (e.g., socializing), email, texting, and the use of eHealth systems and mHealth apps were considered out-of-scope for the current study. Furthermore, only data on the use of technology for HIS by cancer survivors, aged 18 years or older, who seek health information for self (i.e., self or both self plus someone else, but not exclusively for someone else) were to be included in the current study. Cancer survivors of any age who did not report seeking health information were to be excluded from the current study. The results of the current study were to be generalizable to the specific technologies (searching for health information on the Internet, participating in health-related online forums, or watching health-related videos on YouTube) among the U.S. adult cancer survivors represented in the HINTS dataset.

Assumptions

It was assumed that the study participants searched health information for the selfmanagement of cancer and satisfactory HRQOL. This assumption was necessary to conclude health-related self-efficacy as measured by the self-reported confidence in their ability to take good care of their health. It was also assumed that the study participants provided accurate responses to the study questions associated with the study variables and about searching for health information. As some of the web-based experience might be impacted by the device features (e.g., speed, memory), connection speeds, and browser settings (Ng et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2012), it was assumed the respondents who reported using the in-scope technology for HIS had adequate network connectivity with satisfactory speed for performing other internet-related tasks.

Limitations

Secondary data sources have many limitations, such as constraints of the sampling design, sample size, data cleanup or handling the missing data methods, and unavailability of information on the variables or covariates for the study. As the HINTS dataset was a self-administered survey conducted via mail or web, it might have response variability that can lead to invalid response or missing data due to full or partial nonresponse (McKnight & McKnight, 2010). Self-administered surveys could be subject to recall or information bias. The HINTS data source lacked information on cancer stage, and the differences in cancer stage and the total amount of time spent searching for HIS can affect patients' health status, the effect of emotional health on HIS behaviors and experiences, or their use (or confidence to apply) the health information (Evans et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2013).

Public Health Significance of the Study

There was a knowledge gap in the use of technologies such as computer and smartphone to access health information among persons with cancer to seek health information, their HIS experiences and their impact on their abilities to improve their health such as reducing the risk of cancer recurrence and improve quality of life against the cancer fatalism backdrop. Optimization of intervention for cancer survivors is needed to avoid cancer patients exchanging one poor health outcome with another (Rowland, 2016). This study findings could be used to identify the modality of information that is optimal for cancer survivors in enhancing their cognitive agency to improve cancer survivors' quality of life and self-care of cancer symptoms, treatment side-effects, and prevent (or delay) cancer recurrence. As such, the key social change implications of the study are identifying optimal modality of cancer health-information for cancer survivors to inform improvements in the technology-based HIS to reduce the long-term need for health care resources and morbidity due to cancer treatment. The study findings could provide insights on another HIS tool for more effective cancer care management with targeted public health intervention to enhance patients' knowledge for self-efficacy and enhance the overall public health. Addressing these information gaps help reduce cancer survivors' barriers to attaining a satisfactory HRQOL, controlling cancer relapse, and preventing the preventable second and secondary cancers. The study findings could also provide insights on the barriers to delivering optimal health information to the right persons at the right time for improved outcomes among persons with cancer. As such, the social change implications for this research are a reduction in the cancer-related burden on cancer survivors, their families, healthcare, and public health resources. Therefore, the aim of this study is to advance scientific knowledge to improve health communications, information, and promotion strategies for improving the individual level of cancer interventions to improve cancer patients' quality of life and reduce preventable cancer recurrences to reduce societal cancer burden. Understanding the HIS behaviors of persons with cancer, and their experiences with health-information technologies for information-seeking would inform and enable public health practitioners to ensure that these individuals are receiving the optimal information in an optimal manner for meeting their health information needs.

Summary

Cancer is a growing public health concern, despite the scientific progress in early detection and treatment of cancer. Cancer survivors are faced with new health-related challenges during and post-treatment, many of which can be self-managed with an enhanced personal agency for self-care. Per the self-efficacy theory, personal cognitive factors (knowledge, goals, expected value) predict health self-efficacy, and personal cognitive factors can be developed or enhanced with HIS, education, and practice. Per this theory, the HIS tools that remove barriers to health information would produce positive HIS experiences, which in turn, would result in a reciprocal increase in the use of the tool for future health information needs. In recent years, there has been an increase in the technology use and a decrease in the digital divide in the material access to technology for information seeking per the literature review. However, there were gaps in the literature about the understanding of how the use of technology for HIS impacts the cancer survivor's health-related self-efficacy or their HIS experiences. Several researchers also recommended continued monitoring of HIS behaviors among cancer survivors. I have described in this Section how the current study was performed to address the research gaps that were identified in the literature review. In the next section, Section 2, I described the research design and methodology for answering the proposed research questions.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to assess the relationship between cancer survivor's use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, and personal factors among cancer survivors who seek health information. Several researchers recommended more research on the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors for better self-management of cancer survivors' unmet health needs (Abubakari et al., 2016; Domínguez & Sapiña, 2017; Hesse et al., 2017; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020). Jackson et al. (2016) recommended continued monitoring of the HIS behaviors for continuous improvement in the public health interventions and to keep pace with the ever-changing technological landscape. I selected these research questions to close the research gaps in the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors, and to enhance the understanding of the association between cancer survivors' use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, and their personal factors for the planning and provisioning of the self-management interventions in the public health arena.

In this section, I will describe and justify the research design and the rationale, methodology, and ethical considerations. Within the Methodology section, I will describe the study population, sample size, sampling procedures for data collection, instrumentation, data analysis, and threats to validity. I will conclude this section with a discussion on the ethical considerations relative to the HINTS dataset and a summary of the section before reporting the study findings in the next Section.

Research Design and Rationale

I designed this study as a secondary analysis of the nationally-representative 2019 HINTS Cycle 5 cross-sectional dataset using the quantitative correlational design to test the hypotheses associated with each research question. I used this dataset because national data sources provide full transparency and documentation to the data collection and management design, which are necessary for minimizing researcher bias, increasing study validity, and availing the data to any researcher for study reproduction (A. K. Smith et al., 2011). I selected the most recent HINTS dataset for recency and relevancy for public health planning. Because a correlational secondary analysis design is used for testing hypotheses about the relationship between the predicted and predictor variables without manipulating any factors or seeking to find a causal inference (Burkholder et al., 2016), I used correlational secondary analysis to measure the relationship between the independent variables (IVs) and dependent variables (DVs), while controlling for the potential confounding variables, shown in Table 2 to answer the following research questions (RQs):

RQ1: What is the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and the health-related self-efficacy among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for the potential confounders (Table 2)?

RQ2: What is the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for the potential confounders (Table 2)?

RQ3 consists of two separate questions (a and b) examining the relationship between survivors' characteristics (sociodemographic and clinical factors), which are IVs measured at categorical or ordinal levels [Table 2]) and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information while controlling for the potential confounders as follows:

RQ3a: What is the relationship between the cancer survivors' sociodemographic IVs (Age, Sex, Race, Education, and Income) and their use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for potential confounding by their self-reported health status and clinical factors (Table 2)?

RQ3b: What is the relationship between cancer survivor's clinical dichotomous IVs (Diabetes diagnosis, High blood pressure diagnosis, Heart disease diagnosis, Lung disease diagnosis, Depression diagnosis) and the use of technology for HIS among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for potential confounding by their self-reported health status?

Table 2

Description of the Independent Variables (IVs), Dependent Variables (DVs), and

Variable (Measure)	Description	Valid values	Role in RQs
The use of	Measures whether the cancer	0=Did not use	IV: RQ1, RQ2
technology for HIS	survivor used the technology to	technology	DV: RQ3a, RQ3b
(Categorical)	search for health information		
		1=Used technology	
Health-related Self-	Measures the extent to which the	0=Low or none	DV: RQ1
efficacy	cancer survivor reported having the	1=Full or high	
(Categorical)	ability to take care of their health.		
Positive HIS	Measures whether the cancer	0=No	DV: RQ2
experiences	survivor reported positive (was	1=Yes	

Covariates (*CVs*)

Variable (Measure)	Description	Valid values	Role in RQs	
Categorical)	neither overwhelmed nor frustrated) or negative (felt overwhelmed or frustrated) experience in searching for health information			
Sociodemographic va	ariables:			
Age (Ordinal)	Measures the age category of the cancer survivor in the sample	1=under 50 years, 2=50-64 years, 3=65-74 years, 4=75 years or older	IV: RQ3a	
Sex (Categorical) Measures the survivor's self- reported gender (male or female)		0=Female 1=Male	IV: RQ3a	
Race (Categorical)	Measures survivor's self-reported race	1=Non-Hispanic White, 2=Non-Hispanic Black or African American, 3=Hispanic, 4=Asians and Others	IV: RQ3a	
Education (Ordinal)	Measures the survivor's self- reported highest educational attained level category	 1=High school graduate or less 2=Some college or vocational training; 3=Bachelor's degree; 4=Post baccalaureate degree 	IV: RQ3a	
Income (Ordinal)	Measures the survivor's self- reported annual household income category	1=under \$20,000, 2=\$20,000\$49,999; 3=\$50,000\$99,999; 4=\$100,000 or more	IV: RQ3a	
Survivor's clinical va	ariables:			
Diabetes diagnosis (Categorical)	Measures whether a doctor or health professional ever told survivor had diabetes or high blood sugar	0=No 1=Yes	CV: RQ3a IV: RQ3b	
Blood pressure diagnosis (Categorical)	Measures whether a doctor or health professional ever told survivor had high blood pressure	0=No 1=Yes	CV: RQ3a IV: RQ3b	
Heart disease diagnosis (Categorical) Measures whether a doctor or health professional ever told th survivor had a heart condition as heart attack or angina		0=No 1=Yes	CV: RQ3a IV: RQ3b	
Lung disease diagnosis (Categorical)	Measures whether a doctor or health professional ever told the survivor had chronic lung disease such as asthma	0=No 1=Yes	CV: RQ3a IV: RQ3b	

Variable (Measure)	Description	Valid values	Role in RQs
Depression or anxiety diagnosis (Categorical)	Measures whether a doctor or health professional ever told the survivor had depression or anxiety	0=No 1=Yes	CV: RQ3a IV: RQ3b
Potential covariate va Self-reported health literacy (Categorical)	riables: Measures the cancer survivor self- reported ability to obtain or access health or medical information	0=Low 1=High	CV: RQ1, RQ2
Self-reported health status (Categorical)	Measures cancer survivor's self- reported health status	0=Less than good 1=Good or better	CV: RQ3a, RQ3b

Methodology

Population

The target population of the study was the U.S. adults (aged 18 years and older) who ever had a cancer diagnosis and seek health information for themselves. Many cancer survivors reported unmet health information needs (Faller et al., 2017; Hudson et al., 2012). Nearly all cancer survivors reported actively seek health information (e.g., on symptoms, alternative or complementary treatment options, side effects), and nearly half of them reported using technology to find cancer-related health information (Bigsby & Hovick, 2018; Chua et al., 2018; Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Holmes et al., 2017). Therefore, the target population was adult cancer survivors in the U.S. who sought health information for themselves.

Sampling Procedures

According to NCI (2019), the HINTS survey administrators targeted civilian, noninstitutionalized adults living in the U.S. Sampling started with first randomly selecting a nonvacant residential address (including P.O. boxes), and then selecting an

adult within the selected residential address using the Next Birthday Method. The HINTS survey administrators selected 23,430 addresses comprising 16,740 addresses in high-minority areas and 6,690 in the low-minority concentration population areas (NCI, 2019). They oversampled high-minority concentration population for proportional sampling and to reduce nonresponse bias. The HINTS survey participants were randomly selected to participate via paper only (Paper Only) or via paper or web (Web pilot or Web Bonus groups) with a \$2 prepaid financial incentive, and the Web Bonus group was promised an additional \$10 upon completed response via the Web. The HINTS 5 Cycle 3 dataset was collected in 2019 (paper: January 22 to April 30; Web: January 29 to May 7) using a self-administered mailed or web-accessible questionnaire. They offered all participants in all groups the option to respond via paper (in English or Spanish), but via the Web (in English) only to those in the Web Pilot or Web Bonus groups. They also used a well-published protocol for the invitation to participate, followup, and reminders. The overall response rate was 30.5%, with a 22.2% response rate in the high-minority concentration strata and 33.4% in the low-minority strata (NCI, 2019).

The responses were scanned using TeleForm, manually validated (by comparing scanned copy with survey form), and the dataset was cleaned up or edited for missing or invalid values (NCI, 2019). Over 97% (5,427) responses to the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 (paper and web) survey were complete, and the remaining were incomplete or contained bad data (NCI, 2019). Detailed data collection, quality control, and management procedures and specifications are well-documented and publicly available from the HINTS website (NCI, 2019b). The quality control procedures included the rules for data cleanup, editing,

recoding to missing or invalid values, and imputing the measured values (Westat, 2019). Those procedures have been verified for scientific utility and credibility (Finney Rutten et al., 2020). The NCI has also published summary statistics from each cycle and how-to guides and tutorials for using the dataset for research (Moser & Murray, 2020).

Sample Size

The required sample size is a function of the significance level for rejecting the null hypothesis and the desired effect size or strength of the relationship between the IV and DVs that must be detectable or a meaningful measure of the relationship between the variables. Logistic regression models are used to compute the odds of one of many outcomes in the presence of one or more exposures, and the strength of measure the association (i.e., the odds ratio [OR]) between the predictor and predicted variables (Sperandei, 2014). As the response variables in all three RQs were binomial (Table 2), I used the binary logistic regression models and OR to estimate the sample size. The OR is a widely used measure of association (none with OR=1, positive or higher with OR > 1, negative or lower with OR <1) and effect size per unit change in the exposure (H. Chen et al., 2010; Szumilas, 2010). Pseudo R-squared is a measure of the variability explained by the logistic model, and the exponential of the beta coefficient is the OR in logistic regression (University of California, Los Angeles [UCLA]: Statistical Consulting Group, n.d.). A two-tailed significance level of 5% (Type 1 error: α =.05), statistical power of .8 (Type 2 error: $\beta = .2$), medium effect size ($2.5 \le OR \le 3$), and R^2 of .16 are recommended or accepted in scientific research for correlational studies research (H. Chen et al., 2010; Ferguson, 2009; Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2016; Hsieh, 1989; Wilson,

1999). I used G*Power 3.1.9.4 software by Faul et al. (2007) to compute the sample size for logistic regression by performing the "a priori: compute required sample size-given α , power, and effect size" power analysis for z-tests using $\alpha = .05$, $\beta = .2$, binomial distribution, equal exposure (x-param=.5), equal and unequal H0 probability for the unadjusted and adjusted R^2 (Table 3). A minimum of 273 cases were needed to detect a medium effect (2.5 ≤ adjusted OR ≤ 3.0) at R² = .16 (Table 3).

Table 3

Binomial distribution; $\alpha = .05$, $\beta = .2$, x-parm=.5	OR	Estimated sample size	
		$R^2 = 0$	$R^2 = .16$
		(unadjusted)	(adjusted)
	1.5	778	926
	2	276	328
Equal probability: Pr (Y=1 X=1) H ₀ =.5	2.5	164	196
	3	119	142
	3.5	81	114
	1.5	936	1114
	2	308	366
Unequal probability: Pr (Y=1 X=1) H ₀ =.25	2.5	173	206
	3	119	142
	3.5	92	109
	1.5	1319	1570
	2	420	500
Unequal probability: Pr (Y=1 X=1) H ₀ =.15	2.5	229	273
	3	155	184
	3.5	117	139

Sample Size Estimates Produced by G*Power 3.1.9.4

Instrumentation and Operationalization of the Constructs

I used the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 survey instrument (NCI, 2019b, 2019a) to operationalize the study variables. HINTS was sponsored by the NCI as noted above and was developed by the Health Communications and Informatics Research Branch of the Division of Cancer

Control and Population Sciences (NCI, 2020c). The HINTS instrument was designed by a group of behavioral scientists, clinicians, and health communications experts to complement the existing health datasets such as the National Health Interview Survey and Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System of relevance to health sciences (Hesse et al., 2017).

HINTS 5 Cycle 3 sociodemographic variables were calibrated using the 2017 American Community Survey by the U.S. Census Bureau, and the cancer and health insurance-related questions were calibrated with the 2017 National Health Interview Survey, per the "*Overview of the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 Survey and Data Analysis Recommendations*" dated January 2020 (NCI, 2019c). The HINTS survey instrument has been used to track the access and use of health technology for health (G. T. Nguyen & Bellamy, 2006) and informing national policies about health technologies (Hesse et al., 2017). HINTS design and methodology was grounded in the Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, and Reusable principles because the dataset can be processed by multiple statistical software (e.g., SPSS, SAS, STATA) and the HINTS administrators provide tutorials, webinars, and bundled packages (Finney Rutten et al., 2020). The Westat Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved the instrumentation and administration of the HINTS survey (Finney Rutten et al., 2020).

The HINTS survey instruments are used to measure constructs associated with HIS, cancer prevention (e.g., screening) knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors, cancer risk perceptions, healthcare use and access, technology use and access, health status, selfreported confidence in HIS and attaining health goals, and sociodemographic (Finney Rutten et al., 2020; NCI, 2019a). The HINTS survey has been used in over 500 peerreviewed studies (Finney Rutten et al., 2020; Westat, 2019), including for local research in Guam (Somera et al., 2016) and Puerto Rico (Tortolero-Luna et al., 2010).

The HINTS datasets, including the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 dataset, are freely available from the NCI with a self-attested agreement that the data would not be sold or repacked for sale, and it can be downloaded from the HINTS website (NCI, 2020c). No other permissions are required to access the dataset. Although the HINTS data are readily available, I sought approval from the university's IRB for the use of this secondary data before starting any data analysis for the current study.

Operationalization of the Study Variables

The HINTS survey includes the variables required for this study. The responses to HINTS survey questions A1 ("*have you ever looked for information about health or medical topics from any source?*") M1 ("*have you ever been diagnosed as having cancer?*"), and A3 ("*the most recent time you looked for information about health or medical topics, who was it for?*") were used to select cases that represented cancer survivors who sought health information. Cases with a "yes" response to both Questions A1 and M1 and with either "Myself" or "Both myself and someone else" to Question A3 were selected for the study. Then, the IVs, DVs, and the covariates in the study, shown in Table 2, were operationalized as explained next.

The use of technology for HIS was the predictor variable in RQ1 and RQ2 and the predicted variable in RQ3. As a measure of whether the survivor used technology for HIS, it was set to be a dichotomous variable (Table 2). This variable was used to capture

the study participants' responses about their use of a computer, smartphone, or other electronic means to look for health or medical information for self on the Internet, participation in health-related online forums, or watching online health-related videos for HIS. Internet use is positively associated with participation in online forums and online group chats (Shklovski et al., 2006) and the use of social media (online chat groups and YouTube) to higher Internet use (Simsek et al., 2014). Moreover, the users of Internet might participate in health-related social media platforms and YouTube videos based on the results of their Internet search. Similarly, persons who participate in health-related social media or watch health videos on YouTube might find links to Internet sites for searching for more information. As a result, the use of one of these online technologies can be a catalyst for the use of the other technology; these technologies have a high collinearity and covariance, irrespective of its detectability in the current sample. Therefore, it was categorized as a dichotomous variable to address the potential covariance and collinearity between the technology options for HIS. The variable was set to "Used technology" if the participants responded with a "Yes" to any of the following HINTS survey questions:

- B5a (In the past 12 months, have you used a computer, smartphone, or other electronic means to look for health or medical information for yourself: yes/no?)
- B14d (In the past 12 months, have you used the internet to participate in an online forum or support group for people with a similar health or medical issue: yes/no?)

• B14e (In the past 12 months, have you used the internet to watch a health-related video on YouTube: yes/no?)

Otherwise, it was set to "Did not use technology" if the participant responded with a "no" to all three questions. A combination of nonresponse and "no" response to the three questions was treated as invalid data. These questions and the approach were used by (Bangerter et al., 2019) to construct a dichotomous variable for using the Internet.

Health-related self-efficacy was the predicted variable in RQ1, and it was measured as a level of confidence in the survivors' self-care abilities. As discussed in the literature review, it is often measured as a rank-ordered scale ranging from no confidence to extremely high confidence. The level of self-confidence is an indicator of optimal (full ability) or suboptimal (none to low ability) confidence, where the suboptimal (i.e., low self-confidence) negatively impacts self-care decision making and action for the selfmanagement of health (Chuang et al., 2013; Eilander et al., 2016; Foster & Fenlon, 2011). Several researchers interpreted the multilevel ordinal results in terms of high or low confidence (Chuang et al., 2013; Eilander et al., 2016; Foster & Fenlon, 2011). Chan (2013) collapsed five categories into three (low, somewhat, high), and Hochbaum (1954) into two (high, low) categories. Therefore, health-related self-efficacy was decided to be a dichotomous variable, and it was measured using the response to the HINTS survey item F2 ("Overall, how confident are you about your ability to take good care of your *health?*"). The participant's response was collapsed from the five categories (Extremely confident=1 to Not confident at all=5) to two categories (Low, High). This variable was

set to "Full or high" for those who reported being "Completely confident" or "Very confident" and to "Low or none" for "Somewhat confident," "A little confident," or "Not at all confident."

Positive HIS experience was the predicted variable in RQ2. As a measure of whether the cancer survivor had a positive or negative experience searching the health information, was a dichotomous variable. It was based on participant's response to the effort and frustration dimensions of HIS experiences using the HINTS survey items A4a (*"It took a lot of effort to get the information"*) for effort and A4b (*"You felt frustrated during your search for the information"*) for frustration. The variable was set to "No" if the participant responded with "strongly agree" or "somewhat agree" to either A4a and A4b, and "Yes" with a "Somewhat disagree" or "strongly disagree" response to both A4a or A4b. Nonresponse to either question was treated as an invalid response.

The sociodemographic variables were cancer survivor's age, race, sex, education, and income (Table 2). These variables were predictor variables in RQ3a. Responses to the HINTS survey items O1 ("what is your age"), O5 (Are you of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin?), O6 ("what is your race"), O9 ("mark your sex"), O3 ("what is the highest grade or level of schooling you completed"), and O12 ("what is your combined pre-tax annual household income from all sources in the past year") were used to collect data on these variables. Per the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 codebook, the responses were derived as follows into HINTS variables: age in "AgeGrpA" and "AgeGrpB"; ethnicity and race in "RaceEthn5" and "RaceEthn7"; educational attainment level in "EducA" and "EducB"; sex in "SelfGender"; income in "IncomeRanges IMP" (NCI, 2020b). More

granular information is available from "EducB" than "EducA" (NCI, 2020b). The O12 response used for IncomeRanges_IMP was corrected with the highest range in case the respondent selected multiple income ranges or imputation in case of nonresponse (Westat, 2019).

Because cancer is most prevalent among persons older than 50 years (Guy et al., 2017), the IV Age in RQ3a was operationalized using the HINTS variable AgeGrpB, which has categories for above and below 50 years, rather than AgeGrpA with all persons aged 45 or older grouped into the "45+" category (NCI, 2020b). For the same reason, participants aged under 50 years were grouped into the "under 50 years" category. Therefore, values in AgeGrp were classified into the most appropriate category of Age (under 50 years=1, 50-64 years=2, 65-74 years=3, 75 years or older= 4), as shown in Table 4.

The IV Race in RQ3a was operationalized using the HINTS variable RaceEthn5 because some of the representative sample (e.g., .2%) in the entire HINTS dataset for several classifications in the RaceEthn7 was very small (e.g., unweighted: 10 American Indian and Alaskan Native, 11 for Hawaiian or other Pacific Islanders) for meaningful analysis (NCI, 2020b), which could have been even smaller within the target population. In RaceEthn5, persons who responded as being "Native Hawaiian," "Samoan," "Guamanian or Chamorro," "Other Pacific Islander" or multiracial were classified into the "Other" category. Persons who responded as being "Asian Indian," "Chinese," "Filipino," "Japanese," "Korean," "Vietnamese," or "Other Asian" were classified as "Asian" (NCI, 2020b). Therefore, Race was set to the values of RaceEthn5, as shown in Table 4.

The HINTS variables "SelfGender", "EducB", and "IncomeRanges_IMP" were used to set the IVs Sex, Education, and Income (NCI, 2020b). The computation of Education from "EducB" and Income from "IncomeRanges_IMP" is shown in Table 4.

Table 4

Variable	Participant's response	Computed value
variable	$\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{articipant} = \frac{12}{12} \operatorname{art} \frac{12}{22}$	A sa vinder 50 view
Age	AgeGrpB = 1° or 2°	Age=under 50 years
	AgeGrpB = "3"	Age=50-64 years
	AgeGrpB = "4"	Age=65-74 years
	AgeGrpB = "5"	Age=75+ years
	EducB= "1" or "2"	Education= High School graduate or
		less
Education	EducB ="3"	Education= Some college or
Education		vocational training
	EducB ="4"	Education= Bachelor's degree
	EducB ="5"	Education= Post baccalaureate degree
	RaceEthn5 = "1"	Race = Non-Hispanic White
	RaceEthn5 = "2"	Race = Non-Hispanic Black or
Race		African American
	RaceEthn5 = " 3 "	Race = Hispanic
	RaceEthn5 = "4" or "5"	Race = Asians and Others
	IncomeRangesIMP="1", "2",	Income=under \$20,000
	or "3"	
Income	IncomeRangesIMP= "4" or "5"	Income =\$20,000-\$49,999
	IncomeRangesIMP= "6" or "7"	Income =\$50,000-\$99,999
	IncomeRangesIMP= "8" or "9"	Income =\$100,000 or more

Calculating the Age, Race, Education, and Income

Survivor's clinical diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression or anxiety were the clinical variables that were potential confounders in RQ3a and IVs in RQ3b. The HINTS survey items about ever being told by a health professional about F6a ("*diabetes or high blood sugar*"), F6b ("*high blood*

pressure or hypertension"), F6c ("*a heart condition such as heart attack*, …"), F6d ("*chronic lung disease, asthma,* …"), and F6e ("*depression or anxiety*") were used to operationalize diabetes diagnosis, blood pressure diagnosis, heart disease diagnosis, lung disease diagnosis, and depression or anxiety diagnosis, respectively. As the response options for the questions and the variables are both dichotomous, the yes/no responses were used directly.

Self-reported health-literacy was a dichotomous covariate that was a potential confounder in RQ1 and RQ2. As per the literature review, HINTS survey items A5 ("Overall, how confident are you that you could get advice or information about health or medical topics if you needed it?") was used in several studies to operationalize self-reported health literacy, and the same will be used in the current study. The responses to A5 were categorized into two groups (Low or none, Full or high). The variable was set to "Full or high" for "Very confident" and "Completely confident" participant responses. Otherwise, it was set to "Low or none" for "Somewhat confident," "A little confident," "Not confident at all responses.

Self-reported health status was dichotomous covariate and a potential confounder in RQ1, RQ2, RQ3a, and RQ3b. In the literature review, poor physical and mental health were identified as a confounder of self-confidence and positive HIS experience. HINTS survey item F1 ("*In general, would you say your health is*?") was used to operationalize this variable. A response of "Poor' or "Fair" were mapped to "Less than good" and other valid response options ("Excellent", "Very good", and "Good") were mapped to "Good or better" as was done in the studies by Jackson et al. (2016) and Miyawaki et al. (2015).

Data Quality Assurance

The HINTS team reviewed the survey responses to each question for validity and nonresponse (Westat, 2019). They implemented the hot-deck imputation procedure for nonresponse to age, sex, race, education, and income (NCI, 2020b). They used the highest order response for Income and Education ranges if the participant selected multiple responses to these mark-only-one questions (NCI, 2020b). When imputation or editing was not possible for the study variables, they recoded the responses with errorspecific negative values to indicate invalid (e.g., nonconforming or failed skip tests) or missing data (NCI, 2020b). Therefore, negative values and missing values for any of the study variables were treated as invalid data for listwise exclusion from the analysis.

Data Analysis Plan

I used IBM SPSS version 24 for performing the data analyses. I began by performing descriptive analyses for all variables under investigation. I then conducted inferential analyses, both unadjusted and adjusted, to examine the relationship between the independent variables and dependent variables for the various research questions.

Descriptive Analyses

The count and percentage frequency distributions are among the descriptive statistics used for univariate analyses of categorical variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2016). Categories with too few responses in the variables with three or more categories should be collapsed to avoid bias due to classification errors (Shen & Gao, 2008). As all variables were categorical (Table 2), I generated frequency distribution and percentages for the distribution of responses, as well as verifying

required data assumptions for the analysis. I also examined the response to variables with three or more categories and collapsed the categories with too few responses in such variables to avoid bias due to classification errors. I also generated the graphical displays, e.g., pie charts, for the visual analysis or display of the data for the study variables.

Inferential Analyses

Binomial logistic regression model (henceforth referred to as logistic regression model) were used because of the dichotomous outcomes (Statistics Solutions, n.d.; UCLA Statistical Consulting, n.d.; Wagner, 2016) in all three RQs. The assumptions of the logistic regression model (i.e., predict dichotomous outcomes, one or more categorical or continuous IVs, independence of observations, mutually exclusive response categories, the existence of a relationship between IVs and DVs, and the independence of covariates) must be verified for reliable models and results (McDonald, 2014; Wagner, 2016). I verified several of these assumptions during the study design and verified the remaining during the hypothesis testing. I ensured the first assumption was met for predicting "High" or "Low" health-related self-efficacy, "Yes" or "No' positive HIS experiences, and the "use" or "nonuse" of technology for HIS in RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3 respectively. I also verified that the assumptions about one or more categorical or continuous IVs, independence of observations, and mutually exclusive response categories were already met per the HINTS survey design and the operationalization of the variables (Table 2). I verified the assumptions about the covariance and multicollinearity during the hypothesis testing.

Variables with three or more categories (k >2) without a rank order must be transformed into k-1 dummy variables to meet the assumptions about the measurement level for the linear regression (McDonald, 2014; Wagner, 2016). As a result, I transformed the racial categories into dummy dichotomous variables, used the non-Hispanic Whites as the reference category, and set the reference category to the zero value in the dummy variables. I did not transform age, education, and income because they were ordinal variables.

For each RQ, I used the bivariate logistic regression model to examine the unadjusted effect associations and the multiple logistic regression to control for confounders and the adjusted effects, as described next. These analyses were also used to check the remaining assumptions (i.e., the relationship between IV and DV and the independence of covariates) of the logistic regression analysis and to fit the model for the inferential analysis. For all analyses, I used the significance threshold value of .05 as my level of statistical significance.

Unadjusted Analyses.

Following the descriptive analyses, I began the inferential analyses by examining the unadjusted correlation between the outcome predictors in each RQ using the most appropriate correlation factors, which according to Virginia Commonwealth University (n.d.) were the phi-coefficient (for binary variables) or Cramer's V (for variables with three or more categories). Then, I used the logistic regression analysis to examine the effect (unadjusted odds ratio and the corresponding 95% confidence intervals) of each IV on the outcome in each RQ (Table 2) without adjusting for the potential confounders.

Adjusted Analyses.

Next, multivariable logistic regression models were fit for each RQ to control for potential confounding. A first step in the building of the multivariate models was to examine all pairwise correlations between the IVs to assess whether any of these are variables were strongly related to one another and, therefore, could lead to collinearity issues. I then built the logistic regression models by forcing all independent variables into the model (apart from any covariates that might be related to other variables). Because a greater than ten value of the variance inflation factor ([VIF] > 10) is a strong indicator of multicollinearity between the predictor variables (Allison, 1999; Fox, 1991; Obi, 2014), I checked the multicollinearity assumption by examining the VIF for the final models. I chose a VIF greater than ten to suggest that multicollinearity was present. Should this happen, I planned to remove the covariates that might be leading to the collinearity issues and produce revised multiple logistic models.

I also calculated the Hosmer-Lemeshow statistic for the adjusted model to assess the overall fit of the model. Should the Hosmer-Lemeshow statistic have a p < 0.05(suggesting lack of fit), I planned to carefully examine the model to identify the reason(s) for the lack of fit and make refinements accordingly, e.g., systematically recategorizing or removing/replacing predictor variables until there was no further evidence of lack of model fit.

I applied the data analysis methods and the logistic models for each RQ to test the corresponding null hypothesis described in Section 1. More specifically, I conducted three multiple logistic regression models, one for each RQ, as summarized in Table 5.

Table 5

RQ	Dependent variable	Independent variables	Potential confounding variables	Test purpose	Statistical test
RQ1	Health-related self-efficacy (dichotomous)	The use of technology for HIS (dichotomous)	Self-reported health literacy (dichotomous) Self-reported health status	Identify the odds of predicting the health-related self- efficacy with the use of technology for HIS while controlling for potential	Multiple logistic regression for predicting the odds of health- related self- efficacy.
			(dichotomous)	confounders.	
RQ2 Pe	Positive HIS experiences	The use of technology for HIS (dishetemous)	Self-reported health literacy	Identify the odds of positive HIS experience with the	Multiple logistic regression for
	(dictionolinous)	(dictiotonious)	Self-reported health status	for HIS, while controlling for potential confounders.	odds of positive HIS experiences.
			(dichotomous)		
RQ3a	The use of technology for HIS	Age (ordinal) Race (nominal)	Clinical variables (dichotomous)	Identify the odds of using technology for HIS with each	Multiple logistic regression for
	(dichotomous)	Sex (dichotomous)		sociodemographic, while controlling for the potential	odds of the use of technology
		Education (ordinal)		confounders.	IOF HIS.
		Income (ordinal)			
RQ3b	The use of technology for HIS	Dichotomous diagnosis of: Diabetes	Self-reported health status	Identify the odds of using technology for HIS with each	Multiple logistic regression for
	(dichotomous)	High Blood Pressure Heart diseases Lung diseases Depression or anxiety	(dichotomous)	clinical variable, while controlling for potential confounders.	predicting the odds of the use of technology.

Data Analysis Plan by RQ

Threats to Validity

Biases in the design, implementation, and analysis processes can threaten the study validity. Selection, response, and information biases (e.g., participant selection, time, history, maturation) in the design, conclusions without considering confounders, and gaps in the operationalization of the theoretical concepts or constructs can impact the study results (i.e., internal validity) and the generalizability of the results (i.e., external validity) (Drost, 2011; Fink, 2013). The study validity can also be affected by differences in the settings in a controlled experiment versus the real-world life setting (Drost, 2011). Cultural, social, or ecological differences in the population in different settings (e.g., cancer survivors in the U.S. versus India or England) could also limit the ability to extrapolate the study findings (Drost, 2011) of any study, including nonexperimental studies, even after controlling for the known confounders (e.g., selfreported health literacy, self-reported health status). The findings of the current study cannot be generalized to future settings with different types of technologies for HIS behaviors or U.S. healthcare policies (e.g., universal health care, testing, education system) because the study design involves secondary analysis of the 2019 cross-sectional HINTS 5 Cycle 3 dataset. Therefore, the threats to external validity were addressed by ensuring internal validity and generalizing the study findings on the associations and measures only to the targeted population.

The design was free from threats to the internal validity from the selection, history, time, maturation, and statistical regression biases. First, the selection, maturation, or history biases were not possible with the HINTS dataset because of the HINTS

sampling (random), instrument design (about past 12 months), and data collection design (a specific point in time). Second, the HINTS surveyor addressed the potential for nonresponse by some subgroups (e.g., racial or ethnic groups) by oversampling the groups with a greater likelihood of nonresponse to minimize the selection and response bias that can threaten the internal validity and providing weights to adjust for nonresponse (Fuller, 1974). However, as the HINTS survey was a self-administered questionnaire, any information bias (due to false claims within valid options) was not detectable in the current study, and such information bias would result in systematic differences in all studies using the responses with false claims. A study's internal validity can also be threatened by statistical regression errors such as issues with the measurements of the construct, unaccounted alternative explanation, nonreliability of the regression analyses, or invalid conclusions (Drost, 2011). These threats were addressed by using a reliable instrument, proactively addressing the potential confounders in the data analysis, providing transparency in the data analysis plan (including validating the assumptions of the regression model), and justifying the inferences. As the current study was designed as a correlational study, the findings were limited to reporting association and not causal inferences.

Ethical Procedures

For the current study, I did not require access to any of the participant's personally identifiable data, and I used the publicly available HINTS dataset. HINTS administrators used a randomly generated unique identification number for each selected participant, provided financial incentives and pre-stamped envelopes, and offered a web option to all recruited participants (Westat, 2019) to ensure equitable and ethical participant selection and data collection. The HINTS survey questionnaire did not collect any personal data, and the stored responses do not contain any personal data (Westat, 2019). Therefore, the use of these secondary data through the HINTS survey did not present ethical issues related to any of the following items: treatment of human subjects, data collection, privacy concerns, conflict of interest, or power differentials. An application to Walden's IRB was submitted to obtain and analyze the HINTS data for the current study, and the IRB approval was secured before starting the study analysis. The data access did not present any ethical concerns as the HINTS dataset is freely available to researchers who agree to the online terms and conditions and provide a personal email address. Before downloading the dataset, the HINTS administrators required a researcher to agree via self-attestation (by clicking on the "agreement" button) to the online terms and conditions presented on the download website and provide email address. I accepted all the terms and provided my email address in the same manner

Summary

In Section 2, I described the study design and methods to assess the impact the use of technology for HIS on the cancer survivor's health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences and the impact of the survivor's sociodemographic and clinical characteristics on the survivor's use of technology for HIS. I provided a rationale for conducting a quantitative and correlational study using the 2019 cross-sectional HINTS dataset from the NCI and provided information on the target population, sample size, and the study variables. I described the data collection design and procedures and the

acceptability of the dataset within the scientific community for science research. I also described the data quality assurance and data analysis plans for the study, including the details on the descriptive and inferential statistics model for each proposed research question and to draw insights. In the next section, Section 3, I presented the study results based upon the methodologies described in the present Section. Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to assess whether there is a significant relationship between cancer survivor's use of technology for HIS and their health-related selfefficacy, positive HIS experiences, and their sociodemographic and clinical factors among cancer survivors who seek health information (Table 6).

My research questions (RQs) and corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between the *use of technology for HIS* (independent dichotomous variable) and health-related self-efficacy (dependent dichotomous variable) among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for the potential confounders? The null hypothesis (H_o) is that there is no relationship between the independent and dependent variables in RQ1 and the alternative hypothesis (H₁) is that there is a significant relationship between these study variables in RQ1.

RQ2: What is the relationship between the *use of technology for HIS* (independent dichotomous variable) and positive HIS experience (dependent dichotomous variable) among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for the potential confounders? The H_0 is that there is no relationship between the independent and dependent variables in RQ2 and the H_1 is that there is a significant relationship between these study variables in RQ2.

RQ3: What is the relationship between survivor's a) sociodemographic independent nominal variables (age, race, education, income) and their *use of technology for HIS* (dependent dichotomous variable) and b) clinical independent dichotomous

variables (diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression/anxiety) and their *use of technology for HIS* (dependent dichotomous variable) among cancer survivors who seek health information, while controlling for the potential confounders? The H_0 is that there is no relationship the between the independent and dependent variables in RQ3 and the H_1 is that there is a significant relationship between these study variables in RQ3.

In Section 3, I will present the results and findings of the analyses. Following the introduction, I will describe the data collection methods, the survey timeframe, and the sample characteristics. Next, I will present the descriptive statistics, inferential analysis of the survey data, the results analysis, and key findings of the results for each RQ. Finally, I will conclude this section by providing the answers to each RQ and briefly introducing Section 4 on the practical application of the findings and social change implications.

Data Collection of the Secondary Data Set

I used the nationally representative secondary data from the HINTS 5 Cycle 3, funded by the NCI. It was fielded from January 22 to May 7, 2019, to obtain a stratified sample of 23,470 (71.4% high-minority, 28.6% low-minority) randomly selected adults (using the Next Birthday method) from the randomly selected nonvacant residential addresses in the 52 U.S. states (Westat, 2019). The HINTS researchers used the 2013– 2017 American Community Survey to designate the areas with more than 34% African American or Hispanic population as high-minority and all others as low-minority concentration population areas (Westat, 2019). The data were collected in two modes: January 22 to April 30 for paper-only, and January 29 to May 7 for the paper or web option (Westat, 2019). The downloaded HINTS data set had responses from a total of 5438 participants, which corresponded with an overall response rate of 30.5%, the highminority response rate of 22.2%, and the low-minority response rate of 33.4% (Moser & Murray, 2020; Westat, 2019). Each participant self-administered the survey and responded by either mailed-in surveys or the web form (Westat, 2019).

I used a subsample of only those cases in which the participants reported being cancer survivors and seeking health information for themselves were considered in the current study using the process described in Figure 1. First, I selected cancer survivors among the survey respondents by selecting only those who reported having ever had a cancer diagnosis (856 cancer survivors representing 15.7% of survey respondents). Then, I selected only the subset of cancer survivors who reported seeking health information (n=704 or 82.2%) of the cancer survivors). I further limited the subsample to only those cancer survivors who sought the health information for themselves and not exclusively for others, which resulted in a total of 609 cases representing 86.5% of the 704 cancer survivors who reported seeking health information (Figure 1). The subsample of 609 cancer survivors who reported seeking health information for themselves represented 71.1% of the cancer survivors and 11.1% of all the survey respondents in the 2019 HINTS 5 Cycle 3 data set (Figure 1). These 609 cases representing the cancer survivors who sought health information were included in the current study, and all other cases were excluded from the study sample.
Figure 1

Study Sample



After computing the study variables (Table 6) according to the operationalization plan described in Section 2, I analyzed the study subsample (n=609) for invalid data in each variable and its impact on each research question.

Table 6

Variable	Measurement	Values
Use of technology for HIS Nominal		0 = Did not use technology 1 = Used technology -1 = Invalid or missing data
Health-related self-efficacy	Nominal	0 = Low or none 1 = Full or high -1 = Invalid or missing data
Positive HIS Experiences	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes, -1 = Invalid or missing data
Self-reported health literacy	Nominal	0 = Low or none 1 = Full or high -1 = Invalid or missing data
Self-reported health status	Nominal	0 = Less than good 1 = Good or better

Codebook for the Study Variables

Variable	Measurement	Values
		-1 = Invalid or missing data
Age	Nominal	1 = Under 50 years, 2 = 50 - 64 years 3 = 65 - 75 years 4 = 75 years or older -9 = Invalid or missing data
Sex	Nominal	0 = Female 1 = Male -1 = Invalid or missing data
Race	Nominal	 1 = Non-Hispanic White 2 = Non-Hispanic Black or African American 3 = Hispanic 4 = Non-Hispanic Asians and Others. -9 = Invalid or missing data
Education	Nominal	 1 = High school graduate or less 2 = Some college or vocational training 3 = Bachelor's degree 4 = Post baccalaureate degree -9 = Invalid or missing data
Income	Nominal	1 = under \$20,000 2 = \$20,000\$49,999 3 = \$50,000\$99,999 4 = \$100,000 or more -9 = Invalid or missing data
Diabetes	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes, -9 = Invalid or missing data
High blood pressure	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes, -9 = Invalid or missing data
Heart disease	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes9 = Invalid or missing data
Lung disease	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes, -9 = Invalid or missing data
Depression or anxiety	Nominal	0 = No, 1 = Yes, -9 = Invalid or missing data

The study sample had 272 invalid responses across the study variables, and the invalid response rate ranged from 0.5 to 9.7 % for all variables (Table 7). Invalid response rates was the highest for *positive HIS experiences* (n=43), sex (n=57), and race (n=59), were 7.1%, 9.4%, and 9.7%, respectively as shown in Table 7.

Table 7

Variable	n	%
Use of Technology for HIS	14	2.3
Health-related self-efficacy	7	1.1
Positive HIS experiences	43	7.1
Age	8	1.3
Race	59	9.7
Sex	57	9.4
Income	8	1.3
Education	3	0.5
Diabetes	14	2.3
High blood pressure	13	2.1
Heart disease	8	1.3
Lung disease	10	1.6
Depression or anxiety	14	2.3
Self-reported health-literacy	3	0.5
Self-reported health-status	11	1.8
Total number of invalid values	272	3.0

Number Invalid Values by Variable in the Study Sample

Further analysis of listwise exclusion of cases with invalid values for a variable necessary for the RQ-specific analysis resulted in 581 (95.4%) valid cases for RQ1, 543 (89.2%) for RQ2, and 484 (79.5%) for RQ3 (Table 8). The final sample size for each RQ met the minimum sample size of 273 required to detect a medium effect at $\alpha = .05$ and $\beta = .2$, as presented in Section 2. In the results section below, I will present the results by RQ.

Table 8

_

_

RQ	Exclusion criteria	Valid cases:
		N (% of 609)
RQ1	Listwise exclusion of the invalid cases for the:	581 (95.4)
	• use of technology for HIS,	
	• health-related self-efficacy,	
	• self-reported health-literacy, and	
	• self-reported health status.	
RQ2	Listwise exclusion of the invalid cases for the:	543 (89.2)
	• use of technology for HIS,	
	• positive HIS experiences,	
	• self-reported health-literacy, and	
	• self-reported health status.	
RQ3	Listwise deletion of invalid cases for the:	484 (79.5)
	• use of technology for HIS,	
	• each sociodemographic variable (age, sex, race, education, and	
	income),	
	• each clinical variable (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart	
	disease, lung diseases, depression/anxiety), and	
	• self-reported health status.	

RQ-Specific Subsample Selection Criteria

Study Results

I conducted multiple logistic regression analyses to investigate the relationship between cancer survivors' use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy (RQ1), positive HIS experiences (RQ2), and personal factors (i.e., socio-demographic factors in RQ3a and clinical factors in RQ3b). Unadjusted (univariable) and multiple (adjusted) logistic regression models were run to compute the odds ratio (OR), which is the the exponentiated β (Exp [β]), for the relationship between each independent variable and the outcome variable. Given the differences in the analysis samples, the results of the descriptive and logistic regression analysis for each RQ are presented by RQ.

RQ1: The Relationship Between the use of Technology for HIS and Health-Related Self-Efficacy

In RQ1 on the relationship between the survivors' use of technology for HIS (predictor variable) and their health-related self-efficacy (outcome variable), their self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status were the potential confounders. As noted in Table 8, the RQ1 analyses were based on a sample of N = 581. Most of these participants had full or high health-related self-efficacy (Figure 3).

RQ1 Univariate Analyses

As shown in Table 9, a majority of the cancer survivors reported using technology for HIS (n = 466, 80.2%), having a full or high health-related self-efficacy (n = 393, 67.6%), full or high self-reported health literacy (n = 379, 65.2%), and good or better self-reported health status (n = 439, 75.6%). Most cancer survivors, irrespective of their use of technology for HIS, reported full or high health-related self-efficacy (66.1% [79 of 115] who did not use technology; 68.0% [317 of 499] who used technology). Nearly three-quarters (n = 106, 74.6%) of the 142 survivors with less than good self-reported health status reported having low or no health-related self-efficacy. Most of the survivors with full or high self-reported health literacy (n = 288, 76%) and good or better selfreported health status (n = 357, 81.3%) reported having a full or high health-related selfefficacy. The sample had more females (n = 282, 48.4%) than males (n = 251, 43.2%), 65 years or older (n = 370, 62.1%) than under 65 years (n = 204, 35.1%), non-Hispanic Whites (n = 427, 73.5%) than other racial groups (n = 104, 17.9%), earning under \$50,000 (n = 308, 55.6%) than \$50,000 or more (n = 266, 45.8%), and had bachelors or higher degree (n = 286, 58.5%) than some college education or less (n = 266, 39.2%). Most participants in each sociodemographic category, except for the Hispanic and those earning under \$20,000, reported having full or high health-related self-efficacy.

Table 9

RQ1 Summary Statistics for the Study on the Relationship Between the Use of Technology and Health-Related Self-Efficacy

Variables (V) and categories	Sample		Health-related self-efficacy			
	(<i>N</i> =	=581)	Lo	ow or none	Fı	ıll or high
	n	%	n	% within V	п	% within V
Use of technology for HIS						
Did not use technology	115	19.8	39	33.9	76	66.1
Used technology	466	80.2	149	32.0	317	68.0
Self-reported health literacy						
Low or none	202	34.8	97	48.0	105	52.0
Full or High	379	65.2	91	24.0	288	76.0
Self-reported health status						
Less than good	142	24.4	106	74.6	36	25.4
Good or better	439	75.6	82	18.7	357	81.3
Sex						
Female	282	48.5	79	28.0	203	72.0
Male	251	43.2	87	34.7	164	65.3
Missing or invalid data	48	8.3	22	45.8	26	54.2
Age						
Under 50 years	45	7.8	11	24.4	34	75.6
50-64 year	159	27.4	52	32.7	107	67.3
65-74 years	202	34.8	66	32.7	136	67.3
75 years or older	168	28.9	58	34.5	110	65.5
Missing or invalid data	7	1.20	1	14.3	6	85.7
Race						
Non-Hispanic White	427	73.5	122	28.6	305	71.4
Non-Hispanic Black or African American	42	7.2	13	31.0	29	69.0
Hispanic	33	5.7	17	51.5	16	48.5

Variables (V) and categories	Sample		Health-related self-efficacy			
	(N=	581)	Lo	ow or none	Fu	ıll or high
	n	%	n	% within V	п	% within V
Non-Hispanic Asian or Other	29	5.0	11	37.9	18	62.1
Missing or invalid data	50	8.6	25	50.0	25	50.0
Income						
Under \$20,000	84	14.5	43	51.2	41	48.8
\$20,000\$49,999	182	31.3	65	35.7	117	64.3
\$50,000\$99,999	164	28.2	39	23.8	125	76.2
\$50,000\$99,999	144	24.8	37	25.7	107	74.3
Missing or invalid data	7	1.2	4	57.1	3	42.9
Education						
High school graduate or less	104	17.9	44	42.3	60	57.7
Some college or vocational training	188	32.4	63	33.5	125	66.5
Bachelor's degree	152	26.2	40	26.3	112	73.7
Post baccalaureate degree	134	23.1	40	29.9	94	70.1
Missing or invalid data	3	0.5	1	33.3	2	66.7
Health-related self-efficacy						
Low or none	188	32.4	-	-	-	-
Full or high	393	67.6	-	-	-	-

Unadjusted Logistic Regression Analysis for RQ1

I conducted three unadjusted logistic regression analyses investigate RQ1 on the relationships between each predictor variable (use of technology for HIS, self-reported health literacy, and self-reported health status) and the dependent variable, health-related self-efficacy. The use of technology for HIS was not significantly associated with health-related self-efficacy, p > .05 (Table 10). Both self-reported health literacy (OR = 2.92; 95% CI = 2.03, 4.20) and self-reported health status (OR = 12.82; 95% CI = 8.19, 20.06) were significantly associated with health-related self-efficacy.

Table 10

Predictor	β	S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds ratio	95% CI LL - UL
Use of technology for HIS Used technology	0.09	0.22	0.16	1	.691	1.09	0.71 - 1.68
Self-reported health literacy Full or high	1.07	0.18	33.56	1	< .001	2.92	2.03 - 4.20
Self-reported health status Good or better	2.55	0.22	124.64	1	< .001	12.82	8.19 - 20.06

Unadjusted Logistic Models for Predicting Health-Related Self-Efficacy

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL = Lower limit, UL= Upper limit.

Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis for RQ1

I conducted a multiple logistic regression analysis to investigate the relationship between survivors' use of technology for HIS (the independent variable of interest) and their health-related self-efficacy (the outcome variable) while controlling for selfreported health literacy and self-reported health status. The logistic regression model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(3) = 179.92$, p < .05, and it explained 37.2% (Negelkerke R^2) of the variability in health-related self-efficacy. The model correctly classified 79.7% of the cases, and its sensitivity and selectivity rates for predicting health-related self-efficacy were 90.8% (Full or high) and 56.4% (Low or none), respectively. There was no evidence of the lack of model fit based upon the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic of 3.15, p > .05 (Table 11).

Controlling for survivor's self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status, the use of technology for HIS (the predictor variable of interest) was not a significant contributor to the model (p > .05), and it was not a significant predictor of

health-related self-efficacy (OR = 0.91; 95% CI = 0.54, 1.54 [Table 11]). Both selfreported health literacy and self-reported health status were significant predictors of health-related self-efficacy, p < .05. The odds of full or high health-related self-efficacy were 3.39 times higher with "Full or high" than with "Low or no" self-reported health literacy (OR = 3.39; 95% CI = 2.20, 5.22; p < .05). The odds of full or high healthrelated self-efficacy were 13.99 times higher with "Good or better" than with "Less than good" self-reported health status (OR= 13.99; 95% CI = 8.73, 22.44; p < .05).

Table 11

Multiple Logistic Model for Predicting Health-Related Self-Efficacy

Predictor	β	S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds ratio	95% CI LL – UL		
Constant	-1.81	0.32	31.16	1	<.001	0.16			
Use of technology for HIS Used technology	-0.01	0.26	0.13	1	.72	0.91	0.54 - 1.54		
Self-reported health literacy Full or high	1.22	0.22	30.80	1	<.001	3.39	2.20 - 5.22		
Self-reported health status Good or better	2.64	0.24	120.08	1	<.001	13.99	8.73 - 22.44		
Model predictive capacity = 79.7% (full or high = 90.8% , low or none= 56.4%).									
Hosmer Lemeshow goodness of fit statistic = 3.15 , <i>p</i> -value = $.676$									

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL = Lower limit, UL= Upper limit.

I ran diagnostic tests to identify correlated predictors and the presence of multicollinearity between them (i.e., VIF \geq 10). The predictors of health-related self-efficacy were not highly correlated with each other ($|\Phi| < 0.4$), and there was no evidence of multicollinearity (VIF < 10) between them (Table 12). Based on the results of these diagnostics and the nonsignificant contributions of the use of technology for HIS to the

model, I failed to reject the null hypothesis in RQ1 that there is no relationship between survivors' use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy.

Table 12

Correlation Between the Predictors of Health-Related Self-Efficacy

Variable	Correlation between the covariates							
	Use of technology for HIS	Self-reported health literacy	Self-reported health status	_				
Use of technology for HIS	-	$\Phi = .046, p = .27$	Ф=.039, <i>p</i> = .35	1.003				
Self-reported health literacy	-	-	$\Phi = .081, p = .05$	1.008				
Self-reported health-status	-	-	-	1.008				

RQ2: The Relationship Between the use of Technology for HIS and Positive HIS Experiences

In RQ2 on the relationship between the survivors' use of technology for HIS (predictor variable) and their positive HIS experiences (outcome variable), the potential confounders were their self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status. As shown in Table 8, the RQ2 analyses were based on the sample size of N = 543.

RQ2 Univariate Analysis

As shown in Table 13, a majority of the cancer survivors reported using technology for HIS (n = 443, 81.6%), having positive HIS experiences (n = 310, 57.1%), full or high self-reported health literacy (n = 355, 65.4%), and good or better selfreported health status (n = 410, 75.5%). Most of the survivors who used (n = 256, 57.8%) and did not use technology for HIS (n = 54, 54.0%) reported having positive HIS experiences. A majority of the survivors with any self-reported health status (less than good [51.9%] and good or better [58.8%]) and a full or high self-reported health literacy (71.8%) reported having positive HIS experiences. About 58% of the female (n = 260, 47.9%) and male (n = 237, 43.6%) participants reported having positive HIS experiences. Most ($60\% \pm 5\%$) of the participants aged under 75 years and half of the 151 participants aged 75 years or older (n = 77, 51.0%) reported having positive HIS experiences. A little over third (37.0%) of the participants in the Asians or Other and over half (57-68%) in the other racial groups reported having positive HIS experiences. About half (49.7%) of those earning \$20,000-\$49,999 and around $60\% \pm 3\%$ of the rest earning under \$20,000 or \$50,000 or more reported having positive HIS experiences.

Table 13

RQ2 Summary Statistics for the Study on the Relationship Between the Use of Technology and Positive HIS Experiences

Variables (V) and categories	Sample		Positive HIS experiences			
	(<i>N</i> =	543)	No			Yes
	n	%	п	% within V	n	% within V
Use of technology for LUS						
Did not use to shu show	100	10/	10	16.0	51	54.0
Did not use technology	100	18.4	40	40.0	54	54.0
Used technology	443	81.6	187	42.2	256	57.8
Self-reported health literacy						
Low or none	188	34.6	133	70.7	55	29.3
Full or High	355	65.4	100	28.2	255	71.8
Self-reported health status						
Less than good	133	24.5	64	48.1	69	51.9
Good or better	410	75.5	169	41.2	241	58.8
Sex						
Female	260	47.9	110	42.3	150	57.7
Male	237	43.6	100	42.2	137	57.8
Missing of invalid data	46	8.5	23	50.0	23	50.0
Age						
Under 50 years	45	8.3	20	44.4	25	55.6
50-64 year	154	28.4	64	41.6	90	58.4

Variables (V) and categories	Sample		Positive HIS experiences			
	(N=	543)		No		Yes
	п	%	п	% within V	n	% within V
65-74 years	188	34.6	71	37.8	117	62.2
75 years or older	151	27.8	74	49.0	77	51.0
Missing or invalid data	5	0.9	4	80.0	1	20.0
Race						
Non-Hispanic White	401	73.8	166	41.4	235	58.6
Non-Hispanic Black or African American	40	7.4	13	32.5	27	67.5
Hispanic	30	5.5	13	43.3	17	56.7
Non-Hispanic Asian or Other	27	5.0	17	63.0	10	37.0
Missing or invalid data	45	8.3	24	53.3	21	46.7
Income						
Under \$20,000	75	13.8	31	41.3	44	58.7
\$20,000\$49,999	169	31.1	85	50.3	84	49.7
\$50,000\$99,999	152	28.0	61	40.1	91	59.9
\$50,000\$99,999	140	25.8	52	37.1	88	62.9
Missing or invalid data	7	1.3	4	57.1	3	42.9
Education						
High school graduate or less	92	16.9	48	52.2	44	47.8
Some college or vocational training	176	32.4	78	44.3	98	55.7
Bachelor's degree	145	26.7	61	42.1	84	57.9
Post baccalaureate degree	128	23.6	45	35.2	83	64.8
Missing or invalid data	2	0.4	1	50.0	1	50.0
Positive HIS experiences						
No	233	42.9	-	-	-	-
Yes	310	57.1	-	-	-	-

Unadjusted Logistic Regression Analysis for RQ2

I conducted three unadjusted logistic regression analyses to investigate RQ2 on the relationship between the predictor variables (use of technology for HIS, self-reported health literacy, and self-reported health status) and positive HIS experiences (the outcome variable). The use of technology for HIS and self-reported health status were not significant predictors of positive HIS experiences, p > .05 (Table 14). Self-reported health literacy significantly contributed to the model (p < .05) for predicting positive HIS experiences (OR = 6.17; 95% CI = 4.17, 9.11; p < .05).

Table 14

Unadjusted Logistic Regression Model for Predicting Positive HIS Experiences

Predictor	β	S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds ratio	95% CI LL - UL
Use of technology for HIS Used technology	0.15	0.22	0.48	1	.490	1.17	0.75 - 1.80
Self-reported health literacy Full or high	1.82	0.20	83.52	1	<.001	6.17	4.17 - 9.11
Self-reported health status Good or better	0.28	0.20	1.95	1	.163	1.32	0.89 - 1.96

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL= Lower limit; UL= Upper limit.

Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis for RQ2

I conducted a multiple logistic regression analysis to investigate the relationship between the use of technology for HIS (independent varialbe of interest) and positive HIS experiences (the outcome variable), while controlling for self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status (Table 15). The model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(N = 543,$ 3) = 93.13, p < .05, and it explained 21.2% (Negelkerke R^2) of the variability in positive HIS experiences. The model correctly classified 71.5% of the cases. Its sensitivity and selectivity rates for predicting positive HIS experiences were 82.3% (Yes) and 57.1% (No), respectively. There was no evidence of the lack of model fit per the nonsignificant Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic of 0.22, p > .05 (Table 15). Controlling for self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status, the use of technology for HIS was not a significant predictor of positive HIS experiences (OR = 1.13; 95% CI = 0.70, 1.82; p > .05). Self-reported health literacy was a significant contributor to the model, p < .05. Survivors with "Full or high" self-reported health literacy had 6.1 times higher odds of positive HIS experiences than their counterparts with "Low or none" self-reported health literacy (OR = 6.10; 95% CI = 4.13, 9.02; p < .05). Self-reported health status did not contribute to the model, and it was not a significant predictor of positive HIS experiences, p > .05, OR = 1.16, 95% CI [0.75, 1.79].

Table 15

Adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Predicting Positive HIS Experiences

Predictors	β	S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds	95% CI
						ratio	LL - UL
Constant	-1.09	0.30	13.32	1	<.001	0.38	
Use of technology for HIS Used technology	0.12	0.24	.24	1	.623	1.13	0.70 - 1.82
Self-reported health literacy Full or high	1.81	0.20	82.21	1	<.001	6.10	4.13 - 9.02
Self-reported health status Good or better	0.15	0.22	0.46	1	.498	1.16	0.75 - 1.79
Model overall predictive capacity:	71.5%	(Yes =	82.3%,	No =5	57.1%)		
Hosmer Lemeshow goodness of fi	t statisti	c = .222	2, <i>p</i> -valu	e =.99	Ð		

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL= Lower limit; UL= Upper limit.

The lack of evidence of multicollinearity (VIF < 10) and the nonsignificant correlation between the predictor variables ($|\Phi| < .4, p > .05$) indicated that the assumptions of logistic regression were not violated (Table 16). As a result, I failed to reject the null hypothesis in RQ2 that there is no relationship between the survivors' use of technology for HIS and their positive HIS experiences.

Table 16

Predictor	Correla	VIF		
	Use of technology for HIS	Self-reported health literacy	Self-reported health status	_
Use of technology for HIS	-	$\Phi = .02, p = .58$	$\Phi = .03, p = .52$	1.001
Self-reported health literacy	-	-	$\Phi = .08, p = .06$	1.007
Self-reported health status	-	-	-	1.007

Correlation Between the Predictors of Positive HIS Experiences

RQ3: The Relationship Between Survivor Characteristics and the Use of

Technology for HIS

In RQ3, I aimed to assess the impact of the survivors' sociodemographic (age, sex, race, education, and income) and clinical (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, or depression/ anxiety) factors (predictor variables) on their use of technology for HIS (outcome variable). For this study on the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and each of the personal factors, I presented RQ3 as two questions: one to look at the sociodemographic (RQ3a) and the other at the clinical (RQ3b) variables. Survivors' self-reported health status was a potential confounder in RQ3. The RQ3 analyses, discussed next, were based on a sample of N = 484 (Table 8).

RQ3 Univariate Analysis

Tables 17 and 18 show the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the study participants, respectively. As shown in Table 17, most cancer survivors used technology (n = 395, 81.6%), had good or better self-reported health status (n = 375, 77.5%). were aged 50 years or older (n = 443, 91.5%), females (n = 259, 53.5%), and

non-Hispanic Whites (n=392, 81.9%), had some college education or higher degree (n = 401, 82.9%), and earned \$50,000 or higher (n = 269, 55.9%).

As shown in Table 17, most cancer survivors in each sociodemographic category reported using technology for HIS. About $80\% \pm 3\%$ of the survivors with any self-reported health status (79.8% with less than good and 82.1% good or better) or *sex* (83.8% females and 79.1% males) used technology for HIS.

Table 17

RQ3 Summary Statistics on the Survivors' Socio-demographic Factors and their use of

Variable (V) and category	San	nnle		Use of technology for HIS				
	(<i>N</i> =	484)	E t	Did not use echnology	Used	l technology		
	n	%	п	% within V	n	% within V		
Self-reported health status								
Less than good	109	22.5	22	20.2	87	79.8		
Good or better	375	77.5	67	17.9	308	82.1		
Age								
Under 50 years	41	8.5	2	4.9	39	95.1		
50-64 year	136	28.1	9	6.6	127	93.4		
65-74 years	174	36.0	29	16.7	145	83.3		
75 years or older	133	27.5	49	36.8	84	63.2		
Sex								
Female	259	53.5	42	16.2	217	83.8		
Male	225	46.5	47	20.9	178	79.1		
Race								
Non-Hispanic White	392	81.0	78	19.9	314	80.1		
Non-Hispanic Black or African American	37	7.6	7	18.9	30	81.1		
Hispanic	28	5.8	3	10.7	25	89.3		
Non-Hispanic Asian or Other	27	5.6	1	3.7	26	96.3		

Technology for HIS

Variable (V) and category		nnla		Use of technology for HIS				
	(N=	(<i>N</i> =484)		Did not use echnology	Used technology			
	n	%	п	% within V	п	% within V		
High school graduate or less	83	17.1	34	41.0	49	59.0		
Some college or vocational training	149	30.8	29	19.5	120	80.5		
Bachelor's degree	132	27.3	14	10.6	118	89.4		
Post baccalaureate degree	120	24.8	12	10.0	108	90.0		
Income								
Under \$20,000	56	11.6	20	35.7	36	64.3		
\$20,000 - \$49,999	159	32.9	39	24.5	120	75.5		
\$50,000 - \$99,999	142	29.3	21	14.8	121	85.2		
\$100,000 or more	127	26.2	9	7.1	118	92.9		
Use of technology for HIS								
Did not use technology	89	18.4	-	-	-	-		
Used technology	395	81.6	-	-	-	-		

Participants under 50 years accounted for 8.5% (n = 41) of the sample. Of the persons aged 50 years or older (n = 443, 91.5%), those aged 50-64 years (n = 136), 65 - 74 years (n = 174), and 75 years or older (n = 133) accounted for 28.1%, 36.0%, and 27.5% of the sample, respectively. The use of technology for HIS was higher among the younger than older survivors for each age category, and most survivors in each age category used it. Of the 41 survivors aged under 50 years, only two reported not using technology for HIS, which necessitated collapsing the first two age categories ("under 50 years" and "50 – 64 years") into the new "under 65 years" category (n = 177). Nearly all survivors under 65 years (n = 166, 93.8%) and three-quarters of those 65 years or older (n = 229, 74.6%) reported using technology for HIS. Most of the 307 survivors aged 65 years or older (83.3% of the 65 - 74 years and 63.2% of the 75 years or older) reported

using technology for HIS. Over 80% of the survivors in each race category also reported using technology for HIS.

The sample had more females (n = 259, 53.5%) than males (n = 225, 46.5%). About 80% of the females (n = 217, 83.8%) and males (n = 178, 79.1%) reported using technology for HIS.

Non-Hispanic Whites (n = 392), non-Hispanic Blacks and African Americans (n = 37), Hispanic (n = 28), and non-Hispanic Asians and Others (n = 27) accounted for 81.0%, 7.6%, 5.8%, and 5.6% of the sample, respectively. The proportion of the non-Hispanic Whites in the sample was consistent with the 2017 prevalence by race for the 5year cancer survival rates (Whites: 81.1%) statistics published by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ([CDC], 2020). Between 80% and 96.3% of the study participants in any racial subgroup reported using technology for HIS. Its use was lower among the non-Hispanic Whites than the other racial groups. The use of technology for *HIS* among non-Hispanic Whites (n = 392), non-Hispanic Black of African Americans (n = 37), Hispanic (n = 28), and non-Hispanic Asian or Other (n = 27) was 80.1%, 81.1%, 89.3%, and 96.3%, respectively. Hispanic and non-Hispanic Asians and Other race categories were re-categorized into "Hispanic and Others" (n = 55) because only three of the 28 Hispanic and one of the 27 non-Hispanic Asian or Others reported not using technology for HIS. Among the 55 Hispanic and Others, 92.7% (n = 51) reported using technology for HIS.

Less than 20% of the study participants attained high school graduation or less education (17.1%, n = 83), and the majority reported having attained higher than high

school education (82.9%, n = 401). Of the 401 survivors with greater than high school educational attainment, 30.8% (n = 149) had some college education, 27.3% (n = 132) bachelors degree, and 24.8% (n = 120) post-baccalaureate degree. The use of technology for HIS among the participating survivors with high school or less education (n = 83), some college (n = 149), bachelor's degree (n = 132), and post-baccalaureate degree (n =120) was 59.0%, 80.5%, 89.4%, and 90.0%, respectively. The higher education categories had a higher percentage of survivors using technology for HIS than the lower educational attainment categories.

Most (88.4%, n = 428) of the study participants reported earning \$20,000 or higher and 11.6% (n = 56) under \$20,000. The 428 survivors who earned \$20,000 or more were distributed approximately equally ($30\% \pm 3.8\%$) across the three income categories: 32.9% (n = 159) earned \$20,000-\$49,999; 29.3% (n = 142) \$50,000-\$99,999; and 26.2% (n = 127) \$100,000 or more. The use of technology for HIS for the income categories ranged from 64.3% to 92.9%, and the percentage of participants using it was higher in the higher than the lower-income categories (64.3% for those earning under \$20,000, 75.5% for \$20,000-\$49,999, 85.2% for \$50,000-\$99,999, and 92.9% for \$100,000 or more).

As shown in Table 18, most survivors had high blood pressure (n = 288, 59.5%). Most survivors in the study did not have a diagnosis of diabetes (n = 344, 71.1%), heart disease (n = 410, 84.7%), lung disease (n = 416, 86.0%), or depression or anxiety (n = 382, 78.9%). Most survivors, irrespective of their diagnosis of the targeted health conditions, used technology for HIS. Except in the case of a depression or anxiety diagnosis, the use of technology for HIS was higher among the survivors without than among those with the studied disease: 84.9% (n = 292) without and 73.6% (n = 103) with diabetes; 86.7% (n = 170) without and 78.1% (n = 225) with high blood pressure; 83.9% (n = 344) without and 68.9% (n = 51) with heart disease; and 81.7% (n = 340) without and 80.9% (n = 55) with lung disease. A higher proportion of the participants with depression or anxiety (84.3%, n = 84) than without it (80.9%, n = 309) used technology for HIS.

Table 18

Summary Statistics on the Survivor's Clinical Factors and their use of Technology for

L	11	C
1.	11	υ

Variable (V) and categories	San	Sample		Use of technology for HIS					
	(N=4	484)	Did no	ot use technology	Used	d technology			
	п	%	п	% within V	п	% within V			
Diabetes									
No	344	71.1	52	15.1	292	84.9			
Yes	140	28.9	37	26.4	103	73.6			
High blood pressure									
No	196	40.6	26	13.3	170	86.7			
Yes	288	59.4	63	21.9	225	78.1			
Heart disease									
No	410	84.7	66	16.1	344	83.9			
Yes	74	15.3	23	31.1	51	68.9			
Lung disease									
No	416	86.0	76	18.3	340	81.7			
Yes	68	14.0	13	19.1	55	80.9			
Depression or anxiety									
No	382	78.9	73	19.1	309	80.9			
Yes	102	21.1	16	15.7	86	84.3			

RQ3 Unadjusted Logistic Regression Analyses

I conducted several logistic regression analyses to investigate the unadjusted relationship between the use of technology for HIS (the outcome of interest) and each predictor (age, sex, race, education, income, diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, depression or anxiety, and self-reported health status). Sex, race, lung disease, depression or anxiety, and self-reported health status were not significant predictors of the use of technology for HIS, p > .05 (Table 19). Age, education, income, diabetes, high blood pressure, and heart disease significantly predicted the use of technology for HIS, p < .05.

Table 19

Unadjusted Logistic Regression Analyses for Predicting Survivors' use of Technology for HIS Based on the Their Personal Factors

Predictors of the use of technology for HIS	β	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	Odds ratio	95% CI LL - UL
Sex						
Female (Reference)						
Male	-0.31	0.24	1.74	.187	0.73	0.46 - 1.16
Age						
Under 65 years (Reference)						
65-74 years	-1.10	0.37	8.82	.003	0.33	0.16 - 0.69
75 years or older	-2.17	0.36	36.60	<.001	0.11	0.06 - 0.23
Race						
Non-Hispanic White (Reference)						
Non-Hispanic Black or African	0.06	0.44	0.02	.886	1.07	0.45 - 2.51
American						
Hispanic and Others	1.15	0.53	4.65	.031	3.17	1.11 - 9.03
Education						
High school graduate or less (Refe	erence)					
Some college or vocational	1.05	0.30	12.00	.001	2.87	1.58 - 5.21

Predictors of the use of technology for HIS	β	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	Odds ratio	95% CI LL - UL
training						
Bachelor's degree	1.76	0.36	24.04	<.001	5.85	2.89 - 11.84
Post baccalaureate degree	1.83	0.38	23.56	<.001	6.25	2.98 - 13.08
Income						
under \$20,000 (Reference)						
\$20,000\$49,999	0.53	0.33	2.57	.109	1.71	0.89 - 3.29
\$50,000\$99,999	1.16	0.37	10.12	.001	3.20	1.56 - 6.55
\$100,000 or more	1.98	0.44	19.97	<.001	7.28	3.05 -17.40
Diabetes No (Reference)						
Yes	-0.70	0.24	8.29	.004	0.50	0.31 - 0.80
High blood pressure No (Reference)						
Yes	-0.61	0.25	5.66	.017	0.55	0.33 - 0.90
Heart disease No (Reference)						
Yes	-0.86	0.28	9.00	.003	0.43	0.24 - 0.74
Lung disease No (Reference)						
Yes	-0.06	0.33	0.03	.867	0.95	0.49 - 1.82
Depression or anxiety No (Reference)						
Yes	0.24	0.30	0.63	.429	1.27	0.70 - 2.29
Self-reported health status						
Less than good (Reference) Good or better	0.15	0.27	0.30	.583	1.16	0.68 - 1.99

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL= Lower limit; UL= Upper limit.

RQ3 Multiple Logistic Regression Analysis

I conducted a multiple logistic regression analysis to investigate the impact of survivors' sociodemographic (age, sex, race, education, and income) and clinical variables (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression or anxiety) on their use of technology for HIS (the outcome variable) while controlling for their self-reported health status. The model was significant, $\chi^2(N = 484, 17) = 101.78$, p < .05, and it explained 30.8% (Negelkerke R^2) of the variability in the use of technology for HIS. The model correctly classified 82.9% of the cases, and its accuracy was 95.7% for predicting the use and 25.8% for the nonuse of the use of technology for HIS (Table 20). There was no evidence of the lack of model fit based upon the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic of 5.95, p > .05.

Table 20

Adjusted Logistic Regression Analysis for Predicting the use of Technology for HIS

Predictors of the use of technology for HIS		S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds Ratio	95% CI LL - UL
Constant	1.01	0.60	2.79	1	.095	2.74	
Sex							
Female (Reference)							
Male	-0.35	0.28	1.54	1	.215	0.71	0.41 - 1.22
Age							
Under 65 years (Reference)							
65 - 74 years	-0.92	0.40	5.13	1	.024	0.40	0.18 - 0.88
75 years or older	-1.99	0.41	23.67	1	<.001	0.14	0.06 - 0.30
Race							
Non-Hispanic White (Reference)							
Non-Hispanic Black	0.08	0.50	0.03	1	.866	1.09	0.41 - 2.88
Hispanic and Others	0.91	0.61	2.24	1	.135	2.47	0.75 - 8.10
Education							
High school graduate or less (Reference))						
Some college or vocational training	1.05	0.35	9.07	1	.003	2.85	1.44 - 5.65
Bachelors' degree	1.62	0.42	14.66	1	<.001	5.05	2.20 - 11.56
Post baccalaureate degree	1.58	0.45	12.45	1	<.001	4.83	2.01 - 11.59
Income							
Under \$20,000 (Reference)							
\$20,000-\$49,999	0.85	0.40	4.48	1	.034	2.34	1.07 - 5.16
\$50,000-\$99,999	1.25	0.44	8.30	1	.004	3.51	1.49 - 8.23
\$100,000 or more	1.66	0.53	9.69	1	.002	5.28	1.85 - 15.04

Predictors of the use of technology for HIS	β	S.E.	Wald	df	<i>p</i> -value	Odds Ratio	95% CI LL - UL
Diabetes							
No (Reference) Yes	-0.50	0.30	2.80	1	.095	0.61	0.34 - 1.09
High blood pressure							
No (Reference) Yes	0.24	0.31	0.60	1	.438	1.27	0.69 - 2.35
Heart disease							
No (Reference) Yes	-0.44	0.34	1.63	1	.202	0.65	0.33 - 1.26
Lung disease							
Yes	-0.01	0.39	0.00	1	.971	0.99	0.46 - 2.11
Lung disease							
Yes	0.329	0.36	0.82	1	.365	1.39	0.68 - 2.83
Self-reported health status Less than good							
Good or better	-0.42	0.34	1.58	1	.209	0.65	0.34 - 1.27

Model's prediction capacity = 82.9% (95.7%: used technology, 25.8%: did not use technology).

Hosmer lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic = 5.951, *p*-value=.653

Note: CI = Confidence interval; LL= Lower limit; UL= Upper limit.

The adjusted analysis resulted in age, education, and income being significant contributors to the model for predicting the use of technology for HIS, p < .05. However, two sociodemographic variables (sex and race), all clinical variables (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, depression or anxiety), and self-reported health status were not significant contributors to the model, p > .05 (Table 20). Controlling for the self-reported health status, other sociodemographic and the clinical variables, the predictor variable (age) contributed significantly to the model (Table 20). Survivors 65 years or older had significantly lower odds of using technology for HIS than their counterparts under 65 years (p < .05). The odds of using technology for HIS for survivors aged 65-74 years were 0.40 times of those under 65 years (OR = 0.40; 95% CI = 0.18, 0.88), and for 75 years or older had 0.14 times of those under 65 years (OR = 0.14; 95% CI = 0.06, 0.30).

The predictor variable (education) had a significant and independent association with the use of technology for HIS (p < .05). The odds of using technology for HIS were 2.85 times with college education (OR = 2.85; 95% CI = 1.44, 5.65), 5.05 times with a bachelors' degree (OR = 5.05; 95% CI = 2.20, 11.56), and 4.83 times with a post-baccalaureate degree (OR = 4.83; 95% CI = 2.01, 11.59) as compared with those with high school or less education.

The predictor variable (income) was significantly and independently associated with and a significant predictor of the use of technology for HIS, p < .05 (Table 20). The estimated odds of survivors use of technology for HIS were 2.34 times higher with earnings of \$20,000-\$49,999 (OR = 2.34; 95% CI = 1.07, 5.16), 3.51 times with \$50,000-\$99,999 (OR = 3.51; 95% CI = 1.49, 8.23), and 5.28 times with \$100,000 or more (OR = 5.28; 95% CI = 1.85, 15.04) as compared to those earning under \$20,000 (Table 20).

There was no evidence of the violation of the assumptions of logistic regression per the lack of evidence of highly correlated predictors of the use of technology for HIS $(|\varphi| < .4)$ or the multicollinearity between them, VIF < 10 (Table 21).

Table 21

Variable	Relationship (phi, phi-c) between the variables ^(a)										
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	VIF
SRHS	0.06	0.05	0.07	0.13 *	0.09 *	0.15 *	0.08	0.19 *	0.16 *	0.13 *	1.10
1 Age	-	0.14 *	0.16 *	0.07	0.11 *	0.14 *	0.31 *	0.19 *	0.08	0.16 *	1.21
2 Sex	-	-	0.10	0.12	0.14 *	0.04	0.07	0.13 *	0.02	0.12 *	1.07
3 Race	-	-	-	0.09	0.11 *	0.09	0.08	0.06	0.01	0.06	1.08
4 ED	-	-	-	-	0.25 *	0.12	0.13 *	0.08	0.12	0.10	1.22
5 INC	-	-	-	-	-	0.14 *	0.12	0.06	0.13 *	0.22 *	1.30
6 Diabetes	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.28 *	0.19 *	0.03	0.01	1.14
7 High BP	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.17 *	0.04	0.01	1.19
8 Heart D	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.06 *	0.06	1.10
9 Lung D	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.17 *	1.05
10 Dep/ Anx	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.09

RQ3 Correlation Between the Predictors of the use of Technology for HIS

^a the column headers 1 - 10 correspond to the variables designated by the number in the variable column; * = p < .05, High BP = High blood pressure, SRHS = self-reported health status, INC = Income, Heart D = heart disese, Lung D = Lung disease, Dep/Anx = Depression or anxiety

Consequently, I rejected the null hypothesis in RQ3a with the evidence of a significant relationship between sociodemographic factors and use of technology for HIS, and I failed to reject the null hypothesis in RQ3b without the evidence of a significant relationship between clinical factors and the use of technology for HIS. However, statistically significant evidence against the null hypothesis in RQ3a served as evidence of a significant relationship between some of the survivors' characteristics and their use of technology for HIS.

Summary

I conducted multiple logistic regression to investigate the relationship between cancer survivor's use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy (in RQ1), positive HIS experiences (in RQ2), and personal factors (in RQ3) among cancer survivors who seek health information for themselves. I presented the results of each analysis, summarized the findings, and presented the conclusions. The results were not statistically significant for RQ1 and RQ2, in that I did not find evidence to suggest that using technology for HIS significantly predicted health-related self-efficacy (RQ1) or positive HIS experiences (RQ2) among cancer survivors who sought health information, after controlling for potential confounding variables. I found that sociodemographic factors, i.e., age, income, and education of the survivors who sought health information were significant independent predictors of their use of technology for HIS (RQ3). Clinical factors, such as diabetes and heart disease were not significantly associated with the use of technology for HIS (RQ3), however. In Section 4, I will interpret these findings, recommend future research, and provide social change implications of the findings.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to close the gaps in the scientific knowledge about the characteristics of cancer survivors who use technology for HIS, how it benefits their health-related self-efficacy, and how they feel about its use. I used the HINTS 5 Cycle 3 cross-sectional survey to measure the use of technology for HIS, health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, and the sociodemographic (age, sex, race, education, and income), and clinical (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression or anxiety) factors of the participating cancer survivors who sought health information. As described in Section 2, the HINTS surveyors used a stratified sampling design and surveyed nationally representative adults in the U.S. to ensure generalizability.

I conducted this study because cancer survivors face various health issues during their survivorship, and many of them use technology to seek health information for the self-management of their HRQOL, as discussed in Section 1. I used a correlational study design and conducted multiple regression analyses to examine the relationship between the survivors' use of technology HIS and their health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, and sociodemographic and clinical factors. The results, presented in Section 3, did not show a statistically significant influence of the survivors' use of technology for HIS on their health-related self-efficacy (OR = 0.91; 95% CI = 0.54, 1.54 p > .05, N = 581 [Table 11]) or the positive HIS experiences (OR = 1.15; 95% CI = 0.75, 1.79; p > .05, N = 543 [Table 15]). Several sociodemographic factors (i.e., age, education, and

income) significantly predicted use of technology for HIS, p < .05 (Table 20). However, the other two sociodemographic factors (sex and race), clinical characteristics (diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression or anxiety), and self-reported health status were not significant predictors of the use of technology for HIS (p > .05, N = 484 [Table 20]). In this section, I will interpret these findings within the self-efficacy theoretical framework, discuss the study's limitations, propose future research recommendations, and discuss the findings' social change implications.

Interpretation of the Findings

This study advanced an understanding of the technology for HIS and key goals of cancer survivorship self-management interventions. The current study confirmed that a high percentage of cancer survivors use technology for HIS ($80.2\% \pm 1.6\%$), and it is 20 to 40% higher than previously reported (Chua et al., 2018; Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020; Miyawaki et al., 2015; Mooney et al., 2017). Self-management interventions promote HIS behaviors to improve health literacy and self-efficacy (Grover & Joshi, 2015) in performing tasks such as taking good care of their health or finding health information. Per the self-efficacy theory, domain knowledge plays a role in the development of the domain-specific personal agency. As technology-based HIS enables access to external health information (i.e., knowledge), I conducted multiple logistic regression analyses to understand the influence of survivors' use of technology for HIS (i.e., accessing external knowledge source) on their health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences. I also conducted multiple logistic regression analyses to understand the impact of their sociodemographic and clinical factors (as the

affective and selective components of the Self-efficacy theory) on their use of the technology for HIS. In the first question, my goal was to understand the effects of the technology-based HIS on health-related self-efficacy, which is a key goal of health self-management interventions. In the second research question, I sought to understand the effects of the technology-based HIS on positive HIS experiences to reduce barriers to health self-management barriers. The third research question was designed to identify the current predictors of using technology for HIS to inform health promotion strategies based on the latest predictors of HIS behaviors.

Health-related self-efficacy

Concerning the first research question, I did not find a statistically significant relationship between the use of HIS-technology and health-related self-efficacy. Developing health agency (i.e., health-related self-efficacy), per the personal agency concept of the self-efficacy theory, requires the generation of new knowledge rather than just possessing (internally or externally) knowledge (Bandura, 1997). As such, survivors who prefer to rely on external sources for self-care might not experience any health agency gains. Therefore, the self-efficacy theory's cognitive process and personal-agency concept can explain the nonsignificant association between survivors' use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy. These findings also show that health literacy and health status, rather than the tool used to find health information, are essential considerations for health self-management interventions.

Consistent with past research, full or high self-reported health literacy and good or better self-reported health status (i.e., low or no morbidity burden) were significantly

and positively correlated with health-related self-efficacy (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2019). As the first to examine the impact of technology-based HIS on health-related self-efficacy among the cancer survivors who seek health information, this study contributed new knowledge about technology-based HIS to the body of scientific knowledge. As discussed in Section 2, the past studies examined: the acceptance and adoption of healthcare technology (Rahman et al., 2016); the impact of health-related self-efficacy on technology-based HIS (Miller et al., 2018); the impact of technologybased HIS on health (S. Jiang & Street, 2017), the adoption of healthy behaviors (Song et al., 2015), and improved patient-centered communications (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016) and patient engagement (McAllister et al., 2012); and, the impact of HIS behaviors on patient's health-related self-efficacy (Go & You, 2018). The current study enhanced the scientific understanding of HIS-mechanisms driving health-related self-efficacy and closed the same gap identified by Finney Rutten et al. (2016). The findings supported earlier research about health literacy being a significant positive predictor of healthrelated self-efficacy (Finney Rutten, Hesse, et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2019).

The negative relationship between technology-based HIS and health-related selfefficacy may be explained by many factors impeding cognitive storage or processing the information retrieved from the external sources. Many online health information sources lack patient-centered, accessible, and scientifically vetted health information (ACS, 2016; Cleveland Clinic, 2014), making it difficult to develop new knowledge (i.e., personal agency) from the searched information. Second, survivors may seek health information or support to cope with unmet health needs (e.g., unmet psychosocial needs, new or acute issues) to improve their HRQOL (Bouma et al., 2015; Willems et al., 2016), making it unnecessary to store information for future use if they can easily retrieve it next time. The convenience of anytime access to the external knowledge may reduce demand for the cognitive processes involved in developing the personal agency just as scanning information was negatively associated with health knowledge (Wigfall & Friedman (2016). Moreover, many searched HIS to improve their communications with their healthcare providers as many reported using it to close information gaps for treatment decisions, self-diagnosis, second opinions, acceptance of the diagnosis, and selfempowerment for provider communications (Holmes et al., 2017; Mayoh et al., 2011; Zucco et al., 2018). In such cases, technology-based HIS might impact the survivors' health literacy (for navigating their healthcare decisions) rather than self-care ability to control cancer or HRQOL without engaging healthcare professionals' support. Technology as an enabler of control over what to learn and when (Go & You, 2018), the HIS for purposes other than developing personal agency may not substantially change the person's health-related self-efficacy. Therefore, although not significant, it is noteworthy that the negative effects of technology-based HIS on health-related self-efficacy still have a practical significance, given the high percentage of survivors seeking health information (82.2%, Figure 1 in Section 3) and most of them (80.2%) used technology for HIS (Table 9).

The high prevalence of technology-based HIS, despite low health-related selfefficacy, may be explained by the fact that any HIS technology is a tool for accessing external knowledge rather than internal knowledge. Given self-efficacy is situation-, task-, and domain-specific (Bandura, 1997), survivors would need new information for new health issues. Given the ubiquity of online health information sources (Ernst, 2015), some survivors might also opt to rely on external information sources rather than develop internal knowledge.

As observed in nonhealthcare domains, consumers' technology use and adoption tend to be driven by its relative advantage in performing procedural tasks, convenience, complexity, and the immediate rather than future gratification from its use (Charness & Boot, 2015; Pantano & Priporas, 2016; Sun et al., 2013). The wide adoption of Global Positioning Systems (GPS) can be attributed to the ease of use and efficiency of the GPSbased systems in the immediate gratification in addressing real problems such as finding a vehicle or key location, automatic re-routing for missing a planned exit versus getting lost with paper maps (Ciccarellia et al., 2011) or finding wandering clients (pets, persons with cognitive impairments) using the alternative methods (Wherton et al., 2019). Patients also use technology for HIS to find better health information from online sources to address their dissatisfaction with healthcare providers' health communications (Holmes et al., 2017; Tan & Goonawardene, 2017; Tustin, 2010). However, users without confidence in their ability to do the task (e.g., calculate, graph) and without mental engagement with the tool's output (e.g., calculations, health information) may not recognize errors or limitations of the technology (McCulloch et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2007). A reliance on technology rather than mental knowledge can impair cognitive function for lacking demand and activation of the neuronal processes involved in the cognitive processing of the information in the persons' memory (Gruber et al., 2001).

Therefore, the use of convenient and easy to use technology to access the health information resources can reduce the demand for internal knowledge and cognitive processes for developing the agency needed for health-related self-efficacy among survivors who do not mentally engage with the searched content.

Positive HIS experiences

The multiple regression analysis did not result in a statistically significant relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences, which indicated that general-purpose HIS technologies for searching online health information might be insufficient for attaining positive HIS experiences. Moreover, the high prevalence of negative HIS experiences among the survivors with lower education, lower-income, less than good health status, and low or no health literacy, and some of the minority racial/ethnic subgroups (Table 13) indicate potential inequities in the HIS access, and it also shows the untapped potential for improving survivorship HRQOL.

These findings extended the body of knowledge about the relationship between technology-based HIS and HIS experiences. The current study added new information to the scientific body of knowledge on the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and positive HIS experiences and the confounders (self-reported health literacy and self-reported health status). The study findings support prior research about a high prevalence (i.e., over 30%) of negative HIS experiences among cancer survivors (Bernat et al., 2016; Vanderpool et al., 2009; Wigfall & Friedman, 2016). These findings serve as the first step towards closing the literature gaps identified by Jiang and Liu (2020), Waters et al. (2016), and Germeni et al. (2015) on the understanding of the technology-

based HIS experiences to inform cancer survivorship interventions. Although clinical trials demonstrated the benefits of technology (e.g., mobile apps, short text messages, emails) in improving patients' access to health information (Greenberg et al., 2018; Y. Jiang et al., 2017; Rico et al., 2017), the current study did not provide any statistically significant evidence of those benefits with the use of a general-purpose technology for health information search. The approximately equal proportion of survivors experiencing negative or positive HIS experiences with and without technology-based HIS (Table 13) indicate there may be survivorship information gaps in the health information sources (healthcare, family, print media, and online sources). Patients who lack access to survivorship care plans (SCP) for health self-management would be at a disadvantage in managing their health. Long-term survivors (i.e., five or more years) such as the adult survivors of childhood cancers or those without healthcare access have consistently lacked access to comprehensive SCPs (Birken et al., 2018; Iyer et al., 2017). Even 40% to 75% of cancer survivors who received cancer-related health information from their healthcare providers had difficulty accessing the information for health-related decisions and action (Hall et al., 2018; Hébert & Fillion, 2017; McGinty et al., 2016; Pongthavornkamol et al., 2019; Vogel et al., 2017). The past research suggests that a lack of health information may be an underlying reason for such a high prevalence of negative, rather than positive, HIS experiences among the survivors who seek health information with and without HIS-technology use.

A higher prevalence of negative HIS experiences without using HIS technology (46.0%) than with it (42.2%) further indicates potential gaps in health information

availability. The study confirms the high prevalence of negative HIS experiences (43.0%)in the past, including in 2016 (McCloud et al., 2016) and (42.6%) 2009 research (Vanderpool et al., 2009). These indicate no or little improvement in the survivors' HIS experiences in the past 10 years. The findings indicate disparities in the positive HIS experiences for some survivors (75 years or older, non-Hispanic Asians and Others race, earning \$20,000-\$49,999, high school or less education). A small percentage of non-Hispanic Asians and those of other races included in this category having positive HIS experiences (37% [Table 13]), even though nearly all of them used technology for HIS (96.3%), may indicate disparities in the health information or the access to health information. More non-Hispanic Asians using technology for HIS than non-Hispanic Whites and health information disparities were also reported by Nguyen and Bellamy (2006). Given HIS behavior is a significant mediator of health self-efficacy (Y. Chen & Feeley, 2014), these disparities in the positive HIS experiences may negatively influence their access to health information and, consequently, their health-related self-efficacy. These specific factors might confound the potential of these factors to influence their positive HIS experiences.

The nonsignificant relationship and the persistently high prevalence of negative HIS experiences may be due to the factors such as the HIS skills, practice, computer skills (McCloud et al., 2016), or the assumptions described in Section 1 such as device features and HIS-related environmental factors. As survivors expect some value (affective reason) for the effort put into the HIS activity (Bandura, 1997), survivors searching readily available information in multiple modes (health-related web, social
media, or videos) might encounter less effort or frustration than those searching for rare or previously unreported side-effects or a combination of health issues. Survivors with early stage-diagnosis of treatable cancers might have different unmet health information needs than those diagnosed with secondary or second cancers. Survivors aiming to get targeted search results to their needs may become frustrated with non-targeted search results. Nonetheless, negative HIS experiences (in terms of effort and information overload), with any HIS means, could discourage further HIS or switch to better or alternative HIS means (McCloud et al., 2016). Survivors with perpetuating negative HIS experiences may form fatalistic beliefs for attaining a satisfactory HRQOL.

Use of Technology for HIS

To study the third research question, I ran multiple logistic regression to predict HIS technology use based on the survivors' sociodemographic and clinical factors and their self-reported health status. The highly prevalent (\geq 80%) use of technology for HIS among survivors of any sex, self-reported health status, age under 75 years, racial/ethnic group, with college or higher education, and income of \$50,000 or more (Table 17) indicates ubiquity of the HIS technology in the US. Fewer (60% ± 5%) low socioeconomic persons (high school or less education and earning under \$20,000) using technology for HIS is consistent with prior research attributing disparities in the digital divide to the survivors' socioeconomic status, internet skills, preferred HIS source, or their trust in online versus other HIS sources (Jacobs et al., 2017; Nicolaije et al., 2016; Wigfall & Friedman, 2016). These findings suggest that low socioeconomic survivors may be at a disadvantage in accessing online health information sources.

The analysis showed that three sociodemographic factors (age, education, and income) significantly and independently predicted using technology for HIS (Table 20). Technology use for HIS was not significantly different, p > .05, for sex, race, self-reported health status, or clinical diagnosis of diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, lung disease, and depression/anxiety; as such, these factors did not significantly predict the use of technology for HIS. These findings indicate that after controlling for survivors' health, their sociodemographic factors remain predictors of HIS behaviors and that the increased burden of cancer comorbidities has little impact on technology use for HIS among the cancer survivors in the US.

Consistent with past research, age, education, and income were correlated with higher technology-based HIS behaviors (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018). The results indicated that younger age (under 65 years than 65 years or older), higher education (with a college or higher education than with a high school or less), and higher-income (earning \$20,000 or higher income than earning less) were significantly associated with higher use of technology for HIS. Although race, sex, self-reported health status as significant predictors of online HIS among the general U.S. adult population (J. Li et al., 2016), those linkages were not evident among the U.S. cancer survivors in the current study. The significant linkage between self-reported health status and online HIS among the general U.S. population in 2012 (J. Li et al., 2016) was not confirmed among the cancer survivors in the current study.

The findings confirm prior research on younger age being significantly correlated with technology-based HIS (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017)

and extended the meaning of "younger age" in the past research (under 40 years) and the current study (under 65 years). The past findings based on the pre-2014 data showed a higher prevalence of technology-based HIS among those under 40 years than over 40 years (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Shneyderman et al., 2016), while the current study showed no substantial differences among those under 65 years. Instead, a similarly high prevalence of technology-based HIS (95% \pm 2%) between those under 50 (95.1%) and 50 to 64 years (93.4%) can be explained by the rapid rise in mobile-device ownership across age groups (Pew Research Center, 2019), the increased material access to internet infrastructure and connectivity (Greenberg et al., 2018; S. Jiang & Liu, 2020), and those representing the under 40 years age group in the pre-2014 research now reaching the 50-64 age group. The differences in the technology-based HIS may be influenced by healthcare access to Americans 65 years or older. Prior research indicated that older adults in this age group preferred and trusted their healthcare providers rather than online sources (Jacobs et al., 2017). Nonetheless, over 80% of the 65 to 74 year and 63% of the 75 years or older using technology for HIS (Table 17) indicate that most older survivors seek HIS from online sources.

Consistent with prior knowledge, higher education and higher income were significantly associated with higher odds of technology-based HIS (Jacobs et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018), and consequently, the negative effects of their inverse on survivors' access to health information. Survivors without healthcare access, such as adult survivors of childhood cancers, who do not use HIS technology would lack access to online health resources. The study supported prior research of no significant correlation between race/ethnicity and technology-based HIS (Dean et al., 2017; Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2017; Kobayashi & Smith, 2016; Rooks et al., 2019). These findings can be explained by the fact that most (about 80% or more) Americans across racial/ethnic background own smartphone (Pew Research Center, 2019), as supported by 80% of the survivors in each racial group in the study used technology for HIS (Table 17). Among the general U.S. population between 2002 and 2012, Li et al. (2016) found race/ethnicity to be a significant predictor of online HIS. A cancer diagnosis may be a significant predictor of technology-based HIS than other clinical factors, given that over 80% of the survivors used technology for HIS.

Consistent with some prior research, sex was not significant predictor of technology-based HIS (Finney Rutten, Agunwamba, et al., 2016; Kobayashi & Smith, 2016). However, these findings were inconsistent among the young survivors aged under 35 (Jacobs et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2018). Among these young adults, Miller et al. (2018) found females were more likely than males to use technology, and Jacobs et al. (2017) found significant linkage only in 2014 than the earlier 2011 to 2013 population samples. Since Jacobs et al. (2017) studied the HIS behaviors among all U.S. adults, rather than the cancer survivors, the current study extended the existing knowledge that the differences in the HIS behaviors by sex found in the general U.S. adult population may not apply to the cancer survivors in the U.S. It warrants further investigation on the HIS behaviors by sex among the young adults (under 35 years) versus older adults (under 65 years).

Limitations of the Study

Due to the cross-sectional study design, the results cannot infer any causal links between the predictor and predicted variables. The current study is generalizable to adult U.S. cancer survivors who seek health information under similar contexts. The small number of participants in the younger age, such as under 50 years and minority racial/ethnic groups such as Asians and American Indians limits the generalizability of the subpopulation groups' findings. Moreover, HIS experiences can be measured along with any combination of the four dimensions, as described in Section 2, rather than the just two dimensions (effort and frustration) used to operationalize positive HIS experiences in the current study. Therefore, the generalizability of the findings is limited to the effort and frustration dimensions only.

Per the Self-efficacy theory, survivors' HIS-related agency (HIS skills and practice) and health-related agency (health knowledge and practice) predict both HIS experiences (e.g., reduced effort or frustration with HIS agency) and health-related self-efficacy (retrieval and interpretation of the most relevant information) to manage the unmet health issue. The significantly higher odds of HIS frustration among persons without a medical problem than with a medical condition (McCloud et al., 2016) suggest that persons with medical problems might have different levels of effort expectation or search vocabulary for better search experience. However, I did not consider survivors' HIS skills, HIS frequency and duration, the HIS motivation (e.g., prevention, treatment, or control decision), survivor's health (e.g., cancer stage, recurrence factors), treatment context (during or post-treatment), the HIS environment (e.g., devices or connectivity),

or the context (e.g., health insurance). Therefore, the findings of the relationship between the use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences may not be generalizable to survivors with varying levels of HIS agency, health agency, or HIS context. Instead, the findings are generalizable to cancer survivors in the U.S. who seek health information within the study design parameters.

Except for the above-noted limitations, the findings are reliable and generalizable for the lack of evidence of threats to internal or external validity. As discussed in Section 2, the results are based on the data source, study instrument, and data collection design widely accepted and used by scientists for peer-reviewed scientific literature. The analysis models had a predictive accuracy of 90.8% for full or high health-related self-efficacy (Table 11), 82.3% for positive HIS experiences (Table 15), and 95.7% for using technology for HIS (Table 20). This study can be repeated for dependability and confirmability by using the design discussed in Section 2 and performing the multiple logistic regression analysis on the 2019 HINTS 5 Cycle 3 data described in Section 3.

Recommendations

Although the current study advanced knowledge about how survivors use technology for HIS, how they benefit from it, and how they feel about it, many questions remain unanswered. More studies are needed to fully assess how best to integrate HIS technology for effective cancer survivorship interventions and remove diverse groups' barriers to health information. Due to the small number of minority participants in the current study, future studies may be focused on minority U.S. subpopulations such as American Indians/Native Americans, Pacific Islanders, and Asians. Other studies may test the hypotheses in dissimilar healthcare and sociopolitical contexts.

Just as the current study confirmed that external knowledge searched via a tool did not significantly impact survivors' health agencies, future research can examine the impact of accessing external health knowledge on health literacy, given health literacy is a significant predictor of health-related self-efficacy. Understanding the association between technology-based HIS and health literacy can provide meaningful insights for addressing cancer survivors' unmet health information needs.

Future studies can expand the contribution of the current study on the association between technology-based HIS and positive HIS experiences by examining survivors' HIS motivation (e.g., prevention, control, coping, saving money or time), HIS skills, and cancer experience (e.g., early-stage, late-stage, during or post-treatment) to better understand their barriers to health information and informing effective and targeted survivorship interventions.

Future studies can expand the current finding of HIS experiences from different sources. There are many public and nonprofit cancer-related health information and education resources such as the nonprofit organizations (e.g., ACS, American Lung Association [ALA]) and public health agencies (e.g., NCI), with a mission to improve patient lives (ACS, 2016; ALA, n.d.; Cleveland Clinic, 2014) as well as healthcare providers and other private health information sources. Understanding the positive or negative impact of the HIS from and use of the health information from those different sources (e.g., public, healthcare, academic, and non-regulated distributors of health

information) on survivors' HIS experiences and health outcomes can provide further insights on the information or implementation gaps in survivorship interventions. For instance, understanding the relationship between using technology for HIS and pubic online health information such as the CDC, NCI, and virtual support groups on physical and psychosocial health outcomes following the HIS activity can help health educators develop effective communication strategies to improve self-care survivorship interventions.

Considering past research on the perceived usefulness of HIS technology and health consciousness (motivated and seeking benefits) for health action (Zhang et al., 2019), understanding the impact of the HIS with and without technology on their knowledge, expected, and actual health outcomes could provide insights into the specific improvements in cancer survivorship interventions.

Given that lower-income and lower-educational attainment are also among the predictors of lower health healthcare access (Barber et al., 2017; Johnson et al., 2020), health-related self-efficacy and self-management (Farley, 2020), future research is recommended to understand the lower socioeconomic survivors' barriers to technology-based HIS among, given the anytime and anywhere availability of the public online health information sources.

Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change

The findings may improve cancer survivorship interventions and survivors' barriers to attaining a satisfactory HRQOL. As a new study, the study documented survivors' self-efficacy outcomes using HIS technology to self-manage their HRQOL.

The evidence against the significant impact of the technology on health-related selfefficacy or positive HIS experiences and the high prevalence of negative HIS experiences among cancer survivors documented the gaps in the US's self-management survivorship interventions. Addressing survivor unmet health information needs to self-manage the negative treatment effects on physical, mental, and emotional health and the associated degraded HRQOL (Arndt et al., 2017; Faller et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2018; Hébert & Fillion, 2017; Lindqvist et al., 2017; Loeb et al., 2010; Pongthavornkamol et al., 2019; van Leeuwen et al., 2018; Vogel et al., 2017; Voss et al., 2015). The findings also showed that many survivors with negative HIS experiences could not find health information resources despite the many reliable online health information sources for cancer interventions. These findings have practically significant implications on the development and promotion of cancer survivorship self-management interventions.

Professional Practice

The absence of a statistically significant relationship between the use of technology for HIS and health-related self-efficacy and positive HIS experiences implies the need to improve online health information, the searchability, and the accessibility of online health information. Given the ubiquity of the online health information sources, HIS technology, and the survivors' growing demand for health information, public health communicators must consider online sources in availing personalized health information needed by the diverse survivors in the US.

While technology-based HIS may not significantly impact health-related selfefficacy, a technology designed specifically to support health-information seeking may help survivors self-manage specific health issues for a better HRQOL. Consumers tend to use technology for immediate gratification (Lee & Ma, 2012). Recognizing online information sources can be availed to anyone with HIS technologies, HIS technology has the potential to transform self-management interventions and removing survivor's barriers to health information if it can provide the immediate gratification consumers seek from the use of any tool. Otherwise, consumers will replace any tool which fails to deliver the desired outcomes within expectations. Widely adopted technologies (e.g., interactive maps and trip planning, glucose meters) rely on quality information (e.g., up-to-date maps and user location, highly sensitive glucose readings), intuitively easy to use user interface, and immediate results. Therefore, any health promotion and self-management strategies that depend on general-purpose HIS technologies would benefit from ensuring accuracy, relevancy, and accessibility of the agency's multimorbidity health information. The current study's findings support integrating purposeful, rather than general-purpose, HIS technology for providing targeted health information for improving survivorship HRQOL outcomes (Allsop et al., 2018; Davis et al., 2019; Hochstenbach et al., 2015; Howell et al., 2019). Purposeful HIS-technology (e.g., a publicly available health browser) that produces targeted results for the need and overcomes any search environment-related issues (e.g., browser tracking, content prioritizing content based on the commercial rather than seeker's need) might reduce survivors' barriers to positive outcomes in the desired health goal. Therefore, investing in targeted HIS technologies, void of commercial conflicts of interest, can help reduce disparities in disadvantaged

survivors' (such as those with inadequate health insurance, e.g., uninsured and underinsured) access to health information for attaining a satisfactory HRQOL.

Recognizing the high prevalence of the technology-based HIS even among cancer survivors aged 65 years or older, health practitioners need to consider developing health infrastructure to serve personalized health information to improve the survivors' HIS experiences and their ability to search for health information. Interactive and publicly managed health information infrastructure and resources can help survivors attain a satisfactory HRQOL using tools already available to them without burdening the healthcare system.

The findings of lower age and higher education and higher income having higher odds of technology-based HIS served as evidence that sociodemographic factors impact health information distribution and, consequently, equities in health benefits. Therefore, survivorship program planners should continue to include sociodemographic factors in planning, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating the survivorship interventions. Similarly, policymakers and program managers should address gaps in their programming to reduce disparities and improve disadvantaged subpopulations' access to health information.

Positive Social Change

The study's positive social change implications include contributing new scientific evidence on HIS technology's impact on self-management public health programs' key goals. The study findings provide unique insights into the relationship between the survivors' use of technology for HIS and its impact on their health-related self-efficacy, HIS experiences, and sociodemographic and clinical factors. Public health professionals can use the findings and insights on these factors to inform effective survivorship education, health promotion, research, and interventions. The insights about the potential negative impacts of the technology-based HIS on health-related self-efficacy can be used to guide the key goals and measures of success of cancer survivorship interventions. Similarly, public health professionals can use the information about little-to-no improvement in survivors' HIS experiences in the past ten years to prioritize the public or private policy to promote the health information' searchability and accessibility to reduce survivors' access barriers to health information. Public health professionals can also use the findings of sociodemographic factors, after controlling for health and clinical factors, continue to be predictors of HIS behaviors to inform public policy to address disparities in the digital divide in access to online health information sources.

Conclusion

In this quantitative correlational study using the 2019 HINTS cross-sectional dataset, I examined the relationship between survivors' use of technology for HIS and their health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, and sociodemographic and clinical factors. Most survivors across sociodemographic and clinical groups used technology for HIS. Its use varied by comorbidity, and its use was higher among survivors with than without depression or anxiety and among those without than with diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, and lung disease. Survivors' use of technology for HIS was significantly influenced by their age, income, and education but no other study factors. Their use of technology for HIS was not significantly related to

their health-related self-efficacy, positive HIS experiences, sex, race, self-reported health status, and clinical factors.

Despite the substantial advances in scientific knowledge and the availability and affordability of the HIS technology in the US, the study revealed that HIS technology's potential in reducing the disease burden on healthcare and public health resources is yet to be realized. Therefore, further research is required to fully assess how best to integrate HIS technology in survivorship interventions to help survivors address their unmet health information needs, to reduce the disparities and barriers to health information for the selfmanagement of their HRQOL. The lower odds of technology-based HIS among the low socioeconomic survivors compared with their higher socioeconomic counterparts confirmed disparities in survivors' access to online health information sources. However, technology being used by most of the survivors indicated that public health professionals must address any underlying health information and accessibility gaps to realize the potential of the HIS technology for improving underscore the need to focus cancer survivorship on searchable and accessible content to remove access barriers to online health information sources. The high prevalence of negative HIS experiences indicated potential gaps in searchability and accessibility of targeted health information for survivors' needs. Future research is necessary to understand and close any gaps in the online health information and how HIS technology nay be used in facilitating search and access to online health information for helping survivors attain their health goals.

References

Abraham, O., Pu, J., Schleiden, L. J., & Albert, S. M. (2017). Factors contributing to poor satisfaction with sleep and healthcare seeking behavior in older adults. *Sleep Health*, 3(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.004

Abubakari, A.-R., Cousins, R., Thomas, C., Sharma, D., & Naderali, E. K. (2016). Sociodemographic and clinical predictors of self-management among people with poorly controlled type 1 and type 2 diabetes: The role of illness perceptions and selfefficacy. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016, Article 6708164. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6708164

Alfano, C. M., Jefford, M., Maher, J., Birken, S. A., & Mayer, D. K. (2019). Building personalized cancer follow-up care pathways in the United States: Lessons learned from implementation in England, Northern Ireland, and Australia. *American Society* of Clinical Oncology Educational Book, 39, 625–639.

https://doi.org/10.1200/edbk_238267

- Allison, P. D. (1999). Multicollinearity. In *Multiple regression: A primer* (pp. 137–152).Pine Forge Press / Sage Publications.
- Allsop, M. J., Wright-Hughes, A., Black, K., Hartley, S., Fletcher, M., Ziegler, L. E., Bewick, B. M., Meads, D., Hughes, N. D., Closs, S. J., Hulme, C., Taylor, S., Flemming, K., Hackett, J., O'Dwyer, J. L., Brown, J. M., & Bennett, M. I. (2018). Improving the management of pain from advanced cancer in the community: Study protocol for a pragmatic multicentre randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021965

- American Cancer Society. (2016). *Cancer information on the internet*. American Cancer Society. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-basics/cancer-information-on-the-internet.html
- American Lung Association. (n.d.). *Mission, impact & history*. Retrieved March 22, 2020, from https://www.lung.org/about-us/mission-impact-and-history/
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2020, May 7). Providing telehealth services under Medicare during the COVID-19 pandemic. Asha.Org. https://www.asha.org/Practice/reimbursement/medicare/Providing-Telehealth-Services-Under-Medicare-During-the-COVID-19-Pandemic/
- Amuta, A. O., Chen, X., & Mkuu, R. (2017). The effect of cancer information seeking on perceptions of cancer risks, fatalism, and worry Among a U.S. national sample. *American Journal of Health Education*, 48(6), 366–373.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2017.1358119
- Andreotti, C., Root, J. C., Ahles, T. A., McEwen, B. S., & Compas, B. E. (2015). Cancer, coping, and cognition: A model for the role of stress reactivity in cancer-related cognitive decline. *Psycho-Oncology*, 24(6), 617–623. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3683

Arndt, V., Koch-Gallenkamp, L., Jansen, L., Bertram, H., Eberle, A., Holleczek, B., Schmid-Höpfner, S., Waldmann, A., Zeissig, S. R., & Brenner, H. (2017). Quality of life in long-term and very long-term cancer survivors versus population controls in Germany. *Acta Oncologica*, 56(2), 190–197.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2016.1266089

- Arnold, C., Rademaker, A., Liu, D., & Davis, T. (2017). Changes in colorectal cancer screening knowledge, behavior, beliefs, self-efficacy, and barriers among community health clinic patients after a health literacy intervention. *Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education*, 07(01), 1–8.
 https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0711.1000497
- Arora, N. K., Hesse, B. W., Rimer, B. K., Viswanath, K., Clayman, M. L., & Croyle, R. T. (2008). Frustrated and confused: The American public rates its cancer-related information-seeking experiences. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *23*(3), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-007-0406-y
- Ashrafi-Rizi, Z. G.-K. H., Mokarian, F., & Afshar, M. (2018). Health information seeking behavior of female breast cancer patients. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 7(138), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp
- Awick, E. A., Phillips, S. M., Lloyd, G. R., & McAuley, E. (2017). Physical activity, self-efficacy and self-esteem in breast cancer survivors: a panel model. *Psycho-Oncology*, 26(10), 1625–1631. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4180
- Bachmann, J. M., Goggins, K. M., Nwosu, S. K., Schildcrout, J. S., Kripalani, S., & Wallston, K. A. (2016). Perceived health competence predicts health behavior and health-related quality of life in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 99(12), 2071–2079.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.020

Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In *Encyclopedia of Human Behavior* (Vol. 4, pp. 71–81). Academic Press. https://www.uky.edu/~eushe2/Bandura/Bandura1994EHB.pdf

- Bandura, A. (1997). The nature and structure of self-efficacy. In *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control* (10th ed., pp. 36–61). W.H. Freemand and Company.
- Bangerter, L. R., Griffin, J., Harden, K., & Rutten, L. J. (2019). Health information– seeking behaviors of family caregivers: Analysis of the health information national trends survey. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 2(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2196/11237
- Barber, R., Fullman, N., Sorensen, R. J. D., Bollyky, T., McKee, M., Nolte, E., Abajobir, A. A., Abate, K. H., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdulle, A. M., Abdurahman, A. A., Abera, S. F., Abraham, B., Abreha, G. F., Adane, K., Adelekan, A. L., Adetifa, I. M. O., ... GBD 2015 Healthcare Access and Quality Collaborators. (2017). Healthcare Access and Quality Index based on mortality from causes amenable to personal health care in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2015: a novel analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet (London, England)*, *390*(10091), 231–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30818-8
- Bernat, J. K., Skolarus, T. A., Hawley, S. T., Haggstrom, D. A., Darwish-Yassine, M., & Wittmann, D. A. (2016). Negative information-seeking experiences of long-term prostate cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *10*(6), 1089–1095. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-016-0552-5

Bhuyan, S. S., Lu, N., Chandak, A., Kim, H., Wyant, D., Bhatt, J., Kedia, S., & Chang,
C. F. (2016). Use of mobile health applications for health-seeking behavior among
US adults. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 40(153), 1–8.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0492-7

- Bigsby, E., & Hovick, S. R. (2018). Understanding associations between information seeking and scanning and health risk behaviors: An early test of the structural influence model. *Health Communication*, *33*(3), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1266575
- Birken, S. A., Clary, A. S., Bernstein, S., Bolton, J., Tardif-Douglin, M., Mayer, D. K.,
 Deal, A. M., & Jacobs, S. R. (2018). Strategies for Successful Survivorship Care
 Plan Implementation: Results From a Qualitative Study. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 14(8), e462–e483. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.17.00054
- Blanch-Hartigan, D., Chawla, N., Moser, R. P., Finney Rutten, L. J., Hesse, B. W., & Arora, N. K. (2016). Trends in cancer survivors' experience of patient-centered communication: results from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *10*(6), 1067–1077. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-016-0550-7
- Bluethmann, S. M., Mariotto, A. B., & Rowland, J. H. (2016). Anticipating the "silver tsunami": Prevalence trajectories and comorbidity burden among older cancer survivors in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*, 25(7), 1029–1036. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0133
- Bouma, G., Admiraal, J. M., de Vries, E. G. E., Schröder, C. P., Walenkamp, A. M. E., & Reyners, A. K. L. (2015). Internet-based support programs to alleviate psychosocial and physical symptoms in cancer patients: A literature analysis. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 95(1), 26–37.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.01.011

- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design* (First). Laureate Publishing, Inc.
- Bustillo, N. E., McGinty, H. L., Dahn, J. R., Yanez, B., Antoni, M. H., Kava, B. R., &
 Penedo, F. J. (2017). Fatalism, medical mistrust, and pretreatment health-related
 quality of life in ethnically diverse prostate cancer patients. *Psycho-Oncology*, 26(3),
 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4030
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Cancer statistics data visualizations tool, based on 2019 submission data (1999-2017) [Online tool]*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute. https://gis.cdc.gov/cancer/USCS/DataViz.html

Chan, Y. M. (2013). Consumer health information seeking behaviors in the library: An analysis of the health information national trends analysis survey 2007 (HINTS). *Academic Research International*, 4(4).

www.journals.savap.org.pkwww.savap.org.pk

- Charness, N., & Boot, W. R. (2015). Technology, gaming, and social networking. In Handbook of the Psychology of Aging: Eighth Edition (pp. 389–407). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-411469-2.00020-0
- Chen, H., Cohen, P., & Chen, S. (2010). How big is a big odds ratio? Interpreting the magnitudes of odds ratios in epidemiological studies. *Communications in Statistics: Simulation and Computation*, *39*(4), 860–864. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610911003650383

Chen, Y., & Feeley, T. H. (2014). Numeracy, Information Seeking, and Self-Efficacy in

Managing Health: An Analysis Using the 2007 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). *Health Communication*, *29*, 843–853. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2013.807904

Chua, G. P., Tan, H. K., & Gandhi, M. (2018). Information sources and online information seeking behaviours of cancer patients in Singapore. *Ecancermedicalscience*, 12(880). https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2018.880

Chuang, S. C., Cheng, Y. H., Chang, C. J., & Chiang, Y. T. (2013). The impact of selfconfidence on the compromise effect. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(4), 660–675. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2012.666553

Ciccarellia, D., Colornib, A., Luéab, A., Nocerinoa, R., Paruscioa, V., Poliedra,
INDACO, Milano, P. di, & Directions, F. (2011). Green move: setting up of a
procedure to design and evaluate a ZEV sharing system for the city of Milan. In *Shaping climate friendly transport in Europe: Key findnigs and future directions*.
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Dragan_Cisic/publication/284162687_Shaping
_Climate_Friendly_Transport_in_Europe_Key_Findings_and_Future_Directions__REACT_2001_-_proceedings/links/564ce3cd08aeafc2aaaf98f9/Shaping-ClimateFriendly-Transport-in-Europe-

Clauser, S. B., Wagner, E. H., Aiello Bowles, E. J., Tuzzio, L., & Greene, S. M. (2011). Improving modern cancer care through information technology. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 40(5 SUPPL. 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.01.014

Cleveland Clinic. (2014, February 12). Finding cancer information online.

https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/articles/9054-breast-cancer--the-internet

- Cohen, Z. D., & Derubeis, R. J. (2018). Cognitive effects of cancer and cancer treatments. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology Treatment, 14, 209–245. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817
- Davis, S. N., O'Malley, D. M., Bator, A., Ohman-Strickland, P., Clemow, L., Ferrante, J. M., Crabtree, B. F., Miller, S. M., Findley, P., & Hudson, S. V. (2019). Rationale and design of extended cancer education for longer term survivors (EXCELS): A randomized control trial of "high touch" vs. "high tech" cancer survivorship self-management tools in primary care. *BMC Cancer*, *19*(340), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-5531-6
- Dean, C. A., Geneus, C. J., Rice, S., Johns, M., Quasie-Woode, D., Broom, K., & Elder, K. (2017). Assessing the significance of health information seeking in chronic condition management. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *100*(8), 1519–1526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.03.012
- Dehghani, M., Mirzaie, M., Farhadi, P., & Rezvani, A. (2020). The effect of ACE inhibitor on the quality of life amongst patients with cancer cachexia. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 21(2), 325–330. https://doi.org/10.31557/APJCP.2020.21.2.325

Demiris, G., Washington, K., Ulrich, C. M., Popescu, M., & Oliver, D. P. (2019). Innovative tools to support family caregivers of persons with cancer: The role of information technology. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 35(2019), 384–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2019.06.013

- Demoor-Goldschmidt, C., & De Vathaire, F. (2019). Review of risk factors of secondary cancers among cancer survivors. *British Journal of Radiology*, 92(1093), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1259/bjr.20180390
- Domínguez, M., & Sapiña, L. (2017). "Others Like Me". An Approach to the use of the internet and social networks in adolescents and young adults diagnosed with cancer. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 32(4), 885–891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-016-1055-9
- Drost, E. (2011). Validity and reliability in social science research. *Educational Research and Perspective*, *38*(1), 105–123.
- Eilander, M. M. A., De Wit, M., Rotteveel, J., & Snoek, F. J. (2016). Low selfconfidence and diabetes mismanagement in youth with type 1 diabetes mediate the relationship between behavioral problems and elevated HbA1c. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016(3159103). https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3159103
- Emanuel, A. S., Godinho, C. A., Steinman, C., & Updegraff, J. A. (2018). Education differences in cancer fatalism: The role of information-seeking experiences. *Journal* of Health Psychology, 23(12), 1533–1544.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105316664129

- Ernst, F. A. (2015). Speaking of health: Assessing health communication, strategies for diverse populations. In *Speaking of Health* (Vol. 97, Issue 6). National Academies Press (US). https://doi.org/10.17226/10018
- Evans, M., Shaw, A., Thompson, E. A., Falk, S., Turton, P., Thompson, T., & Sharp, D. (2007). Decisions to use complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) by male

cancer patients: Information-seeking roles and types of evidence used. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-7-25

- Faller, H., Brähler, E., Härter, M., Keller, M., Schulz, H., Wegscheider, K., Weis, J.,
 Boehncke, A., Reuter, K., Richard, M., Sehner, S., Koch, U., & Mehnert, A. (2017).
 Unmet needs for information and psychosocial support in relation to quality of life
 and emotional distress: A comparison between gynecological and breast cancer
 patients. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *100*(10), 1934–1942.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.05.031
- Farley, H. (2020). Promoting self-efficacy in patients with chronic disease beyond traditional education: A literature review. *Nursing Open*, 7(1), 30–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.382
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2020, May 7). *COVID-19 telehealth program*. https://www.fcc.gov/covid-19-telehealth-program
- Ferguson, C. J. (2009). An effect size primer: A guide for clinicians and researchers. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 40(5), 532–538. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015808
- Fink, A. (2013). Research design, validity, and best available evidence. In *Evidencebased public health practice* (pp. 107–158). SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Finney Rutten, L. J., Agunwamba, A. A., Wilson, P., Chawla, N., Vieux, S., Blanch-Hartigan, D., Arora, N. K., Blake, K., & Hesse, B. W. (2016). Cancer-related information seeking among cancer survivors: Trends over a decade (2003–2013). *Journal of Cancer Education*, *31*(2), 348–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-015-0802-7
- Finney Rutten, L. J., Blake, K. D., Skolnick, V. G., Davis, T., Moser, R. P., & Hesse, B.
 W. (2020). Data resource profile: The National Cancer Institute's Health
 Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 49(1), 17-17J. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz083
- Finney Rutten, L. J., Hesse, B. W., St. Sauver, J. L., Wilson, P., Chawla, N., Hartigan, D. B., Moser, R. P., Taplin, S., Glasgow, R., & Arora, N. K. (2016). Health self-efficacy among populations with multiple chronic conditions: The value of patient-centered communication. *Advances in Therapy*, *33*, 1440–1451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-016-0369-7
- Fischer, S. H., David, D., Crotty, B. H., Dierks, M., & Safran, C. (2014). Acceptance and use of health information technology by community-dwelling elders. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 83(9), 624–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.005
- Foster, C., & Fenlon, D. (2011). Recovery and self-management support following primary cancer treatment. *British Journal of Cancer*, 105(Suppl.1), S21–S28. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.419
- Fox, J. (1991). Collinearity. In Regression Diagnostics (pp. 11-21). SAGE Publications,

Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412985604

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2016). *Social Statistics for a Diverse Society* (8th ed.). Sage Publications Inc.
- Fuller, C. H. (1974). Weighting to adjust for survey nonresponse. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 38(2), 239. https://doi.org/10.1086/268154
- Germeni, E., Bianchi, M., Valcarenghi, D., & Schulz, P. J. (2015). Longitudinal qualitative exploration of cancer information-seeking experiences across the disease trajectory: The INFO-SEEK protocol. *BMJ Open*, *5*, e0008933. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015
- Go, E., & You, K. H. (2018). Health-related online information seeking and behavioral outcomes: Fatalism and self-efficacy as mediators. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 46(5), 871–879. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6501
- Greenberg, A. J., Haney, D., Blake, K. D., Moser, R. P., & Hesse, B. W. (2018).
 Differences in access to and use of electronic personal health information between rural and urban residents in the United States. *Journal of Rural Health*, *34*(1), s30–s38. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12228
- Grover, A., & Joshi, A. (2015). An overview of chronic disease models: a systematic literature review. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 7(2), 210–227. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n2p210
- Gruber, O., Indefrey, P., Steinmetz, H., & Kleinschmidt, A. (2001). Dissociating neural correlates of cognitive components in mental calculation. *Cerebral Cortex*, 11(4), 350–359. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/11.4.350

Guy, G. P., Yabroff, K. R., Ekwueme, D. U., Rim, S. H., Li, R., & Richardson, L. C. (2017). Economic burden of chronic conditions among survivors of cancer in the United States. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *35*(18), 2053–2061. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.71.9716

Haase, K. R. (2019). The role of the internet in the cancer experience: Synthesizing patient and provider views to forge new directions for care. *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal*, *29*(3), 204–209.

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=137652208&sit e=ehost-live

- Hall, D. L., Luberto, C. M., Philpotts, L. L., Song, R., Park, E. R., & Yeh, G. Y. (2018).
 Mind-body interventions for fear of cancer recurrence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psycho-Oncology*, 27(11), 2546–2558.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4757
- Hébert, J., & Fillion, L. (2017). Development and validation of an individualized survivorship care plan (ISCP) for women with endometrial cancer during the transition of the end of active treatment to the cancer survivorship. *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal*, 27(1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.5737/236880762713342
- Hesse, B. W., Greenberg, A. J., Peterson, E. B., & Chou, W.-Y. S. (2017). The health information national trends survey (HINTS): A resource for consumer engagement and health communication research. *Information Services & Use*, *37*, 205–218. https://doi.org/10.3233/ISU-170830

Hochbaum, G. M. (1954). The relation between group members' self-confidence and

their reactions to group pressures to uniformity. *American Sociological Review*, 19(6), 678–687. https://doi.org/10.2307/2087914

- Hochstenbach, L. M. J., Courtens, A. M., Zwakhalen, S. M. G., Kleef, M., & de Witte, L.
 P. (2015). Self-management support intervention to control cancer pain in the outpatient setting: A randomized controlled trial study protocol. *BMC Cancer*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1428-1
- Hoekstra, N., Fleury, E., Rodrigo, T., Lara, M., Van Der Baan, P., Bahnerth, A., Struik,
 G., Hoogeman, M., & Pignol, J.-P. (2018). Long-term risks of secondary cancer for
 various whole and partial breast irradiation techniques. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, *128*, 428–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2018.05.032
- Holmes, M. M., Bishop, F. L., & Calman, L. (2017). "I just googled and read everything": Exploring breast cancer survivors' use of the internet to find information on complementary medicine. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *33*, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2017.06.007
- Holone, H. (2016). The filter bubble and its effect on online personal health information. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 57(3), 298–301. https://doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2016.57.298
- Howell, D., Richardson, A., May, C., Calman, L., Fazelzad, R., Moradian, S., & Foster,
 C. (2019). Implementation of self-management support in cancer care and
 normalization into routine practice: A systematic scoping literature review protocol. *Systematic Reviews*, 8(37), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-019-0952-5
- Hsieh, F. Y. (1989). Sample size tables for logistic regression. *Statistics in Medicine*, 8(7), 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4780080704

Hudson, S. V, Miller, S. M., Hemler, J., McClinton, A., Oeffinger, K. C., Tallia, A., & Crabtree, B. F. (2012). Cancer survivors and the patient-centered medical home. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 2(3), 322–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-012-0138-3

Ickes, M. J., & Cottrell, R. (2010). Health literacy in college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 58(5), 491–498. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481003599104

- Iyer, N. S., Mitchell, H. R., Zheng, D. J., Ross, W. L., & Kadan-Lottick, N. S. (2017). Experiences with the survivorship care plan in primary care providers of childhood cancer survivors: a mixed methods approach. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 25(5), 1547–1555. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3544-0
- Jackson, D. N., Chou, W.-Y. S., Coa, K. I., Oh, A., & Hesse, B. (2016). Implications of social media use on health information technology engagement: Data from HINTS 4 cycle 3. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 6(4), 566–576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-016-0437-1
- Jacobs, W., Amuta, A. O., & Jeon, K. C. (2017). Health information seeking in the digital age: An analysis of health information seeking behavior among US adults. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *3*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2017.1302785
- Jamal, A., Khan, S. A., AlHumud, A., Al-Duhyyim, A., Alrashed, M., Shabr, F. Bin, Alteraif, A., Almuziri, A., Househ, M., & Qureshi, R. (2015). Association of online health information - Seeking behavior and self-care activities among type 2 diabetic patients in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17(8).

https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4312

- James, T. G., Sullivan, M. K., Dumeny, L., Lindsey, K., Cheong, J. W., & Nicolette, G. (2018). Health insurance literacy and health service utilization among college students. *Journal of American College Health*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2018.1538151
- Jiang, S. (2017). The role of social media use in improving cancer survivors' emotional well-being: a moderated mediation study. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 11(3), 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-017-0595-2
- Jiang, S., & Beaudoin, C. E. (2016). Health literacy and the internet: An exploratory study on the 2013 HINTS survey. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 240–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.01.007
- Jiang, S., & Liu, P. L. (2020). Digital divide and internet health information seeking among cancer survivors: A trend analysis from 2011 to 2017. *Psycho-Oncology*, 29(1), 61–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.5247
- Jiang, S., & Street, R. L. (2017). Pathway linking internet health information seeking to better health: A moderated mediation study. *Health Communication*, 32(8), 1024– 1031. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1196514
- Jiang, Y., West, B. T., Barton, D. L., & Harris, M. R. (2017). Acceptance and use of eHealth/mHealth applications for self-management among cancer survivors. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 245, 131–135. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-830-3-131

Johnson, C., Krakow, M., & Patel, V. (2020). Access and use of electronic health

information by individuals with cancer: 2017-2018 (Data Brief No. 50). Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/2018HINTSCancerDB.pdf

Kim, S. C., Shah, D. V, Namkoong, K., Mctavish, F. M., & Gustafson, D. H. (2013).
Predictors of online health information seeking among women with breast cancer: The role of social support perception and emotional well-being. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *18*(2013), 212–232.
https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12002

- Kleitman, S., & Stankov, L. (2007). Self-confidence and metacognitive processes. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 17(2), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2007.03.004
- Kobayashi, L. C., & Smith, S. G. (2016). Cancer fatalism, literacy, and cancer information seeking in the American public. *Health Education and Behavior*, 43(4), 461–470. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115604616
- Koh, H. K., Piotrowski, J. J., Kumanyika, S., & Fielding, J. E. (2011). *Healthy People*. *Health Education & Behavior*, *38*(6), 551–557.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198111428646

LaMorte, W. (2018a). *The social cognitive theory*. Boston University School of Public Health. http://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/MPH-

Modules/SB/BehavioralChangeTheories/BehavioralChangeTheories5.html#headingt aglink_1

LaMorte, W. (2018b). The theory of planned behavior. Boston University School of

Public Health School of Public Health. http://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/MPH-Modules/SB/BehavioralChangeTheories/BehavioralChangeTheories3.html

- Lavoie Smith, E. M., Skalla, K., Li, Z., Onega, T., Rhoda, J., Gates, C., Litterini, A., & Scott, M. R. (2012). Assessing cancer survivors' needs using web-based technology: A pilot study. *CIN - Computers Informatics Nursing*, *30*(2), 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCN.0b013e318246042e
- Lee, C. S., & Ma, L. (2012). News sharing in social media: The effect of gratifications and prior experience. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.10.002
- Li, C., & Lalani, F. (2020, April 29). The rise of online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/coronavirus-education-global-covid19online-digital-learning/
- Li, J., Theng, Y. L., & Foo, S. (2016). Predictors of online health information seeking behavior: Changes between 2002 and 2012. *Health Informatics Journal*, 22(4), 804– 814. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458215595851
- Lindqvist, E., Wedin, M., Fredrikson, M., & Kjølhede, P. (2017). Lymphedema after treatment for endometrial cancer A review of prevalence and risk factors. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 211, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2017.02.021
- Loeb, S., Partin, A. W., & Schaeffer, E. M. (2010). Complications of pelvic lymphadenectomy: do the risks outweigh the benefits? *Reviews in Urology*, *12*(1),

20-24. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20428290

- Luong, M.-L. N., Cleveland, R. J., Nyrop, K. A., & Callahan, L. F. (2012). Social determinants and osteoarthritis outcomes. *Aging Health*, 8(4), 413–437. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.23425
- Manor, O., Matthews, S., & Power, C. (2000). Dichotomous or categorical response?
 Analysing self-rated health and lifetime social class. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 29(1), 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/29.1.149
- Mayoh, J., Todres, L., & Bond, C. S. (2011). Exploring the Online Health Information Seeking Experiences of Older Adults. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, *11*(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.2989/ipjp.2011.11.2.3.1162
- McAllister, M., Dunn, G., Payne, K., Davies, L., & Todd, C. (2012). Patient empowerment: The need to consider it as a measurable patient-reported outcome for chronic conditions. *BMC Health Services Research*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-157
- McCloud, R. F., Okechukwu, C. A., Sorensen, G., & Viswanath, K. (2016). Beyond access: Barriers to internet health information seeking among the urban poor. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 23(6), 1053–1059. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocv204

McCulloch, A. W., Kenney, R. H., & Keene, K. A. (2013). What to trust: Reconciling mathematical work done by hand with conflicting graphing calculator solutions. *School Science and Mathematics*, *113*(4), 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssm.12016

- McDonald, J. H. (2014). Multiple logistic regression. In *Handbook of Biological Statistics* (3rd ed., pp. 247–253). Sparky House Publishing. http://www.biostathandbook.com/multiplelogistic.html
- McGinty, H. L., Small, B. J., Laronga, C., & Jacobsen, P. B. (2016). Predictors and patterns of fear of cancer recurrence in breast cancer survivors. *Health Psychology*, 35(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000238
- McKnight, P. E., & McKnight, K. M. (2010). Missing data in secondary data analysis. In Trzesniewski. K.H., M. B. Donnellan, & R. E. Lucas (Eds.), Secondary data analysis: An introduction for psychologists. (pp. 83–101). https://doi.org/10.1037/12350-005
- Medeiros, E. A., Castañeda, S. F., Gonzalez, P., Rodríguez, B., Buelna, C., West, D., & Talavera, G. A. (2015). Health-related quality of life among cancer survivors attending support groups. *Journal of Cancer Education*, *30*(3), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-014-0697-8
- Miller, K. A., Ramirez, C. N., Wojcik, K. Y., Ritt-Olson, A., Baezconde-Garbanati, L., Thomas, S. M., Freyer, D. R., Hamilton, A. S., & Milam, J. E. (2018). Prevalence and correlates of health information-seeking among Hispanic and non-Hispanic childhood cancer survivors. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 26(4), 1305–1313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3956-5
- Miyawaki, R., Shibata, A., Ishii, K., & Oka, K. (2015). Obtaining information about cancer: Prevalence and preferences among Japanese adults. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1510-2

- Mooney, R., Samhouri, M., Holton, A., Devine, K. A., Kirchhoff, A. C., Wright, J., & Wu, Y. P. (2017). Adolescent and young adult cancer survivors' perspectives on their internet use for seeking information on healthy eating and exercise. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*, 6(2), 367–371.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2016.0059
- Moser, R. P., & Murray, A. B. (2020, March 26). Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5 Cycle 3 data: A how-to guide for using the new data in your research. NCI. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). *Health surveys*. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/healthsurveys.html
- National Cancer Institute. (2013). *Health Information National Trends Survey 4 Cycle 3 survey instrument*.
- National Cancer Institute. (2018). *Health information national trends survey (H5-C2)*. https://doi.org/10.1201/b13350-17
- National Cancer Institute. (2019a). *HINTS 5, Cycle 3, Full Content English Instrument, Annotated*. https://hints.cancer.gov/data/survey-instruments.aspx
- National Cancer Institute. (2019b). *Survey instruments*. National Cancer Institute. https://hints.cancer.gov/data/survey-instruments.aspx
- National Cancer Institute. (2020a). *Health Information Trends Survey (HINTS)*. https://hints.cancer.gov/data/default.aspx
- National Cancer Institute. (2020b). *HINTS 5 cycle 3 public codebook*. HINTS. hints.cancer.org

National Cancer Institute. (2020c). Learn more about HINTS.

https://hints.cancer.gov/about-hints/learn-more-about-hints.aspx

- Nekhlyudov, L., Ganz, P. A., Arora, N. K., & Rowland, J. H. (2017). Going beyond being lost in transition: A decade of progress in cancer survivorship. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35(18), 1978–1981. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.72.1373
- Ng, M. W., Smith, R., Wickramesinghe, N., Smart, P. J., & Lawrentschuk, N. (2017). Health on the net: Do website searches return reliable health information on hemorrhoids and their treatment? *International Surgery*, *102*(5–6), 216–221. https://doi.org/10.9738/INTSURG-D-17-00099.1
- Nguyen, G. T., & Bellamy, S. L. (2006). Cancer information seeking preferences and experiences: Disparities between Asian Americans and Whites in the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). *Journal of Health Communication*, *11*, 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730600639620
- Nguyen, N. H., Hadgraft, N. T., Moore, M. M., Rosenberg, D. E., Lynch, C., Reeves, M. M., & Lynch, B. M. (2017). A qualitative evaluation of breast cancer survivors' acceptance of and preferences for consumer wearable technology activity trackers. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 25(11), 3375–3384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3756-y
- Nicolaije, K. A. H., Ezendam, N. P. M., Pijnenborg, J. M. A., Boll, D., Vos, M. C., Kruitwagen, R. F. P. M., & Van De Poll-Franse, L. V. (2016). Paper-based survivorship care plans may be less helpful for cancer patients who search for disease-related information on the internet: Results of the Registrationsystem

Oncological Gynecology (ROGY) care randomized trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(7), 1438–8871. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4914

- Nielsen-Bohlman, L., & Panzer, A. M. (2004). *Health literacy: A Prescription to end confusion [Online resource]*. National Academies Press. www.nap.edu.
- Obi, P. (2014). *Multicollinearity [Video]*. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pZhm1GMn2GY
- Paige, S. R., Flood-Grady, E., Krieger, J. L., Stellefson, M., & Miller, M. D. (2019).
 Measuring health information seeking challenges in chronic disease: A psychometric analysis of a brief scale. *Chronic Illness*, 174239531983647.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1742395319836476
- Palmer, N. R. A., Kent, E. E., Forsythe, L. P., Arora, N. K., Rowland, J. H., Aziz, N. M., Blanch-Hartigan, D., Oakley-Girvan, I., Hamilton, A. S., & Weaver, K. E. (2014).
 Racial and ethnic disparities in patient-provider communication, quality-of-care ratings, and patient activation among long-term cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *32*(36), 4087–4094. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.55.5060
- Pantano, E., & Priporas, C. V. (2016). The effect of mobile retailing on consumers' purchasing experiences: A dynamic perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 61, 548–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.071
- Peerson, A., & Saunders, M. (2009). Health literacy revisited: What do we mean and why does it matter? *Health Promotion International*, 24(3), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dap014

Peters, M., Potter, C. M., Kelly, L., & Fitzpatrick, R. (2019). Self-efficacy and health-
related quality of life: A cross-sectional study of primary care patients with multimorbidity. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *17*(1), 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-019-1103-3

Pew Research Center. (2019, June 12). *Demographics of mobile device ownership and adoption in the United States*. Pew Research.

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/

- Pongthavornkamol, K., Lekdamrongkul, P., Pinsuntorn, P., & Molassiotis, A. (2019).
 Physical symptoms, unmet needs, and quality of life in Thai cancer survivors after the completion of primary treatment. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 6(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.4103/apjon.apjon_26_19
- Poureslami, I., Nimmon, L., Rootman, I., & Fitzgerald, M. J. (2016). Health literacy and chronic disease management: drawing from expert knowledge to set an agenda. *Health Promotion International*, *32*(4), 743–754.

https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daw003

Rahman, M. S., Ko, M., Warren, J., & Carpenter, D. (2016). Healthcare Technology Self-Efficacy (HTSE) and its influence on individual attitude: An empirical study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 12–24.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.016

Richardson, A., Allen, J. A., Xiao, H., & Vallone, D. (2012). Effects of race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status on health information-seeking, confidence, and trust. *Journal* of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 23(4), 1477–1493. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2012.0181

- Rico, T. M., dos Santos Machado, K., Fernandes, V. P., Madruga, S. W., Noguez, P. T., Barcelos, C. R. G., Santin, M. M., Petrarca, C. R., & Dumith, S. C. (2017). Text messaging (SMS) helping cancer care in patients undergoing chemotherapy treatment: a Pilot study. *Journal of Medical Systems*, *41*(181), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-017-0831-3
- Rimer, B. K., & Brewer, N. T. (2015). Introduction to health behavior theories that focus on individuals. In K. Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath (Ed.), *Health Behavior: Theory, Research, and Practice* (5th ed., pp. 65–73). Jossey-Bass A Wiley Brand.
- Roediger, H. L., & DeSoto, K. A. (2014). Confidence and memory: Assessing positive and negative correlations. *Memory*, 22(1), 76–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2013.795974
- Rooks, R. N., Kapral, C. G., & Mathis, A. L. (2019). Chronic conditions may be more important than race or ethnicity in relation to health information seeking and use. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 31(4), 611–630.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264317744643

- Rosenstock, I. M. (1974). The Health Belief Model and preventive health behavior. *Health Educ Monogr*, 2(2), 354–386. https://doi.org/10.1163/157181958X00456
- Roser, M., & Ritchie, H. (2019). Cancer [Online resource]. *Our World in Data*, *November*. https://ourworldindata.org/cancer
- Rowland, J. (2016). *NCI's Office of Cancer Survivorship: Celebrating 20 Years*. Cancer Currents Blog of the National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/newsevents/cancer-currents-blog/2016/ocs-20th-anniversary

Sedrak, M. S., Soto-Perez-De-Celis, E., Nelson, R. A., Liu, J., Waring, M. E., Lane, D. S., Paskett, E. D., & Chlebowski, R. T. (2020). Online health information-seeking among older women with chronic illness: Analysis of the women's health initiative. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(4), e15906. https://doi.org/10.2196/15906

Shen, J., & Gao, S. (2008). A solution to separation and multicollinearity in multiple logistic regression. *Journal of Data Science*, 6(4), 515–531. https://doi.org/10.6339/JDS.2008.06(4).395

Shim, M., Kelly, B., & Hornik, R. (2006). Cancer information scanning and seeking behavior is associated with knowledge, lifestyle choices, and screening. *Journal of Health Communication*, *11*(SUPPL. 1), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730600637475

Shklovski, I., Kraut, R., & Rainie, L. (2006). The internet and social participation: contrasting cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *Journal of Computer*-

Mediated Communication, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-

6101.2004.tb00226.x

- Shneyderman, Y., Rutten, L. J. F., Arheart, K. L., Byrne, M. M., Kornfeld, J., & Schwartz, S. J. (2016). Health information seeking and cancer screening adherence rates. *Journal of Cancer Education*, *31*(1), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-015-0791-6
- Simsek, E., Forces, T. A., & Sali, J. B. (2014). The role of internet addiction and social media membership on university students' psychological capital. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 5(3), 239–256.

- Smith, A. K., Ayanian, J. Z., Covinsky, K. E., Landon, B. E., McCarthy, E. P., Wee, C. C., & Steinman, M. A. (2011). Conducting high-value secondary dataset analysis:
 An introductory guide and resources. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 26(8), 920–929. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-010-1621-5
- Smith, M. H., & Bass, A. R. (2019). Arthritis after cancer immunotherapy: Symptom duration and treatment response. *Arthritis Care and Research*, 71(3), 362–366. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.23467
- Smith, S. G., Wolf, M. S., & Von Wagner, C. (2010). Socioeconomic status, statistical confidence, and patient-provider communication: An analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS 2007). *Journal of Health Communication*, 15, 169–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2010.522690
- Somera, L. P., Lee, H. R., Badowski, G., & Cassel, K. (2016). Health information seeking, source trust, and culture: A comparative analysis of Health IInformation Trends and Needs between Guam and the United States. *Journal of Health Communication*, 21(4), 469–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1095822
- Song, H., Cramer, E. M., & McRoy, S. (2015). Information Gathering and Technology Use Among Low-Income Minority Men at Risk for Prostate Cancer. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 9(3), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988314539502
- Sperandei, S. (2014). Understanding logistic regression analysis. *Biochemia Medica*, 24(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2014.003
- Statistics Solutions. (n.d.). *Conduct and interpret a multinomial logistic regression*. Retrieved April 10, 2019, from https://www.statisticssolutions.com/mlr/

- Strecher, V. J., McEvoy DeVellis, B., Becker, M. H., & Rosenstock, I. M. (1986). The role of self-efficacy in achieving health behavior change. *Health Education & Behavior*, 13(1), 73–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019818601300108
- Sun, Y., Wang, N., Guo, X., & Peng, Z. (2013). Understanding the acceptance of mobile health services: A comparison and integration of alternative models. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 14(2), 183–200.
- Szumilas, M. (2010). Information management for the busy practitioner explaining odds ratios. *Journal of Canadian Academy of Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19(August), 227– 229. http://www.csm-oxford.org.uk/
- Tan, S. S. L., & Goonawardene, N. (2017). Internet health information seeking and the patient-physician relationship: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5729
- Thomas, M. O. J., Bosley, J., & Gil, A. (2007). *Calculators use in the mathematics classroom : A longitudinal study. January*, 37–47.
- Tortolero-Luna, G., Rutten, L. J. F., Hesse, B. W., Davis, T., Kornfeld, J., Sanchez, M., Moser, R. P., Ortiz, A. P., Serrano-Rodríguez, R. A., & Davis, K. (2010). Health and cancer information seeking practices and preferences in Puerto Rico: Creating an evidence base for cancer communication efforts. *Journal of Health Communication*, *15*, 30–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2010.522698
- Tustin, N. (2010). The role of patient satisfaction in online health information seeking. Journal of Health Communication, 15(1), 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730903465491

- University of California, Los Angeles Statistical Consulting. (n.d.). *Textbook examples* applied logistic regression David Hosmer and Stanley Lemeshow. https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/other/examples/alr2/
- University of California, Los Angeles: Statistical Consulting Group. (n.d.). *Introduction to SAS*. https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/spss/output/logistic-regression/
- van Leeuwen, M., Husson, O., Alberti, P., Arraras, J. I., Chinot, O. L., Costantini, A., Darlington, A.-S., Dirven, L., Eichler, M., Hammerlid, E. B., Holzner, B., Johnson, C. D., Kontogianni, M., Kjær, T. K., Morag, O., Nolte, S., Nordin, A., Pace, A., Pinto, M., ... van de Poll-Franse, L. V. (2018). Understanding the quality of life (QOL) issues in survivors of cancer: towards the development of an EORTC QOL cancer survivorship questionnaire. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *16*(1), 114. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-0920-0
- Vanderpool, R. C., Kornfeld, J., Finney Rutten, L., & Squiers, L. (2009). Cancer information-seeking experiences: The implications of hispanic ethnicity and spanish language. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 24(2), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/08858190902854772
- Virginia Commonwealth University. (n.d.). *Measures of nominal level association*. http://www.people.vcu.edu/~pdattalo/702SuppRead/MeasAssoc/NominalAssoc.html

Vithessonthi, C., & Schwaninger, M. (2008). Job motivation and self-confidence for learning and development as predictors of support for change. *Journal of Organisational Transformation and Social Change*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.1386/jots.5.2.141/1

- Vogel, R. I., Strayer, L. G., Ahmed, R. L., Blaes, A., & Lazovich, D. A. (2017). A qualitative study of quality of life concerns following a melanoma diagnosis. *Journal of Skin Cancer*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2041872
- Voss, R. K., Cromwell, K. D., Chiang, Y. J., Armer, J. M., Ross, M. I., Lee, J. E., Gershenwald, J. E., Stewart, B. R., Shaitelman, S. F., & Cormier, J. N. (2015). The long-term risk of upper-extremity lymphedema is two-fold higher in breast cancer patients than in melanoma patients. *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, *112*(8), 834–840. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.24068
- Wagner, W. E. I. (2016). Using IBM® SPSS® statistics for research methods and social science statistics (6th ed.). Sage Publications Inc.
- Wang, L., Wang, J., Wang, M., Li, Y., Liang, Y., & Xu, D. (2012). Using internet search engines to obtain medical information: A comparative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1943
- Waters, E. A., Wheeler, C., & Hamilton, J. G. (2016). How are information seeking, scanning, and processing related to beliefs about the roles of genetics and behavior in cancer causation? *Journal of Health Communication*, 21(SUP2), 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2016.1193917
- Westat. (2019). Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5) Cycle 3 Methodology Report. https://hints.cancer.gov/data/default.aspx
- Wherton, J., Greenhalgh, T., Procter, R., Shaw, S., & Shaw, J. (2019). Wandering as a sociomaterial practice: Extending the theorization of GPS tracking in cognitive impairment. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(3), 328–344.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318798358

- Wigfall, L. T., & Friedman, D. B. (2016). Cancer information seeking and cancer-related health outcomes: A scoping review of the health information national trends survey literature. *Journal of Health Communication*, 21(9), 989–1005. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2016.1184358
- Wild, M. G., Ostini, R., Harrington, M., Cavanaugh, K. L., & Wallston, K. A. (2018).
 Validation of the shortened perceived medical condition self-management scale in patients with chronic disease. *Psychological Assessment*, *30*(10), 1300–1307.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000572
- Willems, R. A., Bolman, C. A. W., Mesters, I., Kanera, I. M., Beaulen, A. A. J. M., & Lechner, L. (2016). Cancer survivors in the first year after treatment: The prevalence and correlates of unmet needs in different domains. *Psycho-Oncology*, 25(1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3870
- Wilson, D. B. (1999). Practical Meta-Analysis-Lipsey & Wilson Overview Practical Meta-Analysis The Great Debate.
- World Health Organization. (2012). Health education: theoretical concepts, effective strategies and core competencies: A foundation document to guide capacity development of health educators. In *Health promotion practice*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839914538045
- Xie, W., Fowler-Dawson, A., & Tvauri, A. (2019). Revealing the relationship between rational fatalism and the online privacy paradox. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, 38(7), 742–759. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2018.1552717

- Zhang, Y., Wen, N., & Chao, N. (2019). Effects of mobile information-seeking on the intention to obtain reproductive cancer screening among chinese women: testing an integrative model. *Chinese Journal of Communication*, 12(1), 102–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17544750.2018.1528291
- Zhao, J., Chhetri, J. K., Ji, S., Ma, L., Dan, X., & Chan, P. (2020). Poor self-perceived health is associated with frailty and prefrailty in urban living older adults: A crosssectional analysis. *Geriatric Nursing*, 00, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2020.05.003
- Zide, M., Caswell, K., Peterson, E., Aberle, D. R., Bui, A. A., & Arnold, C. W. (2016). Consumers' patient portal preferences and health literacy: A survey using crowdsourcing. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 5(2), e104. https://doi.org/10.2196/resprot.5122
- Zucco, R., Lavano, F., Anfosso, R., Bianco, A., Pileggi, C., & Pavia, M. (2018). Internet and social media use for antibiotic-related information seeking: Findings from a survey among adult population in Italy. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 111, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.12.005